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Chairman’s Statement

FRBRE

Dear Shareholders,

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited (“PetroAsian
Energy”), | hereby present to the shareholders the audited results
of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2009 (“the Year”). During the Year, the Group
recorded a turnover of approximately HK$399,409,000,
representing an increase of 13.62% as compared with last year,
while profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
was approximately HK$55,143,000.

In 2008, there was a sharp global economic turmoil. The US sub-
prime mortgage crisis destroyed the hundred-year stable basis of
the financial system. Its economy has been seriously hit, turning
from prosperity to adversity and affected among countries in the
world. Under the economic recession, prices of global
commodities declined and international oil prices faced the same
situation. Price of Brent crude oil rose to US$147 a barrel and
then plummeted to the lowest US$33. As the situation was
reversed, the Group adjusted its business development strategy.
The Group will slow down the pace of oil exploitation of Fu 710
and Meilisi 723 district in Qigihar, Northeast China. It can reduce
a large number of sales of the low-price oil which depreciates the
value of the Group’s reserves oil.
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Chairman’s Statement

FRBRE

In respect to the Group’s business of paint production, the paint
market is bound to be affected. The economic recession led to
the drop in prices of domestic real estate and industrial sales.
Facing this harsh environment, the Group still maintained the
growth in turnover. However, industry’s fierce competition and the
high international oil price in the first half of the Year under review
caused a decline in gross margin and operating profit.

During the year, the Group made an effort towards the goal of
internationalization of its business. The Group invited experts who
are experienced with international oil work, as well as the financial
elites to join the Group to strengthen its corporate governance
and the professional status of the oil industry. The Group also
actively explored oil projects with high commercial value around
the world.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Although the international crude oil prices over the past year had
fallen sharply, the market has stabilized quickly, and gradually
increased to around US$60 per barrel. Organization of Petroleum
Exporting Countries predicted that by the year 2010, the price of
crude oil is expected to rise to US$90. Therefore, the long-term
prospect of the oil industry is still very optimistic. In addition, the
rate of energy consumption of the world is very rapid. It will
cause the Earth’s potential oil resources continue to decline,
resulting in inadequate supply of oil resources and inflating prices.
Therefore, the Group firmly believes at this stage of oil prices
adjustment, it is a great opportunity for the further development
in the oil business.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBRE

In the new fiscal year, the Group will continue to focus on the
international energy exploration and exploitation of business. On 8
June 2009, the Group has entered into an agreement to acquire
a 51% participating interest in Ksar Hasada Permit in Tunisia,
exploration work will be carried out during that period. The Ksar
Hadada Permit is a large intra-cratonic basin covering eastern
Algeria, southern Tunisia and westernmost Libya, and extending
over 5,609 km?. Primary reservoir targets on block are Cambro-
Ordovician quartzites and the Silurian Acacus Sandstone which
are the main source rocks for North Africa and the Middle East.
Several large oil-prone prospects have been mapped. There are
altogether five prospects in the Ksar Hadada area including two
Acacus prospectus. Across the border in Libya, very high flow
rates have been achieved from multiple Acacus wells. The one
well ST-8 was drilled in 2004; a 144 m column of oil show was
recorded on log, with live oil fluorescence on the cuttings
recorded over the same interval.

Considering the downstream oil business, there was a decline in
profits due to the keen market competition. However, the Group
has a profound basis in the industry and good reputation, as well
as perfect business network. The Group will continue to maintain
this advantage to develop related business sustainably.

Although the global economy in 2009 is still in turmoil and
instability of the year, it is believed that the impact of the worst
phase of the financial tsunami may have been passed. The
economic situation is expected to recover gradually. The Board is
prudent and optimistic towards the Group’s business development
of the new financial year.

Last but not least, | would like to take this chance to express my
sincere gratitude to the Board and all our dedicated staff for their
invaluable services of past year. | would also like to thank our
shareholders and business partners who have been supportive
over the years. In the new fiscal year with opportunities and
challenges, the Board will be committed to maximize the profit
and the return for our shareholders.

By the order of the Board
Poon Sum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 10 July 2009
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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MARKET REVIEW

For the year under review, the global economy was hit by the
financial tsunami triggered by the subprime mortgage crisis in the
United States, Rising prices in the securities and commodities
markets around the world at the start of the year dropped
dramatically throughout the year and especially in the second half
of the year. All industries inevitably suffered from the economic
downturn to different degrees. Although the Group’s principal
businesses of oil exploitation, sale and production of downstream
oil products are operated in the Mainland China, it was still
affected to a certain extent under such adverse operating
conditions.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Business Overview

In the financial year of 2008/09, the Group recorded a
consolidated turnover of HK$399,409,000 (2008:
HK$351,530,000), representing an increase of 13.62% when
compared with last year (2008:13.50%). Profit attributable to
shareholders was HK$55,143,000 (2008: HK$610,535,000). The
decrease in profit was due to: (1) the amortisation of fair value on
the revaluation of the oil business, (2) the adverse impact of the
economic downturn and the global financial tsunami on the
Group’s business and operations, and (3) the unrealised fair value
loss and realised loss on certain investment activities. The
decrease in gross profit margin was due to the high material
costs of paints and solvents during the first half of the year. After
the financial tsunami, the Group was willing to reduce inventories
by lowering the profit margin to avoid further losses. Customers,
at the same time stressed to reduce the selling price as the
material prices decreased.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Paints, Blended Solvents and Plastic Colorants
Business

The Group’s turnover was primarily contributed by the production,
sales and distribution of downstream oil products such as paints,
blended solvents and plastic colorants based in Zhongshan, PRC.
Turnover generated from this line of business amounted to
HK$354,722,000 (2008: HK$322,426,000), representing an
increase of 10.02% over that of last year (2008: 4.10%). Thanks
to the change in business strategy by way of an increase in trade
and a reduction in the production of related products in order to
control product cost and inventory balances so that the Group
was able to achieve a remarkable growth in this line of business
even amidst the global recession. Nevertheless, the high crude oil
price in the first half of the year, severe competition in the
industry and the declined export volume from end users (especially
in the toy and electronic industries) led to a substantial drop in
the overseas orders and pushed the gross profit margin
downward to 3.30% (2008: 13.70%). Besides, the more stringent
credit control policy imposed by the Group on customers with
long overdue balances to reduce default risk and to improve the
Group’s cash flow position also
accounted for the profit decline.

"
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Service Contracts

The construction paints business based in Beijing recorded a
turnover of HK$32,685,000 (2008: HK$20,049,000) or an increase
of 63.03% (2008: Nil) for the year under review. Continuous
development in the construction market in the PRC, coupled with
a careful selection of customers with sound credibility, have
contributed to the ongoing development of the line of business
for the year under review.

Natural Resources and Energy Business

A total of 22 oil wells were drilled in certain parts of the Fu 710
and Meilisi 723 districts in the Fulaerjiqu Qilfield in Qigihar City
located at Northeastern China. Some wells have commenced
production, but the volume has not yet reached its peak as they
are still at the initial stage of production. In addition, as
international oil price slumped in the second half of the financial
year, the Group, under such low oil price environment, decided to
slow down the pace of oil exploitation for the cost effectiveness
reason, the Group had taken the opportunity to enhance
management through restructuring of the oil exploitation team.
The Group also completed its acquisition of Fu 718 project during
the period under review. The location of Fu 718 project is just
beside the Fu 710 area, the Group considers that this project
acquisition in line with the Group’s business and investment
strategies. With good potential reservoir of oil in Fu 718 project,
the Group expects that it will have a synergy effect with Fu 710
and Meilisi 723 as an integrated development consideration.

During the year under review, turnover generated from oil
exploitation business was approximately HK$7,722,000 (2008:
HK$1,002,000) or an increase of 670.66% (2008: Nil) for the year
under review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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To further expand the Group’s natural resources and energy
exploitation business, the Group has entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with a joint venture partner on 25 September
2008 whereby it has acquired a 43% interest in a vanadium
project located in Xiaowujiang vanadium mining region, Yuqing
County, Guizhou Province, PRC. On 23 April 2009, the Group
has entered into a supplementary agreement with the joint venture
partner to amend certain terms and conditions of the sale and
purchase agreement and completed the deal with an adjusted
consideration of HK$70,000,000 on the same date. The Group is
actively developing the project with its joint venture party and the
initial goal is to apply for an exploitation license within the
shortest time possible, so as to expedite revenue contribution
from the project.

Property Investment Business

According to pre-determined business strategy, the Group
continues to invest a small portion of resources on property to
tackle the low interest rate. During the year under review, turnover
generated from this business was HK$4,280,000 (2008:
HK$8,053,000) and an operating loss of HK$2,065,000 (2008:
HK$1,258,000) was recorded. As property investment business is
not the Group’s core business, we have no intention to focus on
it which is maintained to provide a stable income to the Group in
a foreseeable future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

In 2009, as the global recession becomes more apparent, amidst
the credit crunch, escalated unemployment rate, low consumer
sentiment, and declined export demand, it is expected that the
adverse environment will not be recovered within a short period
of time. Operating environment for enterprises remains severe.
The Group, therefore, adopts a very prudent business
development strategy by focusing only on energy projects with
high return and high growth potential with the view of
strengthening profit earnings. As the Board is very optimistic
about the prospects of energy business, oil exploration and
exploitation will be the Group’s focus in future. Corporate oil and
gas valuations had been hit hard by the fall in energy prices
following the financial crisis in 2008. We firmly believe that where
there is uncertainty, lies opportunity for the Group.

The financial crisis has opened up new acquisition opportunities
for the Group to participate in the oil exploitation business in
Tunisia and enhancing its shareholder value as well as making the
Group one of the few enterprises involved in the international oil
arena. On 8 June 2009, the Group has entered into an agreement
to acquire a 51% participating interest in the Ksar Hasada permit
in Tunisia from Petroceltic Ksar Hadada Limited (the shares of
which are dually listed on the Irish and London stock exchange)
and Independent Resources (Ksar Hadada) Limited (the shares of
which are listed on the London stock exchange), with a total
consideration of US$14,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$113,100,000). The project advances the Group to become
one of the few energy companies in the world to enter and to
participate in the oil exploration and exploitation business in
Tunisia.
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The permit covers a total area of 5,609 km? in Tunisia, and the
Group has already entered into the first renewal period of the
project which is a three-year development period starting from 20
April 2008. In accordance with the Production Sharing Contract,
the Group, and its partners, Petroceltic (Ksar Hadada) Limited
and Independent Resources (Ksar Hadada) Limited, will start
drilling two exploration wells at the beginning of 2010. Upon
commercial discovery, the Tunisia government will grant a 30-year
development and production license to allow for the exploitation
of hydrocarbons within the prospect. In addition to the driling of
two wells, the Group will acquire an additional 100 sq. km. of 2D
seismic data to further analyse the permit.

To cope with the increase in domestic petroleum price and
domestic demand in China, the pace of exploitation in the Fu 718
project, Fu 710 and Meilisi 723 districts in the Fulaerjiqu Qilfield
in Qigihar City, Northeastern China will speed up steadily.
Although the price of international crude oil slumped before, the
existing market has become more stable and international oil
price is expected to rise in the long run resulting from the
fundamental of demand and supply. The Group remains optimistic
on the prospect of the oil industry and will increase oil reserve
whenever appropriate to increase the intrinsic value of the Group.
Currently, the Group is restructuring the oil exploitation team,
strengthening technological skill, and studying different exploitation
methods so as to increase the output of the above oilfields.

With regard to the traditional paints and the downstream oil
products business, the operating environment is still under difficult
condition due to the price volatility of raw materials and shrinking
demands in the market. There are little signs of improvement in
the market situation. The Group has built a strong foundation and
a customer network in the industry, which may help it to weather
the keen competition in the market. The infrastructure projects in
China are expected to maintain an optimistic growth momentum
despite of the decline in the global economy. The Group intends
to shift the business focus from industrial paints to construction
paints. The Group has set up some sales offices in a few cities
in mainland China to enhance customer services and to explore
further business opportunities. The Group’s paints, blended
solvents and plastic colorants, as well as construction paints
business will be consolidated to complement each other in order
to create value for the shareholders.
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In respect of the mineral resources business, the Group has just
completed the acquisition of certain interests in the vanadium
mining project in the Guizhou Province. The Group will focus on
the acquisition of an exploitation licence and is in the process of
preparation of an operational plan. Since the domestic market
demand for rare metals continues to increase, the Group has
much confidence on this new business.

The Group will continue to identify, evaluate and invest in
important projects to further strengthen our future prospect, and
we believe that the Tunisia project will benefit the Group in the
near future. Looking ahead, although the financial crisis will bring
the cost and investment challenges to the industry, we firmly
believe that the world’s increasing population and economic
development will drive up demand in energy resources, and we
are actively looking for opportunities to position our company to
take advantage of this trend.

Theoretically, making use of different kinds of derivatives to hedge
the potential risks arising from the Group’s business operations
can reduce the losses brought by market volatility. However,
coordination in risk management, time management, cash flow
and other aspects is essential in risk hedging, otherwise losses
will be recorded on the books due to the sudden and drastic
market fluctuations. The Group will be more cautious in the
operation of these derivative hedging instruments in future.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE AND OPERATING RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group recorded a
turnover of approximately HK$399,409,000 (2008:
HK$351,530,000). The Group achieved a profit after tax of
approximately HK$10,736,000 (2008: HK$601,305,000) for the
year and profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of approximately HK$55,143,000 (2008: HK$610,535,000).

The distribution costs of the Group for the financial year
amounted to approximately HK$18,498,000 (2008:
HK$18,035,000), representing an increase of approximately 2.57%.
The administrative expenses of the Group for the financial year
under review amounted to approximately HK$67,355,000 (2008:
HK$58,983,000), representing an increase of approximately
14.19% year-to-year. The increment was mainly due to the new
operation of oil business in Qigihar City, Heilongjiang Province, the
PRC.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the financial year under review, the Group made an open
offer of new shares with approximately 647.58 million shares and
raised net proceeds of approximately HK$180 million. The uses of
the proceeds were for the completion of acquisition of Fu 718
project and general working capital. In addition, 43,000,000 share
options were exercised by staff over the year. The net proceeds
amount was approximately HK$3,860,000.

In general, the Group finances its operations with internal
generated cash flow and banking facilities from banks. The Group
had cash and bank balances of approximately HK$30,585,000
(2008: HK$87,334,000) and bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$72,090,000 (2008: HK$73,788,000). Current
assets of the Group amounted to approximately HK$230,522,000
(2008: HK$356,838,000) whilst current liabilities were
approximately HK$200,483,000 (2008: HK$229,021,000). The net
current assets amounted to approximately HK$30,039,000 (2008:
HK$127,817,000).

16

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2008-2009

1 %5 E R
W3 R 4

BE_ZZENF=ZA=+—RHLFE K
5 [H 8115 & £ F 45 300,409,0007T (= &
T )\ £ : 5 #351,530,0007T) ° AN & B #) &
FERE R L BB 10,736,000 (= F
T )\ 4F : 7 #601,305,0007T) © AN QA 7 HE &
% 38 FE 16 Ji F) BI 49 78 #£55,143,000C (= &
=N\ & : E#¥610,535,0007T) °

REEBRATRFEENDHK ALY BB
18,498,0007t (= T & )\ & : & 18,035,000
TL) 0 B K I N 492.57% o A 5= B 7 @ B
B B E M 1T 2 49 A7 #67,355,0007T
— T T )\F : B ¥58,083,0007T) BEF
HAN#I14.19% ° BTG INE B 2 A R T
FPREEBEIAEEVEM 2 ABRER-

MRBELRUBER

REBEMHRFEFE AEEZAREED
647,580,0008% T A% & & P15 BB F A
75 #180,000,0007T * FTIS RIBEAIE K =
7T1I8EB Z W AR REEES - BE
F (N 8 T 17143,000,0008% & f% #E © FT1S X
TH /5 %8 4978 #3,860,0007T °

—BmME AEBUANARELEZRER
MITIREZRITHERIEEEES - A&
B 23R & NMIR1T 4 8 4 & 5 830,585,000
T (ZZE T )\ F : 5 #87,334,0007T) *+ N
FER1T R E b {E & 4975 #72,090,0007T (=
T )\F : B#73,788,0007T) ° A & B )
)& B #) 578 #230,522,000L (Z T F
J\ 5 7 #356,838,0007T) M i &) & & A
%775 #200,483,000C (ZEZE )N\ F : B
229,021,0007T) * B BEEFHAOABE
30,039,0005T (= &2 T N\ 4 : /& 127,817,000
JT) °



Management Discussion and Analysis

IR E R Ak

The gearing ratio, calculated by dividing the total borrowing by
the total assets, was equal to 2.83% as at 31 March 2009 (2008:
3.15%).

On 10 June 2008, the Group successful completed an Open
Offer by 2 shares to offer for 1 new share. The total new issued
shares on completion were 647.58 million shares and the net
proceeds was approximately HK$180 million. In addition,
43,000,000 share options were exercised by staffs over the year.
The net proceeds amount was approximately HK$3,860,000. The
management is of the view that the Group’s incoming cash flow
from the financing activities and business operations together with
the available banking facilities will provide sufficient funds for the
Group to meet with the requirements of present operation and
further business development in the foreseeable future.

On 5 January 2009, a listed convertible bonds due in 2012 with
principal sum of HK$200,000,000 was withdrawn by the Group.
On that date, HK$160,000,000 (representing 80% of its principal
sum) of the convertible bonds had been converted into shares.
The remaining HK$40,000,000 (representing 20% of its principal
sum) was redeemed by the Group on 3 January 2009, as a result
of the bondholder exercised the Put option.

Placing of existing shares and subscription of new
shares

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement made on 20 May
2009, Ever Source Enterprises Limited (“Ever Source”) and the
Company entered into the share placing agreement (as amended
by the supplemental agreement) with Sun Hung Kai International
Limited (the “Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the Placing Agent
agreed to place, on a best efforts basis, the placing shares
comprising in aggregate up to 225,000,000 existing shares at the
placing price of HK$0.325 per placing share on behalf of Ever
Source to not less than six share placees who, and whose
ultimate beneficial owners, was independent third parties.

On the same date, Ever Source entered into a subscription
agreement with the Company for the subscription of up to
225,000,000 new shares (“subscription shares”) at the above
placing price. The placing was unconditional. The subscription
was conditional upon (i) the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange granting approval for the listing of, and permission to
deal in, the subscription shares; and (i) the completion of the
placing.
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The placing shares represented approximately 9.77% of the
existing issued share capital of the Company and the subscription
shares represented approximately 8.90% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the subscription shares. The subscription shares are to be issued
under the general mandate granted to the directors at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 26 September 2008.
The net proceeds of the subscription, after deduction of the share
placing commission and other related expenses of approximately
HK$1.50 million, was approximately HK$71.63 million. The
directors used the net proceeds to finance the potential
acquisition of Tunisia project, subsequent to balance sheet date.

Warrants placing

On the same date as of 20 May 2009 mentioned above, the
Company also entered into the warrant placing agreement with
the Placing Agent in connection with the warrant placing, on a
best efforts basis, to place up to 77,000,000 warrants conferring
rights to subscribe for up to HK$34,650,000 in aggregate in
cash, for up to 77,000,000 new shares at the warrant exercise
price of HK$0.45 per share (subject to adjustments as detailed in
the warrant placing agreement).

The warrants were placed at a warrant placing price of HK$0.01
per warrant. The warrant placing was conditional upon several
conditions as set out in the Company’s announcement dated 20
May 2009. The new shares issued upon exercise of the
subscription rights attaching to the warrants was issued under
the general mandate.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 31 March 2009, the Group’s tangible assets and receivables
have a net book value of approximately HK$51,421,000 and
HK$34,322,000 (2008: HK$45,385,000 and HK$NIl) respectively
were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. In
addition, a registered all monies first share charge over 51% of all
the issued shares in a subsidiary is pledged to secure the
facilities.
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COMMITMENTS XiE
As at 31 March 2009, the Group had capital expenditure R-_ZETEAE=A=1+—HB KXEEHE
commitments as follows: AEAZAEERT :
2009 2008
—BBRAE _—TTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT I
Contracted but not provided for BENEKREE
— acquisition in a target mining group — - ERRESEE 60,000 -
— construction in progress —fFEIRE 2,670 8,314
— property, plant and equipment —ME BENEE 1,984 2,723
— acquisition of oil exploitation — WA hARERIES
development project - 117,000
64,654 128,037
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES HABRE
(a) The Company had contingent liabilities as follows: (a) AAFTWHIABEHET:
2009 2008
—EBBAE —TTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT I
Guarantee for banking facilities of BB A A ERITREE A IE (R
subsidiaries 322,221 241,339
In the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the fair KRBEERAE  ANARMWPBHER
value of the financial guarantee contracts of the Company EHNATERVTEREL T E
is insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors N MEERBALRALTEDNA
consider the possibility of default of the parties involved is MR BMUEREEABERER
remote, accordingly, no value has been recognised in the FR(EE -

balance sheet.
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(b) Environmental contingencies

Due to the underground oil exploitation method adopted by
the Group, the Group has not incurred any significant
expenditure on environmental rehabilitation since its
establishment. There is, however, no assurance that
stringent environmental policies and/or standards on
environmental rehabilitation will not be implemented by the
relevant authorities in the PRC in the future which require
the Group to undertake environmental measures. The
financial position of the Group may be adversely affected by
any environmental liabilities, which may be imposed under
such new environmental policies and/or standards.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
AND INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s business transactions are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Most interest bearing bank
borrowings of the Group are on floating rate basis. Foreign
currency exposure is monitored closely by the management and
hedged by forward foreign currency contracts. The Group also
uses derivative financial instruments to manage interest rate
exposures for hedging purpose only.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had an aggregate of 376 (2008:
500) employees of which about 361 (2008: 489) were located in
mainland China while the rest were based in Hong Kong and
Macau. The employee’s remuneration package includes salary,
bonus and share options. Pursuant to the Group’s remuneration
policy, employees are rewarded on the basis of merit and market
conditions and in accordance with the statutory requirements of
the respective jurisdiction where the employees located.
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.21
OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of rule 13.21 in
the Listing Rules, the Company makes the following disclosures
in relation to the details of the Facility Letter (as defined below),
which includes conditions relating to specific performance of the
controlling shareholder of the Company:

On 25 September 2008, the Group had accepted the renewal of
the facilities letter (the “Facility Letter”) issued by a bank in Hong
Kong (the “Bank”) in relation to various working capital facilities
up to a revised amount of HK$93,440,000. The term included a
HK$40,000,000 term loan and a 10 years term loan with an
amount of HK$10,440,000 that to be used for re-financing four
properties owned by a subsidiary of the Group. Other than the
conditions imposing specific performance obligations on the
controlling shareholder is amended as “Poon’s family should
maintain at least 23% of the issued share capital of China Oil
Resources Holdings Limited”, there are the same conditions as
disclosed previously.

On 8 December 2008, the Group had accepted a facility letter
dated 8 December 2008 issued by a bank in the PRC in relation
to various working capital facilities up to the aggregate amount of
HK$5,000,000.

On 5 January 2009, the Group has accepted the renewal of the
Facilities Letter by the Bank up to HK$153,170,000. The terms
and conditions, other than the assets to be pledged as disclosed
in page 18, have no substantial difference with the Facilities Letter
dated on 7 April 2008.

The above banking facilities are subject to periodic review by the
relevant banks at its sole discretion.
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This corporate governance report (“CG Report”) presents the
corporate governance matters during the year covering the
financial year ended 31 March 2009 (“CG Period”) required to be
disclosed under the Rules Governing the Listing of the Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
(“Listing Rules”).

ADOPTION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Group has adopted the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
which came into effect on 1 January 2005. During the CG Period,
the Code had been duly complied with except for the deviations
as follows:

The Non-executive Director (“NED”) and the Independent Non-
executive Directors (“INEDs”) of the Company are not appointed
for specific terms but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

22

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2008-2009

AexBERBRES(EERBEDERE
EEBARSMAR QA (B FE
FRRATETRAUDETHREREEHZE
—ETRAFZA=T—BLMBEE(R
XERHEMNEELXEEREIE-

~

RMEEELRREM

RSB BB TR BB 8%+ PO A E ey b
XEREARATH(ZTAD B=-FFH
F-A-—BAEER -REEELHE %
STRIBEEE & TN IRBEE RGN -

RARMERTER(ERTES)D RSB
VUHATES((BUERTESNEMR
WEETETH ERERAQGAMEZER
HMAIZER A REIRRBFRE LRESR
MEXZEE-



Corporate Governance Report
SEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2009, the Board comprised a total of seven
Directors, with three Executive Directors (“EDs”), one NED and
three INEDs. Two of the INEDs have appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting, or related professional management
expertise, which is required by the Listing Rules. During the CG
Period, four regular Board meetings were held.

The composition of the Board, and the respective attendances of
the Directors are presented as follows:

EEE

NR-ZEZNF=A=+—H EFgs#
PIEtLtNESE =R TES(HITE
) —ERTEER MBI IERT
BEE - HPAMUBYATESEHE L™
RMAFMATENEEEEER T EE
EEETEEMMES RNEEETRHH K
REBTTNAETHEESSH -

EFeMERESNESSELEBLN
T

Director Board Capacity Attendance
EE ESESH H =
Mr. Poon Sum ED & Chairman 4/4
ERTHE BITEERERE 4/4
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung ED 4/4
EER L WITES 4/4
Mr. Poon Wai Kong ED & Financial Controller 4/4
EE W & BITERRY KB 4/4
Mr. Chen Lizhong NED 4/4
BRI B EBMITES 4/4
Ms. Chew Lye Yin (resigned on 1 February 2009) NED 1/4
HEHZT (RZZETNF_A—HET) FBITES 1/4
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung INED 4/4
SR L& BYUIFNITES 4/4
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul INED 4/4
BRERF2SE A& BYUFENITESE 4/4
Mr. Chan Shu Kin INED 4/4
R 46f B2 5 A BIUEMITES 4/4

All the four regular Board meetings were held to discuss and/or
approve the financial performance/results of the Group, report,
discuss and/or resolve for the ordinary business and operation
matters, and the corporate development and decisions. The
Board formulates overall strategy of the Group, monitors its
financial performance and maintains effective supervision over the
management. Daily operations and administration are delegated to
the management. During the CG Period, none of the Directors
above has or maintained any financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship with any of the other Directors.

RARBOTTHATHEEFES S YR
Wk ERNEBNMIEREREE
BE ARk HBBRAAFTEBREES
B-RARERERR - BEGHEAE
EOBRRE ERAEVBERENGERY
EEENEREB - HESERERDZE
KEEREEBEE RO XETRPMHE . LilE
EMEREMNEMCEETREGREFEMM

B E% REXEMER BHBRE-
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was formed on 21 March 2005 and
adopted specific written terms of reference in accordance with
the provisions set out in the Code. The role and function of the
Remuneration Committee includes:

. recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy
for the Directors;

o review of, approval of and recommendation for (if any) the
remuneration package of each Director including benefits in
kind, pension right, bonus payment and compensation
payable;

o review and approval of the compensation payment to any
Director upon his/her cessation of directorship in or
employment with the Company; and

. engagement of external professional advisors to assist and/
or advise the Remuneration Committee on its duties when
necessary and reasonable.

For the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee
had held three physical meetings for the purpose of considering
the remuneration of the Directors and senior management.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee, and the
respective attendances of the committee members are presented
as follows:

HINEST

FMEZBEERN _—_TERF=A_t—HK
o WREZ T AT ESGECRAEEE®
BEsE -ZHZEeNACBAERE:

e NEFENFHBRRANEESREHERS
2R

e WF HEREESUEFHMEH
anE) BREMNGZ RR:®
M TEAL R B RRME

s REMEFRKLIEFBBRKILEAR
NAHE B BRERE - I RitE
FAZEEXNOEE: &

e RUERAER ZBINBIEXE
- SAR B Ko Sk M BN E B iR it
BRAEBBHER -

REEYBREE FMEZE@BR LETT
TZRE%H EHEZEEFTHHM-

FTHEZEEEeMEAKRIKZESHEZSEHE
BRI

Member Committee capacity Attendance
8 EEE25H HE=E
Mr. Poon Sum Chairman of the committee 3/3
BT ZEGRERE 3/3
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung INED 3/3
REIIE A& BYUFENITESE 3/3
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul INED 3/3
BREZIZSE & BYIERTESE 3/3
Mr. Chan Shu Kin INED 3/3
R 161 B2 5 A BYUIFNITESE 3/3

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee since its
establishment has been Mr. Poon Sum.
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The summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee for the financial year under review included:

o review the current
system;

o consider and approve the grant of share options to directors
and senior management;

o recommend to the Board the director’s fee for the year
ending 31 March 2009;

o consider and approve the remuneration of the director and
senior management.

remuneration policies and appraisal

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Directors
for the financial year under review is set out in Note 16 to the
financial statements.

The share options granted to/or entitled by the Directors during
the financial year under review are inscribed in the section headed
“Directors’ Interests in Equity or Debt Securities” of the Directors’
Report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific equity of all Directors, they confirmed that all of them
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the year.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company does not have a Nomination Committee. The
Chairman of the Board is responsible to identify and recommend
for the Board’s approval of any eligible candidate to join the
Board for filing the casual vacancy and/or appointing additional
directors. The Board composes members with mixed skills and
experience with appropriate weights necessary to accomplish the
Group’s business development, strategies, operation, challenges
and opportunities. Each member of the Board shall posses, be
recognised for and be able to exhibit high and professional
standard of a set of core criteria of competence.

REBEMBEE %
MEBRE:

MEZBEEHRITH T

o MEIIREHEEUR REZHEH

e EERMARBBEEEITEZELS

MEERE:

s HBBE_TTNF=-A=t+—-RL
FEZESHES

s ZERYULEEFREREEEZH
B -

BB

REBEHRFE ENR/AENELE
= H H B R B TS IR AR MY RE16 o

REBETREERN EEER, ZME
BEREEREZEERRAXEBHBELED
Mk | — B R o

EFETESFNS
ARFERBETRAMBE AN LS

BOTANEFETESFXZINRET AR
A FRESFETEFRIINTR

T -KUMBERFLEESHER W

R R AR BT R A B R 5
Eal -

EFRAE

ARRUTERFEET -EEGEXFAE
PMEAERIEEAN  THETFESTSHHE
IMMAZESREE EHBEREHREHEZE
REINEE -EFETHABRAERERK
BRALTHEK ZSATHEBEBRASE
B EGER KBS 28 YEBEBEME
MNBEEEE ZEFCSKEBEERBAEN
—ERLER WESRA BREHRETR
mKFE R B EKE -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has adopted specific written term of
reference in accordance with the provision set out in the Code.
The principal duties of the Audit Committee include:

monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the
Group;

providing independent review and supervision of the
effectiveness of the internal control of the Group;

reviewing adequacy of the external audits;

reviewing compliance issues with the Listing Rules and
other compliance requirements;

providing independent views on connected transactions and
transactions involving materially conflicted interest;
considering and reviewing the appointment of the Auditors
and the audit remuneration; and

considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

For the financial year under review, the Audit Committee had held

two physical

meetings for discussing and/or approving the

periodic financial results of the Group, reviewing the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process and internal control system of
the Group.

The composition of the Audit Committee, and the respective
attendances of the committee members are presented as follows:

ERESE

BEZLZ BRI LT RIFT 8 A 5 SR
BEMEORELE EREZEENTIE
BEERE:

s EEAREMBWERMTEML

. BUBEMREBAREBRANIPEEIT MK
& ;

s  BEIMNEEERELSRD
o  BEHETLMHRAIREMRENER

s HEAEXZEFIRERFGZHRHR

SIRMBIER
o EE KA B M A K i BB
i3

s EERRESLYBERBETE
MER BIEEMERREERHN
AR EBTHEENEIRELABEE

BIRERE-

REOEBEVWREERE ERZE8SER LR
TMREH Atk SR EEE
A HA T B B 75 SR AR - e Y AN R B S R 3R
ERFMABEERGHREK -

BERZEENEKREZEEEXNEZALRE
EJ/R;ZDT .

Member Committee capacity Attendance
RE EEESH H =
Mr. Chan Shu Kin Chairman of the committee 2/2
PR 5t BR 5 A ZEEERE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul INED 2/2
BRERFZ S & BIEHMITES 2/2
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung INED 2/2
REIIE S BYUIFNITESE 2/2

The chairman of the Audit Committee since its establishment has

been
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AUDIT REMUNERATION

The analysis of the Joint Auditors’ remuneration for the financial
year under review is presented as follows:

BN &

B R B B B B S 5 AR
wmF

Fee amount (HK$’000)

BEH(EETT)

Audit Service 1% B R 7% 2,300
Non-audit services IEZ BAR 75 1,035

SECTION OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective internal control system for the Group to safeguard
its’ shareholders investments and the company’s assets.

During the year, the management was delegated by the Board
with responsibilities for implementing an appropriate internal
control system designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the effectiveness and efficiency of operations, the
reliability of financial reporting as well as compliance with
applicable laws and regulations.

Effective from June 2009, an independent Internal Audit
Department was set up with the purpose of reviewing and
monitoring the implementation of the Group’s internal control
procedures and to make recommendations on the efficiency and
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system. Such
reviewing functions were previously appointed and performed by
an independent accountancy firm on an assignment basis. The
head of Internal Audit reports administratively to the Chief
Executive Officer and functionally to the Audit Committee.

The Board and the management will be involved and
concentrated more proactively in the process of reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group, and
considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget,
including cooperating more efforts and resources of identifying
key risk areas that affect its business and ensure proper
implementation of any remedial actions.

P &P B i

EFENMERARAEER S RERAE
EERBzEE UREERRERNHKRER
RAEMEE

FRN EZERRETEER AERMTE
ENAMEERR  EEZENREMY
R B i ) AT S A K 8 ST E R RO
BRIEMENERESENRE -

RARY—EBLOAFEE T B A
REFMEEARBABEEEFHNT
I 7 S 1) A9 70 BE 122 O B R AN AR
#FR_ETENFEAABREN -EBE
EREREZE EBIN SR EBM
NTEBEBHEANT AR EAEEETT
BERBERRITEER  AREBSE LR
ERZZEGER-

EZeNERESEEGREIHL2EERE
BANEZERG2BIE REBERAES
ARG ERBETENER BTERE
MEBERRHN UREBIEXHOEIR
EREBRAERGRE BREAEZE
BEBH NEEFEEXETNTERR
B WHERERATEMNBRITE -

27

PEERERERAT



Corporate Governance Report
TEELARE

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY ERHMBERRMANEE
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the BEERRFEEERVUANEBVERENEIT -
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the financial REZECENRFENTEHRERE ==
statements for the financial year under review, the Directors have: 2 :

. Based on a going concern basis; s RREEBEKEEERZ:

. Selected suitable accounting policies and applied them o EBEESTRE YE/ER:
consistently;

J Made judgments and estimates that were prudent, fair and e EHEE A FRATENHE K&
reasonable. o

The statement of the Joint Auditors regarding their reporting BB ZSMBMBREMB L O BE ST
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in detail in B EIR E508 F £528 KB E B T 2 E A

the Joint Independent Auditors’ Report on page 50 to 52. ME AN o

On behalf of the Board REXESZE

Poon Sum Ey

Chairman BE

Hong Kong, 10 July 2009 BAE ZEENFLATAH
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The directors submit their annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009.

CHANGE OF NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company on 18 December 2008, the Company’s name was
changed from China QOil Resources Holdings Limited to PetroAsian
Energy Holdings Limited.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 23 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business
and geographical segments is set out in Note 6 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 53.

No interim dividend was paid or declared in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2009 (2008: Nil).

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2009 (2008: final dividend
in the form of warrants issued on the basis of one warrant for
every twelve existing shares held by the Company’s shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
as at the close of business on 26 September 2008, and each
warrant entitles the Company’s shareholders to subscribe for one
new share of the Company at an initial subscription price of
HK$0.48 per share, subject to adjustments, in cash within thirty-
six months commencing from the date of issue of the warrant).
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in the statements of changes in equity
on page 57 to 60.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in Note 17 to the financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 4 July 2007, the Group issued convertible bonds denominated
in HK$200,000,000 with maturity date on 3 July 2012. The bonds
bore interest at 0.5% per annum and were unsecured.
HK$160,000,000 of the bonds had been converted into shares of
the Company and the remaining HK$40,000,000 of the bonds
were redeemed by the Company on 3 January 2009.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 34 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2009
amounted to HK$NIl. Under section 34 of the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium is available
for distribution to shareholders subject to the provisions of the
Articles of Association of the Company, and no distribution may
be paid to shareholders out of the Company’s share premium
unless the Company shall be able to pay its debt as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 183 to
184.

PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

On 28 October 2008, a subsidiary of the Company purchased
the Company’s 11,000,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.045 per
share under share award scheme. Details of the share award
scheme are disclosed under “Share Award Scheme of the
Company” below.

During the year, the Company redeemed and cancelled a total
sum of HK$40,000,000 of 0.5% convertible bonds expired in
2012 listed on the Stock Exchange as a result of the bondholders
exercising the put options.

Apart from the aforesaid neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries, purchased, sold or redeemed any of the securities of
the Company during the year.

SHARE OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Warrants

On 30 January 2008, the Company had issued 200,000,000 non-
listed warrants, each entitles the holder thereof to subscribe for
one new share at the subscription price of HK$1.00 (subject to
adjustment) at any time during a period of thirty-six months
commencing from the date of issue of the warrants. As of 31
March 2009, there was outstanding non-listed warrants carrying
subscription rights up to HK$189,851,999 in aggregate, equivalent
to the aggregate subscription price for a total of 220,758,139
shares on the basis of the adjusted subscription price of HK$0.86
per share.
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On 26 September 2008, the Company had issued 161,894,434
listed warrants, each entitles the holder thereof to subscribe for
one new share at the subscription price of HK$0.48 (subject to
adjustment) at any time during a period of thirty-six months
commencing from the date of issue of the warrants. As of 31
March 2009, there was outstanding listed warrants carrying
subscription rights up to HK$77,709,328 in aggregate, equivalent
to the aggregate subscription price for a total of 161,894,434
shares.

Share Options

Share options are granted to directors, executives and employees
under a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
approved by shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting on
21 October 2002.

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to acknowledge the contributions made or to be
made by participants to the Group. The Board of Directors may,
at its discretion, offer employees, executive and non-executive
directors, officers, advisers and consultants of the Company and
its subsidiaries, the grant of options to subscribe for shares of
the Company. Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the
grant. The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at
the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. The 10% limit
was refreshed by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 18 December 2008
which enabled the grant of further options to subscribe up to
194,273,321 shares, representing 10% of the shares in issue as
at the said date. The 10% limit was further refreshed by ordinary
resolution passed by the shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 16 June 2009 which enabled the grant of further
options to subscribe up to 255,112,210 shares, representing 10%
of the shares in issue as at the said date.
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As at the date of the annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue pursuant to the exercise of all options granted
or to be granted under the Share Option Scheme was
145,112,210, representing about 5.57% of the issued share
capital of the Company. Unless approved by shareholders of the
Company, the total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. The Directors will
have the absolute discretion to fix the minimum period for which
an option must be held before it can be exercised, and the
performance targets that must be achieved before the options
can be exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save
that such price will not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal
value of the shares, (i) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in daily quotations sheet of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for the five
consecutive trading days immediately preceding the date of offer
of the option and (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer
of the option (which must be a trading day).

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which the
option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the
expiry of such period to be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion and notified to the grantee. No option may be
granted more than 10 years after the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.
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Details of the share option outstanding at 31 March 2009 which R=-ZZHAE=A=+—H RBEFEE

have been granted under the scheme are as follows: BFHEMATENERESBOT
Number of Options Price of Company’s shares
fBRENE AAFRMER
Outstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
Exercise price asat during the  during the  during the asat For Option  For Option
Participants Date of grant per share Exercisable Period 1 April 2008 year year year 31 March 2009 granted exercised
HKS HKS HKS
(Note 1) (Note 2)
R-FBAE R-BBLE
mA-H =ZA=+-H 2R Ef7fE
saz ReH BRITHEE TTHEH BRTE REARE REATE RERKY o R AT I | 134 R

(B3Er) (GEZ)

Executive Directors

BITES
Mr. Poon Sum 14/09/2007 0.933 (adjusted) 14/09/2007 toZ13/09/2009 48,000,000 - - - 48,000,000 - -
BREE (5H8%)
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung 13/08/2004 0.251 (adjusted) 13/08/2004 to%12/08/2014 100,000 - - - 100,000 - -
BERAE (BH%)
Mr. Poon Wai Kong 28/07/2008 0.310 28/07/2008 to%27/07/2009 - 6,450,000 - - 6,450,000 0.295 -
BEAEE

28/07/2008 0.310 28/01/2009 t0%27/07/2009 - 6,450,000 - - 6,450,000 0.295 -
Non-executive Director
FHTER
Mr. Chen Lizhong 28/07/2008 0.310 28/07/2008 t0%27/07/2009 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.295 -
R BEE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUEATES

Mr. Chan Shu Kin 14/09/2007 0.933 (adjusted) 14/09/2007 toZ13/09/2009 680,000 - - - 680,000 - -
REZELE (5%

Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul  14/09/2007 0.933 (adjusted) 14/09/2007 toZ13/09/2009 680,000 - - - 680,000 - -
RRAL (EHR%)

Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung 14/09/2007 0.933 (adjusted) 14/09/2007 to%13/09/2009 680,000 - - - 680,000 - -
FHBEL (5%

Chief Executive
TREH
Mr. Leung Kam Lung, Danny ~ 28/07/2008 0.310 28/07/2008 to%27/07/2009 - 6,475,000 - - 6,475,000 0.295 -
2eBEE
28/07/2008 0.310 28/01/2009 to%27/07/2009 - 6,475,000 - - 6,475,000 0.295 -
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Number of Options

Price of Company’s shares

BREYE FAFARMER
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
Exercise price asat during the  during the  during the asat  For Option  For Option
Participants Date of grant per share Exercisable Period 1 April 2008 year year year 31 March 2009 granted exercised
HK$ HK$ HK$
(Note 1) (Note 2)
R-BBAE R-BBAE
mA-A =ZA=+-H 2R EfTiE
saz RHAH BRITER ITES HATE REARE REATE REAKY B R AT B R
bk B B
(MizE1) (Hiz2)
Employees in aggregate
By
24/11/2003 0.260 (adjusted) 24/11/2003 to£23/11/2008 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - - -
(58%)
19/11/2007 1.019 (adjusted) 19/11/2007 to%18/11/2008 37,000,000 - — 37,000,000 - - -
(55%)
28/07/2008 0.310 28/07/2008 to%27/07/2009 — 55,950,000 - 8,000,000 47,950,000 0.29 -
06/11/2008 0.077 06/11/2008 to%05/11/2009 — 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.083 -
17/11/2008 0,081 17/11/2008 to%=16/11/2009 — 30,000,000 30,000,000 - - 0.081 0.211
24/12/2008 0.110 24/12/2008 to%£23/12/2009 — 76,500,000 13,000,000 - 63,500,000 0.070 0.211
24/12/2008 0.118 24/12/2008 t0%£23/12/2009 — 38,000,000 - - 38,000,000 0.070 -
24/12/2008 0.200 24/12/2008 t0o%23/12/2009 — 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 0.070 -
31/12/2008 0.200 31/12/2008 t0%£30/12/2009 — 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.110 -
88,140,000 281,300,000 43,000,000 46,000,000 280,440,000
Notes: B 5
1. The price of the Company’s shares disclosed for options granted is the 1. REEEBREMBRENRQAROER 18
closing price of the shares immediately before the date on which the options ZEERERLDBEBATROOKTE -
were granted.
2. The price of the Company’s shares disclosed for options exercised is the 2. RETEEREMFEENERAQRARNDERL 4B

weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the dates

on which the options were exercised.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, or their spouse
or children under the age of 18, had been granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any
of its associated corporations, or had exercised any such right
during the period.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME OF THE COMPANY

On 16 October 2008, the Company adopted the Share Award
Scheme in which selected employees of the Group, including
without limitation any executive and non-executive director, officer,
agent or consultant (with payroll) of the Group, are entitled to
participate in the Share Award Scheme pursuant to the rules of
the Share Award Scheme.

The purposes and objectives of the Share Award Scheme are to
recognise the contributions by certain employees and to provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. Subject to any
early termination as may be determined by the Board, the Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date. The maximum number of
shares which may be awarded to a selected employee under the
Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the adoption date. The nominal
value of the shares awarded by the Board under the Share Award
Scheme shall not exceed 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the adoption date.

Pursuant to the rules of the Share Award Scheme, the Company
has appointed Ample Finance Group as administrator, pursuant to
which existing shares will be purchased under the name of the
Company from the market out of cash contributed by the Group
and be held on behalf of the relevant selected employees until
such shares are vested with the relevant selected employees in
accordance with the rules of the Share Award Scheme. During
the vyear, the Company has purchased 11,000,000 shares,
representing 0.55% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the adoption date, from the market at HK$0.045 per share.

According to the terms of the scheme, the share award scheme
shall be subject to the administration of the Administration
Committee or the administrator.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Mr. Poon Sum

Mr. Wong Kwok Leung
Mr. Poon Wai Kong
Mr. Chen Lizhong'

Ms. Chew Lye Yin'
Mr. Chan Shu Kin?
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul?
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung?

(resigned on 1 February 2009)

! Non-Executive Director
2 Independent Non-Executive Director

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Wong Kwok Leung, Mr. Chen Lizhong and Mr.
Cheung Kwan Hung shall retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreements
with any member of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Apart from Directors’ service contracts as described above, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director of the company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Poon Sum, aged 45, is Chairman of the Company and one
of the co-founders of the Group. Throughout the year, he has
been, and still is, primarily responsible for the overall strategic
planning, business development, marketing and formulation of
overall corporate policies of the Group. He has over 20 years of
experience in the oil, paints and coatings industry and the trading
of chemicals in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Mr. Wong Kwok Leung, aged 51, is an Executive Director. He is
currently responsible for the administration and production
management of the Group’s subsidiary in Dongguan. He obtained
the qualification of LCC — Higher Accounting from London
Chamber of Commerce and diploma of supervisory studies from
Hong Kong Productivity Council. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in the field of finance and accounting for over 14 years
and has obtained extensive knowledge therein. He joined the
Group in September 1997.

Mr. Poon Wai Kong, aged 38, is an Executive Director. He is a
member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Certified Practising Accountant of Australia.
He also holds a Master degree in Business Administration from
the City University of Hong Kong, a Master degree in Practising
Accounting from the Monash University, Australia and a Bachelor
degree in Economics from the University of London, United
Kingdom. He has more than 18 years’ experience in accounting
and financial field. He joined the Group as Financial Controller in
September 2005. He was appointed as Company Secretary for
the Company in September 20086.
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Non-Executive Director

Mr. Chen Lizhong, aged 55, is a Non-executive Director. He is an
accountant in the People’s Republic of China and holds a
Master’s degree in business management. Mr. Chen joined
Guangdong Dongshen Water Supply Bureau (the “Bureau”) in
1975. He acted as the general manager of Shenzhen City
Dongshen Industrial Development Holding Company between
1994 to 2000 and Vice President of the Bureau between 1996 to
2000. He was an executive director and general manager of
Guangnan (Holdings) Limited between December 2000 to June
2002. Besides, he was an independent non-executive director of
China Water Affairs Group Limited between January 2003 to
February 2007. Both Guangnan (Holdings) Limited and China
Water Affairs Group Limited are listed companies in Hong Kong.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Shu Kin, aged 54, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director. He was appointed on 21 October 2002. He is a certified
public accountant and is a partner of Messrs. Ting Ho Kwan &
Chan, Certified Public Accountants. He is a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He has
over 31 years of experience in the field of auditing, accounting as
well as financial management. He is the past president of the
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors (the “Society”) and
currently a committee member of the Society. He is also an
independent non-executive director of PYl Corporation Limited
which is a listed company on the main board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul, aged 54, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director. He was appointed on 21 October 2002. He is
the proprietor of Paul K.C. Chan & Partners Solicitors & Notaries,
and has been practising laws in Hong Kong for over 25 years.
He obtained a Juris Doctorate degree from the University of
Toronto in 1979. He has been admitted as a barrister and a
solicitor in Ontario, Canada and as a barrister in the Australian
Capital Territory, as a solicitor in Hong Kong and in England and
Wales, and as an advocate and solicitor in Singapore. He became
a China-Appointed Attesting Officer in 1995, a member of the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in 1996, a Notary Public in Hong
Kong in 1997, and HKIAC Accredited Mediator in 1999.
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Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung, aged 57, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director. He was appointed on 30th September 2004.
He is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 24 years of experience in accounting,
finance and investment banking profession specialising in equity/
debt fund raising, mergers and acquisitions and corporate
restructuring before working with publicly listed companies
undertaking corporate management, planning and strategies
development functions. He is a director of New Ocean Green
Energy Holdings Limited, Ruyan Group (Holdings) Ltd. (formerly
known as Golden Dragon Group (Holdings) Limited) and VS
International Group Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the
Independent non-executive directors as regards their
independence from the Company and considers that each of the
Independent Non-executive directors is independence of the
Company.

Senior Management

Mr. Leung Kam Lung, Danny, aged 48, is the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group. He joined the Group on 1 April 2008 and is
primarily responsible for the Group’s daily operations. He is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom, an associate member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Leung
has over 26 years of experience in various functional areas with
responsibilities for strategic planning, business development,
mergers and acquisitions, internal and external auditing and
financial management. Mr. Leung held various management
positions with a number of reputable groups, with business
activities throughout Greater China and the Asia Pacific region,
including a multi-national commercial group headquartered in
Shanghai, a state-owned enterprise headquartered both in Beijing
and Hong Kong, two investment banking and securities brokerage
groups based in Hong Kong, a Hong Kong securities regulatory
body as well as two ‘big-four’ auditing firms.

40

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2008-2009

KREIEFEL 5758 BUFRITEEF - N
ZTMFNA=Z+THEZE - BEREFFTA
REFAMAERELESHMAGEE R
EEMBZHARET AR BERAE
BRI RRBERBGH  GRE W
BRRERTERTHER - THF&ER
EFRERA EBEE A RKE
ARARER REERNERRERSE
BARXR - AKEGER) BR QA E
MEESE R BRAR) REHBEERE
BMERAFMES Z=HRANHENRN
B X P 7 o

RARAEEESBIUNTEST 2 HR
BRER/BINARBARKRRRA/E
BYFFNTETHRBLAL -

BREEE

REFESLL 485 BAKBEITHARE - &
R-ZEZNFOA-—HMBEAEE =2
BEAEENAFELEE RARBERBFA
REAMAEERGE R REBA
HASMAeg BB EStMA SR
B -REAFEREA T RNEIELS B
BERERERE  XHKHEE  2EHE R
INREA LM BEREZEESHE - REL
ERNZREFBIATERTKRNES
CESEERAEEEERY ZFEX5E
BRE-FREBIKNLENBEEBEEE
—RAHFDNERIERRFENEALE
MENBEREMNRERITRESFEL
S8 —ZEBBFEERBLIMAXBR
(ER=EE



Report of the Directors
EEHRE

Professor Kwong Ser Yuen Kwong, Albert, aged 59, is the Vice
Chairman and Chief Operating Officer of the Group. He joined the
Group on 1 July 2008. He is a renowned oil scholar and a
seasoned senior petroleum engineer with worldwide hands-on
exploration and production experience, both onshore and offshore,
plus sharp cross-border business management skills of an
international standard. He has direct exposure to the exploration
and exploitation of oil and gas in North America (covering both
the United States and Canada), South America, Asia (especially
China), Australia, West Africa and the Middle East.

Professor Kwong earned his Bachelor of Science in Computer
Science from the University of South Carolina in 1974 and Master
of Science in Petroleum Engineering from the University of Texas
at Austin in 1977, also later Master of Science in Engineering
Management in Oklahoma, the United States. He had worked as
a research engineer for the Department of Energy, the United
States and later as drilling and operations engineer for Atlantic
Richfield Co. He then worked for Sun Qil (USA) in its south China
Sea offshore drilling ventures with CNOOC.

Mr. Ho Chi Hung, Alan, aged 56, is Senior Manager of the
Investment Management Department. He joined the Group in
February 2009 and is responsible for all aspects of investment
management matters in relation to the Group’s subsidiaries,
associated companies and joint ventures. He has over 10 years
of experience in advising independent petroleum firms operating
in PRC. Mr. Ho graduated with a Master degree from the
University of Michigan in 1977. He is also a co-founder of
PetroChina Services Company and later PetroAsia Energy Limited.

Ms. Liu Yu Qin, aged 41, is the General Manager and Director of
America Archi Colors Group Limited. She joined the Group in
April 2007 and is responsible for the sales and marketing of
paints products in Northeast China Market. She has a
postgraduate degree from the Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences. She has 11 years of experience in the coating industry
in both China and internationally and over 11 years of experience
in sales and marketing.

B EHK 59 RASBERIEFHRE
BRE - BN _ZETNEFLA-HMAR
SR -BRAZHNOMBENEREEN
= A A m TA2AD - B2 B0 h i IR B
HEEELRSLDNERLER YHA
ZE R BBOK T B R E R RN o B2
REZZ2EZREMAHLRARER N
MREFEE  EERENEeEtEM(E
EEEMER) - BEM 2MOEHZF
B) RAFTE - IEM R RE -

BHER - NEMNFEREERM R EKE
MINZREBERBEBRET R—Nt+E
FEEREMMIASB(RGTT)ERBT
BEL TREZEBZNEASMELR
ERBELEM - HEEEREMERIE
B TR ERAEERNERABA A
Atlantic Richfield Co¥& F 12 /N 78 &8 & 3 & /E
ETEM HEMEBEEEBR K ABAT
ERHEESEFEHARAIEE-

1] E 1T A - B6B% AR BRI E & A
SRRE - BER_ETAF-_AMALRE
B - AEAKENBRR BEMAER
AMKREEE -MAEERELHMARERM
BTFEFNER - BER-NEEFREFEXE
ERABRAERBE LT EM - B2 MRS
REANMERPERRERAFAMAZ — -

HEELL  Apx - ZETHZER (KE) A
RARMBEERES RN _FTLF
mMAMAARERE & & BERILTSNH
REMBERMSHE - REATHALE
MERMFREEML - B X T EBEARNIE
EMEFERT SR YEHERD
BHERA T —F&R-

mngrmparas 41



Report of the Directors
EEHRE

Mr. Li Xue Tian, aged 66, is the Group’s Vice President. He joined
the Group in June 2006 and is responsible for the oil exploitation
business. He graduated from the Beijing Institute of Geosciences,
predecessor of the China University of Geosciences. He has over
31 years of experience in the exploitation and development of
oilfields, such as the Daging OQilfield and Shengli Qilfield. He has
also published 16 research papers and 4 books, all in the oil field
area. Further, he has received seven academic prizes.

Mr. Cao Quan, aged 37, is General Manager of the Qigihar
Northeast Oil currently. He held a Business Administration degree
in 1993 and had worked in numerous senior management
positions in various industries including the construction of the
Guangzhou Subway System. He joined the Group in 2008 as
committee member of joint management committee in the oilfield
area.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN EQUITY OR
DEBT SECURITIES

At 31 March 2009, the interests of the directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company, and any of its associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model code were as
follows:

EENRAIF/HESHER

i

1

TEAF=A=+-B BEEAR
) (T8 % 59 % 1 D1)) H3524577 B

VERMAE  RBEFETRIZBAAN
RANPBZXANER NRREEREER
TBRABRARR RETABEEE(EE
REZ B GO EXVED 8 - R

MXEHFPHRAOEIDOT

Number of Shares Total %
Name Capacity Nature of Interests held Equity Derivative Total Interest  of Issued Shares
HERTRER
i1 St e BRENRHKEE BAHFTETR BHED Rl
Directors:
5
Mr. Poon Sum Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 122,670,453 57,629,537 589,577,427 29.69%
BREE (Note 1 & 2)
EREAA 8 ARER (a1 R2)
Founder of a Other Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879
Discretionary Trust (Notes 1 & 3)
PREEFARA Ht g s (51 &3)
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 16,285 101,357 117,642 0.01%
HERAE (Note 1 & 4)
ERBEBA B A 2 (B 51 Jod)
Mr. Poon Wai Kong Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 1,200,000 13,000,000 14,200,000 0.72%
EEREE (Note 1 & 5)
ERBEBA {8 A8 % (B 511 125)
Mr. Chen Li Lizhong Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 5,394,000 5,449,500 10,843,500 0.55%
Ry BEE (Note 1 & 6)
EREBA 8 A8 % (P 511 126)
Mr. Chan Shu Kin Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 1,050,000 767,500 1,817,500 0.09%
BRI L& (Note 1 & 7)
EREBA A & (B3 R7)
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 4,000 780,000 784,000 0.04%
BREREE (Note 1 & 8)
BEREBA B AR (HsE1R8)
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 1,050,000 767,500 1,817,500 0.09%
REBELE (Note 1 & 7)
B A B BB (B 1 R27)
Chief Executive:
A
Mr. Leung Kam Lung, Danny Beneficial Owner Personal Interest - 12,950,000 12,950,000 0.65%
ReELE (Note 1 & 9)
EREBA {8 A 7 (P 511 129)
Notes: 3T -
1. All interests in shares and underlying shares of equity derivatives of the 1. RARRIBRG RBRALTE T A/ HEBERM AT

Company are long positions.
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All interests in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are
interests in warrants of the Company (the “Warrants”) which conferred rights
to subscribe for 9,629,537 shares at an initial subscription price of HK$0.48
per share (subject to adjustment) exercisable during the period from 17
October 2008 to 16 October 2011 and interests in share options of the
Company granted under the share option scheme of the Company which
may be exercised during the period 14 September 2007 to 13 September
2009 to subscribe for 48,000,000 shares at an adjusted exercise price of
HK$0.933 per share. The grant of share options was approved by the
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 16 October 2007.

All interests in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are
interests in the Warrants. These shares and Warrants are held by Ever
Source Enterprises Limited (“Ever Source”). The issued share capital of Ever
Source is beneficially owned as to 50% by Time Concord Limited (“Time
Concord”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and
indirectly owned by a discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which are family
members of Mr. Poon Sum, and as to 50% by Guidance Investments Limited
(“Guidance”), a company incorporated in the BVI and indirectly owned by a
discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which are family members of Mr. Poon
Sau Tin, the elder brother of Mr. Poon Sum. Accordingly, Mr. Poon Sum will
be deemed to be interested in 377,794,558 shares, representing
approximately 19.03% of the Company’s shares in issue as at 31 March
2009 through his shareholding in Ever Source.

All interests in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are
interests in the Warrants which conferred rights to subscribe for 1,357 shares
and interests in share options of the Company granted under the share
option scheme of the Company which may be exercised during the period
from 13 August 2004 to 12 August 2014 to subscribe for 100,000 shares at
an adjusted exercise price of HK$0.251 per share.

All interests in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are
interests in the Warrants which conferred rights to subscribe for 100,000
shares and share options of the Company granted under the share option
scheme of the Company which may be exercised in 2 tranches of 50% each
during the period from 28 July 2008 and 28 January 2009 to 27 July 2009
to subscribe for 12,900,000 shares at an exercise price of HK$0.31 per
share.
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6. All interests in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are
interests in the Warrants which conferred rights to subscribe for 449,500
shares and share options of the Company granted under the share option
scheme of the Company which may be exercised during the period from 28
July 2008 to 27 July 2009 to subscribe for 5,000,000 shares at an exercise
price of HK$0.31 per share.

7. All interest in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are
interests in the Warrants which conferred rights to subscribe for 87,500
shares and share options of the Company granted under the share option
scheme of the Company which may be exercised during the period from 14
September 2007 to 13 September 2009 to subscribe for 680,000 shares at
an adjusted exercise price of HK$0.933 per share.

8. All interest in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are
interests in the Warrants which conferred rights to subscribe for 100,000
shares and share options of the Company granted under the share option
scheme of the Company which may be exercised during the period from 14
September 2007 to 13 September 2009 to subscribe for 680,000 shares at
an adjusted exercise price of HK$0.933 per share.

9. All interest in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are
interests in the share options of the Company granted under the share
option scheme of the Company which may be exercised in 2 tranches of
50% each during the period from 28 July 2008 and 28 January 2009 to 27
July 2009 to subscribe for 12,950,000 shares at an exercise price of
HK$0.31 per share.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had held any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(as defined in Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS T ZERHaH#EZ

R-ZZAF=A=+—0 BEEER
511 115 52336167 17 B 10 B 5O M TR 62 AR
BOEFEARATMEELEETHABR
AR TR RARBRE A o A MR

As at 31 March 2009, the interest of the shareholders, not being
a director or chief executive of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

Approximate

percentage
of the
Company’s
Name of Substantial Number of Equity total issued
shareholders Capacity Nature of Interests Shares held Derivative Total Interest share capital
B4
FHN L& aEmy
TERRHEE L 5 g K EE TR aiEn ERL4
BNP Paribas Jersey Trust Trustee Other Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 20.61%
Corporation Limited (Notes 1, 2, 3 & 4)
(“BNP Paribas Jersey’) ZEA Hipgsm
(51 -2 3R4)
Ground Point Limited Interest of Controlled Corporate Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 20.61%
(“Ground Point”) Corporation (Notes 1, 2, 3 & 4)
REHEEER NGIL o
(Hi5E1 -2 3Jk4)
Red Tiles Limited Interest of Controlled Corporate Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 20.61%
Corporation (Notes 1, 2, 3 & 4)
FR AR L
(B3t -2 3%4)
Guidance Interest of Controlled Corporate Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 20.61%
Corporation (Notes 1, 2, 3 & 4)
REHEEER NGIL o
(Hi5E1 -2 3Jk4)
Time Concord Interest of Controlled Corporate Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 20.61%
Corporation (Notes 1, 2, 3 & 4)
FRARE S DA
(31 -2 3%4)
Ever Source Beneficial Owner Corporate Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 20.61%
(Notes 1, 2, 3 & 4)
ERBEAA NGIL o
(Hi5E1 -2 3Jk4)
Mr. Poon Sau Tin Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 46,224,453 3,862,037 459,353,927 23.13%
(Note 1)
BEHEE EREBA EAER (P FE1)
Founder of a Other Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879
Discretionary Trust (Notes 1, 2, 3 & 4)
2GR LA Hip#z
(B3t -2 3R4)
Mr. Chan Wan Kim Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 238,888,388 — 238,888,388 12.03%
B 16 58 A EREAA HAES
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Notes: B 5E

1. All interests in shares and underlying shares of equity derivatives of the 1. RARBWRMD RBRASTET BEABERMDEFT
Company are long position. All interest in underlying shares of equity BEHBZHAER RARARKASTET AME
derivatives of the Company are interests in Warrants. RO AR ARREFNER

2. All interests of BNP Paribas Jersey, Ground Point, Red Tiles, Guidance, Time 2. BNP Paribas Jersey * Ground Point * Red Tiles *
Concord and Ever Source and the other interest of Mr. Poon Sau Tin were Guidance  Time Concord & Ever Sourcek] Fif & 1
duplicated. HEESHAENAMERBR s -

3. BNP Paribas Jersey is deemed to be interested in the shares and Warrants 3. BNP Paribas Jersey A £ 78 5 17 iE B A T~ i H 1%
in the capacity of a trust through interests of corporations controlled by it as FlEEEEZME R ABEE RN RRBREZTD
follows: 2

Name of Controlled Corporation Name of Controlling Shareholder Percentage Control
ZERNEEEE ERBEENERE ERES
Ground Point BNP Paribas Jersey 100%
Red Tiles BNP Paribas Jersey 100%
Guidance Ground Point 100%
Time Concord Red Tiles 100%
Ever Source Guidance 50%
Ever Source Time Concord 50%
4, These shares and Warrants are held by Ever Source. The issued share 4. #Z % W& An M 3R & #E & B Ever Source#§ B © Ever

capital of Ever Source is beneficially owned as to 50% by Time Concord, a
company incorporated in the BVI and indirectly owned by a discretionary
trust, the beneficiaries of which are family members of Mr. Poon Sum, and
as to 50% by Guidance, a company incorporated in the BVI and indirectly
owned by a discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which are family members
of Mr. Poon Sau Tin, the elder brother of Mr. Poon Sum. Accordingly, each
of Mr. Poon Sum and Mr. Poon Sau Tin will be deemed to be interested in
377,794,558 shares, representing approximately 19.03% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at 31 March 2009, because each of them is the
respective founder of the aforesaid two discretionary trusts which indirectly
own 50% beneficial interest in Ever Source respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there was no person known to the
directors of the Company, other than a director of the Company,
who as at 31 March 2009 had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

I
t

SourceM) BB ITIR AR — N KBRELE S 7
MR REA—B2EGT(ZEABRERLEN
R & K 8) [ £ # A & 2 @Time Concord# B
50%  M— R EBE XS FMA L KRB —
BrEET(REARBRLENARESHL
ERREK 8) [ # % B 8 2 flGuidance® A 5
INEI50% B - BREREERESHAED
Al % b it 78 4 % 5 Ever Source® 25 4% 2550% ) /R
BREBEETINRIA BHEESEBEHRRAE
B377,794, 658 Bt #E S - HERARAR =
TTNAFEFZA=ZFT - BANEETROGH
19.03% °

BREXHBEEIN AARBESHA
RZZEZENF=ZA=+—H REIHFK
HIE R P 336K AFENE M AL
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group purchased less than 40% of its goods
from its 5 largest suppliers and sold less than 40% of its goods
to its 5 largest customers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into transaction with certain
Directors or companies related to them. Details of the significant
related party transactions and the Directors’ interests therein are
set out in Note 42 to the financial statements. The rental
expenses of approximately HK$996,000 payable to Luen Yat
Enterprises Company Limited, and approximately HK$32,000
payable to Mr. Poon Sum, Mr. Poon Sau Tin, also constitute
connected transactions under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Main Board Listing
Rules”). Mr. Poon Sum and Mr. Poon San Tin have beneficial
interests in Luen Yat Enterprises Company Limited.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions, which
need to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors has an interest in a business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

PENSION SCHEME

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Mandatory Provident
Fund scheme (“MPF scheme”) was set up for certain employees
in Hong Kong, in accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. Under the rules of the MPF scheme, the
employer and its employees in Hong Kong are each required to
contribute 5% of the employees’ gross earnings with a ceiling of
HK$1,000 per month to the MPF scheme. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.
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Employees in the Group’s PRC subsidiary are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme operated
by the local municipal government. The PRC subsidiary
contributes 2% to 4% of the employee payroll to the scheme to
fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable under the above schemes.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not less than
25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.

AUDITORS

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited and Lau & Au Yeung C.PA.
Limited retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for re-appointment of Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited and Lau & Au Yeung C.PA. Limited as the joint
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Poon Sum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 10 July 2009
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BAKER TILLY

HONG KONG LIMITED
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

9 —H= 2 57, =
B RIEG ST AR A
12/F.,, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

HFW T HEE P 168-200%
G P L WERKE 28

Joint independent auditors’ report to the shareholders of
PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

(Formerly known as China Oil Resources Holdings Limited)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) set out on
pages 53 to 182, which comprise the consolidated and Company
balance sheets as at 31 March 2009, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.
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Joint Independent Auditors’ Report
BRI AR E

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 March 2009 and of the Group’s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 10 July 2009

Andrew David Ross

Director

Practising certificate number PO1183

Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 10 July 2009

Au Yeung Tin Wah

Director

Practising certificate number P02343
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Consolidated Income Statement

fr & Wy i R

For the year ended 31 March 2009

HE-_ZZNF=A=+—HIEFE

2009 2008
—EERE —EENF
Note HK$’°000 HK$’000
B 5 BETIT BT T
Turnover s 7 399,409 351,530
Cost of sales 55 B R (378,570) (304,900)
Gross profit ES| 20,839 46,630
Other revenue =R 7 7,233 7,597
Other net expenses H b F 8 8 (69,890) (148,409)
Distribution costs 7R (18,498) (18,035)
Administrative expenses TERHAX (67,355) (58,983)
Share-based payments ARR 15 S+ B 5RIE 36(b) (13,362) (60,140)
Amortisation of intangible assets EREERE 21 (102,009) (7,349)
Excess of fair value of net assets EWEFEERN
acquired over the cost of AFEB T IRE
acquisition of a subsidiary — KB AR
N ] — 849,627
Gain on bargain purchase EEB AN 37(a) 259,924 —
Profit from operations EESH 9 16,882 610,938
Finance costs Bh & K A 10 (5,429) (10,161)
Profit before income tax BRErEPiaEF 11,453 600,777
Income tax Fr 5%t 11 (717) 528
Profit for the year KEESH 10,736 601,305
Profit attributable to: UTATREGEF :
Equity shareholders of the ZAN/NESIE R
Company [l 12 55,143 610,535
Non-controlling interests JE 70 6l 1 R 2 (44,407) (9,230)
10,736 601,305
Dividend % B 13 - —
Earnings per share sSEEH 14
Basic HK HK3.01 cents#&fll HK52.01 cents/& il
Diluted g HK2.98 cents#flll HK51.40 cents/# il

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

HEEBEREAR

As at 31 March 2009
RZEZAF=A=+—H

2009 2008
—EBEAE —EENF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M T BT BT T
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment WME - WMENERE 17 216,351 177,275
Prepaid land lease payments BT EEE 18 35,674 36,033
Investment properties WEE 19 14 14
Goodwill fEE= 20 - —
Other intangible assets HimpgE 21 2,044,741 1,756,626
Available-for-sale financial assets T ESRMEE 22 - 439
Deposit paid for acquisition ENKERAEE
of long-term assets ME & 24 10,000 13,000
Other receivables H A pE W3k IR 26 9,409 —
2,316,189 1,983,387
Current assets REEE
Inventories TE 25 32,625 43,945
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E i E W IE 26 112,950 165,962
Trading securities BEBFFH 27 17,720 37,652
Derivative financial assets MESREE 28 30,385 19,210
Income tax recoverable Al U [B] BT 1S % 6,257 2,735
Cash and cash equivalents BeMkIReFHEER 29 30,585 87,334
230,522 356,838
Current liabilities REBE
Trade and other payables B REMENNKIE 30 88,758 47,326
Derivative financial liabilities TEemAaE 28 94,295 138,344
Income tax payable FEGFTISE 863 58
Bank and other borrowings RITREMESR 31 16,567 43,293
200,483 229,021
Net current assets REEEEHE 30,039 127,817
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTHEAR 2,346,228 2,111,204
Non-current liabilities EFSHEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMEE 31 55,523 10,394
Convertible bonds Al 2 {% 1E 5 32 = 20,101
Deferred tax liabilities R IE B & 33 470 964
55,993 31,459
Net assets SEFHE 2,290,235 2,079,745
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

HEEBERER

As at 31 March 2009

RFENFEZAZTOR I

2009 2008
—EBNE —EENF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 EETIT BT T

Capital and reserves BEREE 34
Share capital B& 2 19,857 12,952
Reserves G 1,449,924 1,203,608

Total equity attributable to AATIREEE

shareholders of the Company B HESS 4R ER 1,469,781 1,216,560
Non-controlling interests JEdEHIMAESS 820,454 863,185
Total equity s 2,290,235 2,079,745

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on RZ-ZZTZNF LA THEHESTSHER

10 July 2009. R
Poon Sum Poon Wai Kong
EH & EH
Director Director
EF EFE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial — BEMi BT BB EIRK M — 25 -
statements.
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Company Balance Sheet

ATEEBER
As at 31 March 2009
R-BETAF=A=1—A

2009 2008
—EBEAE —EENF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M T BT BT T

Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMKE 17 828 2
Investments in subsidiaries R B R aMiEE 23 59,508 63,772
60,336 63,774

Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG ] 23 347,094 274,766
Trade and other receivables B hEmEKKE 26 833 161
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIReFHEEB 29 6,713 72,601
354,640 347,528
Current liabilities REBE

Trade and other payables B 5 R EAM R RIA 30 6,585 1,840
Derivatives financial liabilities PTTEsMARE 28 - 17,717
6,585 19,657
Net current assets REEEEHE 348,055 327,971
Total assets less current liabilities ®BEERTHAR 408,391 391,745

Non-current liabilities ERBHERE
Convertible bonds mRES 32 - 20,101
Net assets BEEE 408,391 371,644

Capital and reserves BAREEE
Share capital B& 72X 34 19,857 12,952
Reserves s 388,534 358,692
Total equity SR 408,391 371,644

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on RZZEZENFLtAtTHEKHRHEST S EN

10 July 2009. BT -
Poon Sum Poon Wai Kong
B EEE
Director Director
EZE EZE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial — BEMI &I = BB B MK — 35 o
statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
EDBEBERR

For the year ended 31 March 2009

HE—SENF=A-THILRE I
GROUP A5E
Attributable to shareholders of the Company
AATRREMELNL
Share Non-
Share Share Merger  option Warrant Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
FRE BREE E3y il

BE BiBaR AHEE 0 BE 0 BE ELRE RZEN 0 28 i ER0E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$O00 — HKS'000 HK$'000
BETL RETL BMTL BETr BETL BT BT #8Tn B%Tn BETR

At 1 April 2007 RZZZ+FWA—H 8,727 149,875 3,248 7,563 — — 66,268 235,671 — 235,671
Issuing costs — warrants BT — R HEE - - - - (131) - - (131) - (131)
Exchange differences arising on R E SN EBEL 2
translation of foreign R AE%E
operations - - - - - 16,100 - 16,100 = 16,100
Net income/(expense) recognised Bz 2K
directly in equity WA/ (B%) %8 - - - - (131) 16,100 - 15969 - 15969
Profit for the year REE % F - - - - - — 61053 610,535 (9,230) 601,305
Total recognised income and KEEHERZWA
expense for the year LY B - - - - (131) 16,100 610,535 626,504 (9,230) 617,274
Share-based payments MG X 2508 - - — 46,900 - — 13,240 60,140 — 60,140
Issue of new shares upon 1I{E R RS
exercise of share options BITHR 775 43,393 - (11,975 — — - 32,193 - 32,193
Issue of new shares for business ~ FLEBA FETHK
combination 649 41,750 - — — - - 42,399 - 42,399
Issue of warrants BITRRREE — — — — 2,000 — — 2,000 - 2,000
Issue of new shares upon TR EE R
exercise of warrants BITHI 769 53,079 - - - - — 53848 — 53848
Issue of new shares upon TETRRESE
exercise of convertible bonds BITH 2,032 161,773 - - - - — 163,805 — 163,805
Acquisition through business BREBAHKE
combination — — — — — — — — 872,415 872,415
4225 299,995 - 34,925 2,000 — 13,240 354,385 872,415 1,226,800
At 31 March 2008 RZZENE
—A=+—H 12,952 449,870 3,248 42,478 1,869 16,100 690,043 1,216,560 863,185 2,079,745

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial — BEMIHIFi s BB AERERM — 3D °
statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
HEDBEBRR

For the year ended 31 March 2009

BE_ZTNF=RA=

+—HILEE

GROUP (CONTINUED) AEE(EH)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FATRBRRES
Share Non-
Share Share Merger Statutory Other option  Warrant Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total interests equity
HRE BREE E2ed]

BE RGEE AHHEE AEHRE HbHE L1 i EREHE REEH £ EE HReR
HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETL BETT BT AT AE¥TR B¥TL BMTL BMTT BMTI BETIL A¥TR AT

At 1 April 2008 R-ZZZ\FMA—-H 12,952 449,870 3,248 - - 42,478 1,869 16,100 690,043 1,216,560 863,185 2,079,745
Issuing costs — open offer BIIMAE - DRARE - (7,024) — - - — - - — (7,024) - (7,024)
Exchange differences arising ~ #E 850 £HEE 2

on translation of foreign ERZEE

operations - - - - - - - 2,769 - 2,769 1,453 4,222
Net income/(expense) ERNERPRED

recognised directly in 2]/ (BX)

equity 35 - (1029 - - - - - 2,769 —  (4.259) 1453 (2,802)
Profit for the year REFHF — - - - - - - - 55,143 55,143 (44,407) 10,736
Total recognised income and 4 [E HER 2 WA

expense for the year % @R - (7,024) - - - - - 2,769 55,143 50,888 (42,954) 7,934
Share-based payments PARR 1A A 2 5B - - - - - 50 - - 13,312 13,362 - 13,362
Issue of new shares upon R fie ]

exercise of share options BEIHKR 430 4,787 - - - (1,357) - - - 3,860 - 3,860
Issue of shares arose from  DEBEESZETR

open offer n 6,475 180,027 - - - - - - - 186,502 - 186,502
Incorporation of a non-wholly & —f k2 EHER

owned subsidiary 7l - - — - - — - - — - 842 842
Increase in non-controlling ERWE -2 BN

interests through BARE IS

acquisitions of a MR

non-wholly owned (GECLEES)

subsidiary

(note (a) and note 38) - - - - (120) - - - - (120) 115 (5)
Surrender of warrants RO BIHEE - - - - - - (101) - 101 - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKHBAT - - - - - - - (1,271) - (1,271) 246 (1,025)
Dividend paid to non- E:-SamiE Ll

controlling interests E#% — — — — — — — — — — (980) (980)
Transfer of statutory reserve  EEE T HE - - - 236 - - - - (236) - - -

6,905 184,814 - 236 (120) (1,307) (101) (1,271) 13,177 202,333 223 202,556

At 31 March 2009

19,857 627,660 3,248 236 (120) 41,171 1,768 17,608 758,363 1,469,781 820,454 2,290,235

Note (a): The Group has newly adopted HKFRS 3 (revised) for non-controling  Ffif(@): BiIEE#IM#EzE (R RAFEE 2 %%
interest (see note 38) for current year business combination. A AKEEHARTNESUERELE

A3 (EERT)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial — B&M B FT st BB SRR — 25 -

statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity

tEm B EIRR

For the year ended 31 March 2009

HE-FEAF=A=T—ALFE

COMPANY b, /=]
Share
Share Share option Warrant Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
BE BHinkE e e RitEE k]
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETIT BETIT BETRT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2007 RZETLF
MmA—H 8,727 207,811 7,558 — (23,957) 200,134
Issuing costs BATRAR
— warrants — R EE - - — (131) - (131)
Net expense recognised BEERERTRER
directly in equity pa b - — — (131) - (131)
Loss for the year KFEEEE — - - - (177,509) (177,509)
Total recognised income FEE®RZ
and expense for the year WA K B S 48 %8 — - - (131) (177,509) (177,640)
Share-based payments ARE 3 X 85k 08 - — 46,900 - 8,005 54,905
Issue of new shares upon 1718 BE AR R B
exercise of share options BITH IR 775 43,393 (11,975 — — 32,193
Issue of new shares for hEEE G
business combination BT 649 41,750 - - — 42,399
Conversion of convertible EBOBRERES
bonds 2,032 161,773 — — — 163,805
Issue of warrants BTRIRER — - - 2,000 - 2,000
Issue of new shares upon 1T AR HE R
exercise of warrants BT 769 53,079 — — — 53,848
4,225 299,995 34,925 2,000 8,005 349,150
At 31 March 2008 RZZTNF
=A=+—8 12,952 507,806 42,478 1,869 (193,461) 371,644
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial — B& M B FT st BB SRR — 25 -

statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity

182 25 0 B R

For the year ended 31 March 2009
HE_ZZNGF=A=+—HILFE

COMPANY (CONTINUED) ANE (&
Share
Share Share option Warrant Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
MR RAREE
BE RBRE & & RitEsE ok
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2008 RZZEENEF
MA—H 12,952 507,806 42,478 1,869 (193,461) 371,644
Issuing costs BATRAR
— open offer — NRAEE - (7,024) - - - (7,024)
Net expenses recognised EREREGTER
directly in equity pa b - (7,024) - - - (7,024)
Loss for the year KEEEEB — — — — (146,641) (146,641)
Total recognised income REEHRZBA
and expense for the year KL aE - (7,024) - - (146,641) (153,665)
Share-based payments AR 17 32 £
] — — 50 — — 50
Issue of new shares upon T BRI R
exercise of share options BT 430 4,787 (1,357) — — 3,860
Issue of shares arose from  REEREELY
open offer BT 6,475 180,027 - - — 186,502
Surrender of warrants IR (0] 3R RR E 7E - - - (101) 101 -
6,905 184,814  (1,307) (101) 101 190,412
At 31 March 2009 RZZTNEF
ZR=+—H 19,857 685,596 41,171 1,768 (340,001) 408,391

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2009
BE_TTAF=A=t+—BULFE

2009 2008
“EBERE —TITN\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B #E BT BT T
Cash flows from operating activities BETHNRERE
Cash used in operations ARREEBNES 36(a) (14,374) (132,759
Interest paid ERAE (1,827) (3,274)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREBNER (3,951) (476)
PRC income tax paid BENHRBECEMER (388) (201)
Net cash used in operating activities AREETENHEEEE (20,140) (186,710)
Cash flows from investing activities BETHWRLRE
Net cash paid in business combination ENEBAHNERERE 37(c) (124,959) (23,794)
Net cash outflow in disposal of subsidiaries/ HEWBAR AHEESHEE
available-for-sale financial assets BEeMmHFE 39 (1,726) -
Payment for acquisition of additional interests Ut BT B A 7 ZEIME 2 W 2R
in a subsidiary 38(b) (5) -
Purchase of intangible assets, property, plant BABLEE DE BENERE
and equipment and prepaid land lease MIEM LA ERIE
payments (64,769) (73,714)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and HEME BMEMREMERIE
equipment 571 10,385
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets BEIHEESREE - (222)
Deposits paid for acquisition of long-term WERHREEE NG &
assets 24 (10,000) (8,500)
Interest received BUFIE 2472 3,998
Net cash used in investing activities ARBETENHEEE (198,416) (91,847)

PEERERERAT
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

A B E
SZERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2009
HE_TTAF=A=t+—ALFE

2009 2008
“BBhAE —_ZTTNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
i3 BT BT T
Cash flows from financing activities BRETHNRESEE
Proceeds from issue of new shares NRAEEBEITHRMERIE
from open offer 186,502 —
Issuing costs paid for open offer NABERTARER 2
BBITRAE (7,024) -
Issuing costs paid for issuing of warrants BA#ITRAE = (131)
Capital elements of finance lease payments MERERENERE D = (876)
Proceeds from issue of warrants BITRBEEMESHE = 2,000
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BITARRES TS HIE - 200,000
Proceeds from exercise of warrants TERREE B IR - 53,848
Proceeds from exercise of share options TEEREmBTE 3,860 32,193
Drawdown of bank loans FEIRITER 59,224 -
Repayments of bank loans EEEITER (40,821) (40,800)
Drawdown of trust receipt loans THEERIE = 27,895
Dividend paid to minority shareholders EfN—FEHBARLE
of a subsidiary BE - KA (980) -
Redemption of convertible bonds B Bl A iR B 55 (41,420) -
Proceeds from minority shareholders for HEH—HIEZ2ERBAF
incorporation of a non-wholly owned OB RATERIA
subsidiary 842 -
Net cash generated from financing EXBRETHNRLFH
activities 160,183 274,129
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and R&RFL%EEER
cash equivalents (BD),/HmiEEE (58,373) 45,572
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April POA—BNRERES%(EIER 87,334 34,212
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes IMEEERES 1,624 7,550
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March R=A=+—-HWHRE
RR&%HEEHR 29 30,585 87,334

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A1 %5 4R 3= Pid 5

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law of Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
address of its principal place of business is Suite 1006,
10th Floor, Ocean Centre, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Pursuant to an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders
of the Company held on 18 December 2008, a special
resolution was passed to change the name of the Company
from China Oil Resources Holdings Limited to PetroAsian
Energy Holdings Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(*HKASs”), and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange. The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for the financial instruments classified as
trading securities and derivative financial instruments, which
have been measured at fair value.

AREH

ARARARHAEHERERSHER
AAEMEK I ERRER AR K
A B /) 7 it #% =B B2 {32 72 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands -
mEEEFEBURBEBNERY
N8 & 75 9 /8 0F 1 101006 FE © A A
ARODRBEEBEIZMBR LA
(TBE 22 AT )) ER E70 o

BRERARAAR-_ZZNFT_A+TAN
BT 2 BRERF R RS BN R
RFBR  BHARRQE LB mERE
REBRATF  BERRPTERIERE
RA] -

RRABRBREERRAR - HB A A
B E R EBEEH S K E23

ERER

HEHBRRIREZESTNAE
((BEREETMAR)EMNAEER
BEVBREEN(EEH B REE
AI] - AT IR B3 R B E R A fE Rl
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(Bt ED k2B BEAR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A1 %5 4R R Pif 5

64

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 5.

(@) Impact of new and revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs,
amendments to HKFRSs and Interpretations that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group and the
Company.

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2008-2009
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

Impact of new and revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

There have been no significant changes to the
accounting policies applied in these financial
statements for the years presented as a result of the
adoption of the amendments to HKFRSs and new
Interpretations that are first effective for the current
accounting period.

After a long deliberation and proper evaluation of the
changing strategic direction of the Group, the
management of the Group decided to early adopt
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations as well as
the associated HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements (Revised).

HKFRS 3 (Revised) was issued by the HKICPA in
March 2008 and will be applied prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date
is on or after the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

For the Group, this first annual reporting period would
be the reporting year after the next, i.e. 1 April 2010
to 31 March 2011.

HKFRS 3 (Revised), however, permits early application
provided that this early adoption applies only at the
beginning of an annual reporting period that begins on
or after 30 June 2007.

For the Group, this earliest adoption period would be
the current reporting year, i.e. 1 April 2008 to 31
March 2009.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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66

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Impact of new and revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

The management of the Group believes that early
adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) will enable the
financial statements for the current and next year to
recognise and measure the financial performance and
position of the Group as it developed more accurately.

In particular, it will reflect the Group’s reinforced
business and investment strategies which include
increased acquisition and operation of energy related
businesses and the fastening of its market positioning
as an integrated energy and chemicals group.

The Group’s direction is further demonstrated by the
Fu 718 oil exploitation business acquired during the
year (note 37(a)) which is appropriately reported in the
financial statements in accordance with HKFRS 3
(Revised) and by the acquisition of other oil exploration
businesses after the balance sheet date as described
in note 45.

HKAS 27 (Revised) was issued in December 2008
and is applied in these financial statements in
conjunction with the early adoption of HKFRS 3
(Revised), as required by HKFRS 3 (Revised).

(i) Estimated effect of changes in accounting
policies on the current period

The following tables provide estimates of the
extent to which each of the line items in the
consolidated income statement for the vyear
ended 31 March 2009 and consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 March 2009 is higher or lower
than it would have been had the previous
policies still been applied in the year, where it is
practicable to make such estimates.

Annual Report 2008-2009
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt %5 3R R Bt 5

2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED) 2 ZEHE%(4E)

(a) Impact of new and revised Hong Kong (a) WMEIREEBITETEEUBRE
Financial Reporting Standards (continued) EH|zHE(E)
(i) Estimated effect of changes in accounting () BEiBFZXEHERZ
policies on the current period (continued) BHE G (4E)
()  Estimated effect on the consolidated O BEZZFEFNF=
income statement for the year ended 31 A=+—HIFFE
March 2009: HEls kI ZE
1Zat -

Estimated effect of new
policies ((decrease)/
increase in profit for the
year) HKFRS 3 (as revised
in 2008) and HKAS 27

(as revised in 2008)

(note 2(b))

MBRZ 2t

(REEBFZGAD) i)

& B B 75 3R 5 2 Rl SE35%

(R-FBENFEEDR

AT ERIE275

(R=TTI)NELELT)

(Bt EE2(b) )

HK$'000

BT T

Gain on bargain purchase EEREAZ WS 259,924

Profit for the year REEGH 259,924
Attributable to: LT ALREWS:
Equity shareholders of the ARNRERRE

Company 259,924

Basic earnings per share (HK$) &R EXRZF| 14.17 cents /&1l

Diluted earnings per share (HK$) & I8 #4582 7 14.05 cents 7l

“TTN\E-_TTNGE | wosRERERAT  OF



Notes to the Financial Statements

BA %5 3R R Bt 5

2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED) 2 BREEE
(a) Impact of new and revised Hong Kong (@) WMEIREEBITEEUBRE
Financial Reporting Standards (continued) EAH|Zz8 2 (4F)
(i) Estimated effect of changes in accounting () BiBFZXELHEEZ
policies on the current period (continued) BHE G (4E)
(i) Estimated effect on the consolidated () RZFFEANF=AH
balance sheet at 31 March 2009: =1+ —HZEARE
EBELXZFER
2R
Estimated effect of new
policies (increase/(decrease)
in net assets) HKFRS 3
(as revised in 2008) and
HKAS 27 (as revised in
2008) (note 2(b))
HBRZ B E &t
(BEFEZHEM GED))
& B BB EE I35k
(R=FTINEFEEED
R EHE #2755
(R=TBTNFELEL)
(B EE2(b) )
HK$’000
BT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Goodwill GES (123)
Intangible assets BmREEE 259,924
Net assets EEEHE 259,801
Capital and reserves ARG
Attributable to equity NN Y
shareholders of the Company Py 259,803
Attributable to non-controlling JEI5 ) 14 4 2
interests &)
259,801
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

(b)

Consolidation procedures for changes in the
Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
(HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) and HKAS 27
(as revised in 2008))

In prior years, changes in the Group’s ownership
interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control were accounted for as follows:

° Increase in the Group’s ownership interests
in a subsidiary

The excess of the cost of a business
combination over the Group’s interests in the
net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilites and contingent liabilities was
recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s
interests in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of a business combination
was recognised immediately in the consolidated
income statement.

° Decrease in the Group’s ownership interests
in a subsidiary

The surplus or deficit between the proceeds on
the Group’s disposal of a portion of its interests
in a subsidiary and the share of the carrying
amount of the subsidiary’s net assets disposed
of was recorded as gain or loss, respectively, in
the consolidated income statement.

In preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the current accounting period, the
Group has early adopted HKFRS 3 (as revised in
2008) and HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008). Under the
Group’s new accounting policies, changes in the
Group’s ownership interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions (i.e. transactions between equity
shareholders in their capacity as equity shareholders).
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2

70

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Consolidation procedures for changes in the
Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
(HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) and HKAS 27
(as revised in 2008)) (continued)

The new accounting policies have been applied
prospectively for changes in the Group *s ownership
interests in a subsidiary on or after 1 April 2008 in
accordance with the transitional arrangements under
HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) and HKAS 27 (as revised in
2008). As a result, comparative amounts have not been
restated. The adjustments for each financial statement line
item affected for the year ended 31 March 2009 are set out
in note 2(a).

Possible impact of new standards,
amendments to standards and
interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2009

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued the following new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations which
are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March
2009 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements:

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs'
(Amendments)

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs 20092
(Amendments)

Annual Report 2008-2009
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2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

(c)

Possible impact of new standards,
amendments to standards and
interpretations issued but not yet effective

2 E2REEGE)

(c)
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hWEZA=+—HLEESE
ey EET A  ERIEET R

for the year ended 31 March 2009

(continued)

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 23 (Revised)

Presentation of Financial
Statements®

Borrowing Costs®

HKAS 32 & 1 Puttable Financial Instruments

(Amendments) and Obligation Arising on
Liquidation®

HKAS 39 Eligible Hedged Items*
(Amendment)

HKFRS 1 & Cost of an Investment in a
HKAS 27 Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
(Amendments) Entity or Associate®

HKFRS 2 Vesting Conditions and
(Amendment) Cancellations®

HKFRS 7 Improving Disclosure about
(Amendments) Financial Instruments®

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments?®
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2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Possible impact of new standards,
amendments to standards and
interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2009
(continued)

HK(FRIC)-Int 9
& HKAS 39
(Amendments)

Embedded Derivatives®

HK(FRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction

of Real Estate®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in

a Foreign Operation’

HK(FRIC)-Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets

to Owners*

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfer of Assets from

Customers?®
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2

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

(c)

Possible impact of new standards,
amendments to standards and
interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2009
(continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009 except the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009, 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

5 Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October
2008

8 Effective for transfers on or after 1 July 2009

The directors of the Company have confirmed that the
Group has commenced considering the potential
impact of the above HKFRSs and interpretations but
is not yet in a position to determine whether these
HKFRSs and interpretations will have a significant
impact on how the results of operations and financial
position are prepared and presented. These standards
and interpretations may result in changes in the future
as to how the results and financial position are
prepared and presented.
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74

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted

in the

preparation of these financial statements are set out below:

(a)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March each year.

Subsidiaries are those entities in which the Company,
directly or indirectly, controls more than one half of
the voting power; has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies; to appoint or remove
the majority of the members of the board of directors;
or to cast majority of votes at the meetings of the
board of directors.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are consolidated from the effective
date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

The acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has
been accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting. This method involves allocating the cost
of the business combinations to the fair value of the
assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost of the
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary is
calculated by reference to the net assets at the date
of disposal including the attributable amount of
goodwill but does not include any attributable goodwill
previously eliminated against reserves.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (continued)

All significant intra-group transactions and balances
are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of the
net assets of subsidiaries attributable to equity
interests that are not owned by the Company, whether
directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any
additional terms with the holders of those equity
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
equity interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately
from the equity attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement as an allocation of the
total profit or loss for the year between the non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment
losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividends received
and receivable.

Business combination and goodwill

The purchase method of accounting is used to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries or
businesses by the Group. The cost of an acquisition
is measured at the fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiaries or
businesses in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

76

(b)

(c)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Business combination and goodwill
(continued)

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiaries or
businesses is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised in profit
or loss and are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing.

Property, plant and equipment
(i) Oil properties

Qil properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depletion, depreciation and
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. The successful efforts method of
accounting is used for oil properties. Under this
method, all costs for development wells, support
equipment and facilities, and acquired proven
interests in oil properties are capitalised. Proven
oil reserves are the estimated quantities of crude
oil and condensate oil which geological and
engineering data demonstrate with reasonable
certainty to be recoverable in future years from
known reservoirs under existing economic and
operating conditions, i.e. prices and costs as of
the date the estimate is made. Prices include
consideration of changes in existing prices
provided only by contractual arrangements, but
not on escalations based upon future conditions.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Oil properties (continued)

Depletion and depreciation are provided to write
off the cost of items of productive oil properties
over the shorter of the unexpired term of the
joint venture and their estimated useful lives.

Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses.

The cost of an item of other property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of
other property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase
in the future economic benefits expected to be
obtained from the use of an item of other
property, plant and equipment, and where the
cost of the item can be measured reliably, the
expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost
of that asset or as a replacement.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

78

(c)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(iij) Other property, plant and equipment
(continued)

Buildings and other property,

losses and residual value, if any,

The principal annual rates are as follows:

Buildings 2—4.75%
Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures

and equipment 18—20%
Motor vehicles

The useful lives and residual values of other
property, plant and equipment are reviewed and
if necessary, at each balance sheet

adjusted,
date.

Major costs incurred in restoring other property,
plant and equipment to their normal working
conditions to allow continued use of the overall

asset are charged to profit or loss.

An item of other property, plant and equipment
or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year

is derecognised upon disposal

the property, plant and equipment

derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

relevant property, plant and equipment.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(iii)

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents oil properties
and buildings under construction and is stated
at cost. No depreciation is made on construction
relevant

in progress until such time as the
property, plant and equipment are available
use.

The Group carries exploratory well costs as
asset when the well

the economic and operating viability of

project. Exploratory well costs not meeting these
criteria are charged to expenses. Exploratory
wells that discover potentially economic reserves

in areas where major capital expenditure will

required before production would begin and
when the major capital expenditure depends
completion of further

upon the successful
exploratory work remain capitalised and
reviewed periodically for impairment.

Prepaid land lease payments and assets
under leases

(i) Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments under operating
cost and
recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land
and buildings as a finance lease in property,

leases are
subsequently

initially stated at

plant and equipment.

has found a sufficient
quantity of reserves to justify its completion as a
production well and where the Group is making
sufficient progress assessing the reserves and
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

80

(d)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Prepaid land lease payments and assets
under leases (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Finance leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets transfer to the
Group are accounted for as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of
the lease at the lower of the fair value of the
leased assets or the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Each lease payment
is allocated between the capital and finance
charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the
capital balances outstanding. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are
included in long-term and short-term liabilities,
as appropriate. The finance charges are charged
to profit or loss over the lease periods.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated
over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or
the lease periods.

Operating leases

As a lessee

Leases where substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets remain with the
leasing company are accounted for as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the leasing
company are charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease periods.

As a lessor

Rental income, included rentals charged in
advance from properties let under operating
leases, is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant
leases.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Investment properties

Investment properties, which are properties held to
earn rentals and/or capital appreciation, are carried at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment loss, if any. The costs of investment
properties are depreciated over their estimated useful
lives of 20 to 50 years using the straight-line method.
Gains or losses arising from disposal of properties are
determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the properties
and are recognised in profit or loss.

Exploitation rights

Exploitation rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Exploitation rights
are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of 20 years. The useful lives of
the exploitation rights are reviewed annually in
accordance with the production plans of the Group
and the proven and probable reserves of the crude
oil. Exploitation rights are written off to profit or loss if
the oil properties are abandoned.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs. At each balance
sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised directly in
equity, except for impairment loss and, in the case of
monetary items such as debt securities, foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised
directly in profit or loss. When these investments are
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or
loss. Investments in equity instruments that do not
have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and
derivatives that are linked to and shall be measured at
cost.
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82

(h)

(i)

)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Inventories

Inventories comprise raw materials, work in progress
and finished goods and are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using
the weighted average basis and comprises all costs of
purchase, costs of conversion and an appropriate
proportion of all production overhead expenditure. Net
realisable value is determined on the basis of
anticipated sales proceeds less estimated selling
expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and
doubtful debts. A provision of impairment of trade and
other receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of
receivables. The amount of the provision, recognised
in profit or loss, is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest
rate.

Trading securities

Trading securities are classified as investments held
for trading under the category of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss. At each balance sheet
date subsequent to initial recognition, investments held
for trading are remeasured at fair value, with changes
in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

()

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which the contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their
fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market
prices, discounted cash flow models and options
pricing models as appropriate. All derivatives are
carried as assets when fair value is positive and as
liabilities when fair value is negative. The gain or loss
on remeasurement to fair value is charged immediately
to profit or loss.

Impairment of assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and goodwill), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is calculated as the higher of the
asset’s or cash generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case,
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for
that revalued asset.
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()

(m)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Impairment of assets (continued)

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to
whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, however not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation), had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance
sheet at cost. For the purpose of the cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and deposits held at call with banks and
short term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheet, cash and bank
balances comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to
use.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would not be material, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Bank and other borrowings

Bank and other borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, bank and other
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between cost and redemption value being
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowing using the effective interest method.

Convertible bonds containing liability
component and conversion option derivative

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain
both liability and conversion option components are
classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. Conversion option that will be settled
other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is a conversion
option derivative. At the date of issue, both the liability
and conversion option components are recognised at
fair value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The conversion option
derivative is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
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(p)

(q)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Convertible bonds containing liability
component and conversion option derivative
(continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
conversion option components in proportion to their
relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to the
conversion option derivative is charged to profit or
loss immediately. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount
of the liability portion and amortised over the period
of the convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. The
charge for income tax is based on the results for the
year as adjusted for items, which are non-assessable
or disallowable. Income tax is recognised in profit or
loss, or in equity if it relates to items that are
recognised in the same or a different period directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on all temporary differences at the balance
sheet date between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised except:

(i) where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

(i) in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date
and are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
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(a)

(r)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

(i) where the deferred tax liability arises from
goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

(i) in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and
the same taxation authority.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised
as part of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing
costs are charged to profit or loss in the year in
which they are incurred.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s)

Translation of foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HKS$,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded
using the functional currency rates ruling at the date
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. All differences are taken to profit
or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the HK$. As at
the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling
at the balance sheet date and, their income
statements are translated into HK$ at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are included in the exchange
reserve. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred
cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to
that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit
or loss.
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(CONTINUED)

90

(s)

t)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into HK$ at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

The Group provides paid annual leave to its
employees under their employment contracts on
a calendar year basis. Under certain
circumstances, such leave which remains
untaken as at the balance sheet date is
permitted to be carried forward and utilised by
the respective employees in the following year.
An accrual is made at the balance sheet date
for the expected future cost of such paid leave
earned during the year by the employees and
carried forward.

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s

employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®)

(u)

Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Pension obligations (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal
government. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of the payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme.

The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution retirement scheme are expensed as
incurred.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined
by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date is expensed over the
relevant vesting periods to profit or loss, with
the corresponding amount credited to share-
based employee option reserve within equity.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

U)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised
when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control
over the goods sold.
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(CONTINUED)

92

(u)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Revenue recognition (continued)

(it

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

Crude oil sales represent the invoiced value of
sales of crude oil attributable to the interests of
the Group, net of royalties. Sales are recognised
when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of oil have been transferred to
customers.

Revenue from a fixed price individual service
contract is recognised using the percentage of
completion method, measured by reference to
the percentage of contract costs incurred to
date to estimate total contract costs for the
contract. When the outcome of a service
contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual
basis using the effective interest method by
applying the rate that discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the terms of the lease.

Subcontracting income is recognised when the
underlying services are rendered.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v)

(w)

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs
incurred on development projects relating to the
design and testing of new or improved products are
recognised as an intangible asset where the technical
feasibility and intention of completing the product
under development has been demonstrated and the
resources are available to do so, costs are identifiable
and there is an ability to sell or use the asset that will
generate probable future economic benefits. Such
development costs are recognised as an asset and
amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of not
more than 5 years to reflect the pattern in which the
related economic benefits are recognised.
Development costs that do not meet the above
criteria are expensed as incurred. Development costs
previously recognised as an expense are not
recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Segmental reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the
Group that is engaged either in providing products or
services (business segment), or in providing products
or services within a particular economic environment
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and
rewards that are different from those of other
segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting system, the Group has chosen business
segment information as the primary reporting format
and geographical segment information as the
secondary reporting format for the purposes of these
financial statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis
to the segment. For example, segment assets may
include property, plant and equipment, inventories and
trade receivables.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
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(w) Segmental reporting (continued)

(x)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are
determined before intra-group balances and intra-
group transactions are eliminated as part of the
consolidation process, except to the extent that such
intra-group balances and transactions are between
group entities within a single segment. Inter-segment
pricing is based on similar terms as those available to
other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred
during the year to acquire segment assets, both
tangible and intangible, that are expected to be used
for more than one year.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and
corporate assets, interest-bearing loans, borrowings,
tax balances, corporate and financing expenses.

Financial guarantees issued, provision and
contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee for a
loss the holder incurs because a specified
debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Where the Group issues a financial guarantee,
the fair value of the guarantee (being the
transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and
other payables. Where consideration is received
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense
is recognised in profit or loss on initial
recognition of any deferred income.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

Financial guarantees issued, provision and
contingent liabilities (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial guarantees issued (continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised over the terms
of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are
recognised if and when (i) it becomes probable
that the holder of the guarantee will call upon
the Group under the guarantee, and (i) the
amount of that claim on the Group is expected
to exceed the amount currently carried in trade
and other payables in respect of that guarantee,

i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of

uncertain timing or amount when the Group or
the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events, are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
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(v)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(it

(i)

(vi)

the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, to control
the Group or exercise significant influence over
the Group in making financial and operating
policy decisions, or has joint control over the
Group;

the Group and the party are subject to common
control;

the party is an associate of the Group or a joint
venture in which the Group is a venturer;

the party is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent,
or a close family member of such an individual,
or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals;

the party is a close family member of a party
referred to in () or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan
which is for the benefit of employees of the
Group or of any entity that is a related party of
the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the

entity.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its
equity investments in other entities.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management
policies and practices described below.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables, listed equity investments and
derivative financial instruments. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due within 30 days to 90 days from
the date of billing. Debtors with balances that are
more than 4 months past due are requested to settle
all outstanding balances before any further credit is
granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers.

Investments are normally only in liquid securities
quoted on a recognised stock exchange, except
where entered into for long term strategic purposes.
Transactions involving derivative financial instruments
are with counterparties of sound credit standing and
with whom the Group has a signed netting agreement.
Given their high credit standing, management does
not expect any investment counterparty to fail to meet
its obligations.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and country
in which customers operate also has an influence on
credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the balance sheet
date, the Group has a certain concentration of credit
risk as 19% (2008: 20%) and 46% (2008: 39%) of the
total trade and other receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively within the paints, blended
solvents and chemical materials business segment.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of any collateral held is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset, including
derivative financial instruments, in the balance sheet
after deducting any impairment allowance. The Group
does not provide any other guarantees which would
expose the Group or the Company to credit risk. The
maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of these
financial guarantees at the balance sheet date is
disclosed in note 43.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables and set out in note 26.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined
levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 4 £RBITHE (&)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) FENIEREPE(E)
The following table details the remaining contractual TNREFVARER K ADFHIE
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s MESRmBERTESREE
and the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities REEANRTELIEBR
and derivative financial liabilities, which are based on EBEERTIREBOTEATIERR
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest eREBEEBEUHTER XK (N
payments computed using contractual rates or, if BIZE R R) &£ E B ¥R R
floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet FHE B R BT R AR E B R A
date) and the earliest date the Group and the NAAHERN RO &F B H
Company can be required to pay: =HE
Group AEE
2009 2008
bt 2 Y83 —TENE
Total Within More than More than Total Within -~ More than ~ More than
contractual 1year 1 year but 2 years but contractual 1year 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted oron lessthan less than More than  Carrying undiscounted oron lessthan  less than More than
amount cash flow demand 2 years S5years  5Syears  amount cash flow  demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
WERFR A -ENE  BENL WEANE  —ER —ELE MENME
REE BRLAE IRER EREUT ERENT EESHUE  BEE L£5e7KE SREX BREUT ERENT RFIME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$O000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT A%Tr BETR EBTT A¥Tr A¥Tr BE%Tr EETn AET
Trade and other BHREM
payables FERHE 88,758 88,758 88,758 - - 47,326 47326 47,32 - - -
Derivative financial T4 BERE
liabities 94,25 94205 94,295 = = 138344 138344 138,344 - - -
Bank and other RIOREMEE
borrowings 72,090 72090 16567 13863 40,020 1640 53687 53687 43,293 1663 8,731 -
Convertiole bonds TR 5 - - - - - 20,101 20,101 - - 20101 -
255,143 255,143 199,620 13863 40,020 1,640 250458 250458 228,963 1663 28832 -
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 4 £RBITE (&)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) i Ehtd L B ()
Company AAT
2009 2008
It 2 /%2 —EZN\E

Total Within  More than Total Within More than

contractual 1 year 2 years but contractual 1year 2 years but

Carrying undiscounted oron less than Carrying  undiscounted or on less than

amount cash flow demand 5 years amount cash flow demand 5 years

HERTH -5k  WEME WERAE —£R MEN L

REE “HLHE HEEX BREUT KEE £BReRE SIREX  BEEUT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI EETT ERTT HE¥ETRT BETT BETT BETT BETT

Trade and other payables B5REM

e B 6,585 6,585 6,585 - 1,840 1,840 1,840 -

Derivative financial liabilities TESHER - - - - 17,7117 17,717 17,717 -
Convertible bonds AR ES - - - - 20,101 20,101 - 20,101
6,585 6,585 6,585 - 39,658 39,658 19,657 20,101

(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIZEEI=

Except for short term bank deposits, the Group has M EIRIT RN AEEW

100 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

no significant interest-bearing assets, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.
Management does not anticipate significant impact on
interest-bearing assets resulted from the changes in
interest rates because the interest rates of bank
deposits are not expected to change significantly.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank and
other borrowings, derivative financial liabilities and
convertible bonds. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
Borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. Details of the Group’s bank
and other borrowings are set out in note 31.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (continued)

At 31 March 2009, it is estimated that a general
increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates on HK$ denominated borrowings, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group’s profit after tax by approximately HK$306,000
(2008: HK$667,600). The above sensitivity analysis
has been determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the balance sheet date
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate
risk for financial instruments in existence at that date.
The 100 basis points increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period until the next
annual balance sheet date. The analysis was
performed on the same basis as for 2008.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through its bank and bank deposit balances that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entities operations to which they
relate. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily
United States dollars.

Given the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United
States dollar, the management does not expect that
there will be any significant currency risk associated
with such United States dollars denominated balances.

The Group ensures that the net exposure on
recognised assets and liabilities arising from bank and
bank deposit balances that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the
operating to which they relate is kept to an acceptable
level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot
rate where necessary to address short-term
imbalances.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 4 £FiTH (&)
(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) ShEEREBE(48)
(i) Exposure to currency risk () IPEEEERE
The following table details the Group’s and the TRARNERRAR A
Company’s exposure at the balance sheet date EEE B R EE LA AE S
to currency risk arising from recognised assets RNREE AN E 7
or liabilities denominated in a currency other EMNERREEXEEM
than the functional currency of the entity to EE A B NS R B o
which they relate.
Group 3 4L
Assets Liabilities
&aE =L
2009 2008 2009 2008
“BEAE —TT)\F ZBEBRE —_TT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETXT EEBETrx BT AEBT
Canadian Dollars mic — 32,424 - —
United States Dollars e 30,842 828 133,145 —
Company AL T
Assets Liabilities
&E =R
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EBBANE —TT)\F ZBBALE —TT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETRT BTt #BETRT ABETT
Canadian Dollars i — 32,424 - —
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(d)

(i)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 4 £BITHE (&)
Currency risk (continued) (d) hEsEBE(4E)
Sensitivity analysis (i) HEEDHT
The following table indicates the approximate TRBRAEEBRE (X
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and 1R % F)) 18 % ) LA & 47
retained profits) and other components of A H A KD E E
consolidated equity in response to reasonably AEEXEAZENEGE
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates AIEEE R B EF MR & E B
to which the Group has significant exposure at EANBAOEE - nKE
the balance sheet date. The sensitivity analysis BERRIMEHRAER K
includes balances between Group companies & H e EEE LASNE K T
where the denomination of the balances is in a B BRES>MERESE
currency other than the functional currencies of NEIEZ S
the lender or the borrower.
Group AEE
2009 2008
—B%hE —EIN\F
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease)  profit after Effect on (decrease) profit after Effect on
in foreign tax and other in foreign tax and other
exchange retained components exchange retained  components
rates profits of equity rates profits of equity
HRHR Hign HBRHR s
Ext#t/ GRYRHE Rt ExtA/  REEFE H AR
(F38) H¥E BINRE (F8) %E  BHomyE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Canadian Dollars mi - - - 10% 2,675 -
(10%) (2,675) -

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the balance sheet date
and had been applied to each of the Group
entities’ exposure to currency risk for both
derivative and non-derivative financial instruments
in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Currency risk (continued)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until the
next annual balance sheet date. In this respect,
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the
HK$ and the United States dollar would be
materially unaffected by any changes in
movement in value of the United States dollar
against other currencies. Results of the analysis
as presented in the above table represent an
aggregation of the effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit after tax and equity measured in
the respective functional currencies, translated
into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the
balance sheet date for presentation purposes.
The analysis is performed on the same basis as
for 2008.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity investments classified as trading securities
(see note 27). Other than unquoted securities held for
strategic purposes, all of these investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock
Exchange. Decisions to buy or sell trading securities
are based on daily monitoring of the performance of
individual securities compared to that of the Index and
other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s
liquidity needs.

All of the Group’s unquoted investments are held for
long term strategic purposes. Their performance is
assessed at least bi-annually against performance of
similar listed entities, based on the limited information
available to the Group, together with an assessment
of their relevance to the Group’s long term strategic
plans.
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4

(e)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 4 £RBITHE (&)
Equity price risk (continued) (e) EBHFEHREEE)
The following table indicates the approximate change TRBATRIAEERHR (KRB E
in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) FNBEMUA KRGS S EH 48
and other components of consolidated equity in RES REBEB@EASTIETE
response to reasonably possible changes in the BE(METREMS) AIHLE
relevant stock market index (for listed investments), AR MRE(ERER
the price/earning ratios of comparable listed BME)ABAEEEmMELRN
companies (for unquoted investments) to which the BMuEgs) NEEEBHAEE R
Group and the Company have significant exposure at KRARBERTE) -
the balance sheet date.
Group AEE
2009 2008
—BEAE ZETN\E
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease)  profit after Effect on (decrease) profit after Effect on
in the tax and other in the tax and other
relevant risk retained components  relevant risk retained  components
variable profits of equity variable profits of equity
R R HRHER s N HBRHR HiEn
SyEm/ REENE HUER 288N/ REEAR Hindm
(HD) H¥E HBINvE (R) EE  BHmyE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BETT
Stock market index in respect of ERLHRE
listed investments: HEFHEER:
Hang Seng Index BEEY 10% 1,594 - 10% 3,765 -
(10%) (1,594) = (10%) (3,765) -
FTSE 100 Index FE005E & 10% 178 - - - -
(10%) (178) = - - -
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106 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

Equity price risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the reasonably possible changes in the stock
market index or other relevant risk variables had
occurred at the balance sheet date and had been
applied to the exposure to equity price risk in
existence at that date. It is also assumed that the fair
values of the Group’s equity investments would
change in accordance with the historical correlation
with the relevant stock market index or the relevant
risk variables, that none of the Group’s available-for-
sale investments would be considered impaired as a
result of a reasonably possible decrease in the
relevant stock market index or other relevant risk
variables, and that all other variables remain constant.
The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in the
relevant stock market index or the relevant risk
variables over the period until the next annual balance
sheet date. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as for 2008.

Fair values
All financial instruments are carried at amounts not

materially different from their fair values as at 31
March 2009 and 2008.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes
estimate and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates may not equal to the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant effect on the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities are discussed below:

(@) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill
and other assets that have indefinite useful lives have
suffered any impairment.

Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount of an asset of a
cash-generating unit has been determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations require
the use of estimates.

The value-in-use calculations primarily use cash flow
projections based on ten to twenty years financial
budgets approved by management and estimated
terminal values at the end of the ten to twenty years
period. There are a number of assumptions and
estimates involved for the presentation of cash flow
projections for the period covered by the approved
budget and the estimated terminal value. Key
assumptions include the expected growth in revenue
and operating margin, effective tax rate, growth rates
and selection of discount rates, to reflect the risks
involved and the earnings multiple that can be realised
for the estimated terminal value.

5
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

108 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Management prepared the financial budgets reflecting
actual and prior year performance and market
development expectations. Judgement is required to
determine key assumptions adopted in the cash flow
projections and changes to key assumptions can
significantly affect these cash flow projections and
therefore the results of the impairment reviews.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The directors determine the estimated useful lives and
residual values for its property, plant and equipment.
The directors revise the depreciation charge when
useful lives are different from previously estimates.
Obsolete or non-strategic assets, that have been
abandoned or sold, shall be written off or written
down.

Share-based payments

The fair value of option granted is measured using
Trinomial model based on various assumptions on
volatility, option life, dividend yield and annual risk-free
interest rate, excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions, which generally represent the best
estimate of the fair values of the share options at date
of grant.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d)

Estimation of oil reserves

Oil reserves are key elements in the Group’s
investment decision-making process. They are also an
important element in depletion, depreciation and
amortisation calculation and in testing for impairment.
Changes in proven oil reserves will affect unit-of-
production depreciation charges to profit or loss.
Proven reserve estimates are subject to revision, either
upward or downward, based on new information,
such as from development driling and production
activities or from changes in economic factors,

including product prices, contract terms or
development plans. In general, changes in the
estimation of oil reserves resulting from new

information becoming available from development and
production activities have tended to be the most
significant cause of annual revisions. Changes to the
Group’s estimates of proven reserves, may affect the
amount of depletion, depreciation and amortisation
recorded in the Group’s financial statements for
property, plant and equipment related to oil production
activities. A reduction in proven reserves will increase
depletion, depreciation and amortisation charges
(assuming constant production) of oil properties and
reduce profit.

5

EX

(d)

Eat et & (8)

B R A

OMEER/RAEBERERES
RPMEZRE TRER.
I8 N 85 5T B A MORE R
THEEREX-KALBHRE
MEPEFENEBRXHENE
EfEER FAREMH
REBmEMA% E#RREER
HUARBEAR(BREMERS
BHGREFETE) B EEH
ERmERRTH —RMF
AREZEREETSMESNNE
BArERN A RFERTES
RIELFEETNRERRRA -
AEBHRARENEAAE -
ARETEAEEMBEREA A
ODHMEEETHAEBENYE K
ERhREMESNER TE
FEHCE KRBERD B
BMRBEENER TER
BHER(RREETE) RS
i Rk > o

mogrerreras 100



Notes to the Financial Statements

FA %5 ¥R 3R Bt 5

5

1 10 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e)

QOil production sharing contract

As disclosed in note 21(b) and pursuant to the Qigihar
Contract and the New Joint Development Agreement
("the Contracts”), the exploitation rights granted by the
PRC Government for the Contracts to 2525 % F8 i 5
B4R F] (“Qigihar Oil”) will expire in August 2010.
However, under the terms of the Contracts, Qigihar
Oil is responsible for the renewal of the rights. The
management of the Group has confidence that the
rights will be granted for the extension of at least
another 16 and 17 years of production period for the
Qigihar Contract and the New Joint Development
Agreement respectively. Up to the date of this report,
the success of the application to extend the rights
has not yet been confirmed. If the Group fails in its
application for the extension, exploitation rights, the
related oil properties and exploration and evaluation
assets may be impaired and the Group’s consolidated
profit for the year ended 31 March 2009 would have
further decreased by HK$783,852,000 (2008:
HK$52,416,000). The financial effect of the additional
amortisation of the exploitation rights and depreciation
charge of the abovementioned assets for the years
ending 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2011 is to
further reduce the Group’s profit of HK$834,914,000
and HK$244,487,000 respectively.
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION

6 HNEEH

(a) Business segments (@ EBRE
Paints, blended solvents,
chemical materials and
plastic colorants Service contract Property investment Crude oil Total
E - REBE
LIRMER
BHERE REE4H MERE R @3t
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
ZE¥AE —ZEN\E ZREAE -ZT/\E ZBFAE —IZ)N\E ZREAE —ZT/\E ZBE¥AE -—II)N%
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ARETT BNt BETn AN Tr  ARTR BT BEFn  A%Tr  ARTR EETo
Segment revenue SERE
Revenue from external customers — 9MRE B Uias 354,722 322,426 32,685 20,049 4,280 8,053 7,122 1,002 399,409 351,530
Other revenue from SRE P E MR
external customers 3,190 3,573 28 - 1,380 26 163 - 4,761 3,599
357,912 325,999 32,713 20,049 5,660 8,079 7,885 1,002 404,170 355,129
Segment results NERE
— Operating - &g (63,268) (30,549) 4,423 3,070 (2,065) (1,258) (7,7117) (10,370) (68,627) (39,107)
— Non—operating — ke - - - - - - 110,780 753,441 110,780 753,441
(63,268)  (30,549) 4,423 3,070 (2,065) (1258 103,083 743,071 4155 714,33
Unallocated expenses APERRX (27,743)  (107,394)
Unallocated income FABBA - -
Interest income FEBRA 2,472 &%Q
Profit from operations 1B 16,882 610,938
Finance costs BENK (5,429)  (10,161)
Profit before income tax B FTEBLRD & A 11,453 600,777
Income tax ige (717) 528
Profit for the year FEEHH 10736 601,305
Segment assets PEEE 324,450 320,674 22,075 11,344 16,233 18,749 2,088,062 1,798,908 2,450,820 2,149,675
Unallocated corporate assets KOBAREE 95,891 190,550
2546711 2340205
Segment liabilities FEERE 19,006 27,829 8,101 1,236 236 41 17,264 125,087 44,607 154,613
Unallocated corporate liablities KA EAFEE 211,869 105967
256,476 260,480_
Other segment information HEEEH
Capital expenditure BRRY 38,169 36,714 555 65 3 - 16,235 27,955
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH 15,019 12,199 119 97 2 3 104,390 603
Impairment WE 10,184 27,035 - 4,993 411 870 - 1,227

|
t

ZNE_ZTTNEFR
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Geographical segments

No geographical segment analysis is presented as
less than 10% of the Group’s turnover
contribution to operating profit

customers located outside the PRC.

7 TURNOVER AND OTHER REVENUE

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
sale of paints, blended solvents and plastic colorants,
trading of chemical materials, provision of painting services,
property investment and exploitation and sale of crude oil.

Revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

is attributable to

6

THEEHE(8)
(b) HEDIE

HRPEBIINEPEMAES
BEBNMEERNERIR
10% @ M EE2 R EHES
ik

EXRERH bR

AEBFENERERESHE R
ERBREHERR BELIR
B OREEBRRY  WEKENRR
EREBERB RAFEE BRI
=ANE

Group

F: 3 4
2009 2008
—EEBAE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000

EETRT BETT

Turnover = 3] 399,409 351,530
Other revenue Hihgy 25
Bank interest income SRITF B U A 934 3,723
Other income H b Ug A 1,609 906
Other interest income E AR B A 1,538 275
Rental income Bl A 3,152 2,269
Subcontracting income oM A - 424
7,233 7,597

1 12 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2008-2009



Notes to the Financial Statements

BE ¥5 ¥R 3R Bt 5

8 OTHER NET EXPENSES 8 HbEAXZFEEE

Group

rE
2009 2008
“BEBhAE _—_ZTZTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000

AERTR BET T

Bad debts written off 2 BR A 5H (6,058) (1,337)
Exchange loss, net M 5B 18 F 8 (5,327) (4,439
Fair value adjustment on derivative AMBRESFITETLA

of convertible bonds AT EAE = 5,264
Impairment on other intangible assets . #b & 2 & & i (E (9,340) (5,650)
Impairment on goodwiill BERHE (929) (20,012)
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) B 5 IR SRIR R E R E

on trade receivables JCRiE) 273 (3,057)
Issue cost on convertible bonds AR EHF BT = (8,423)

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries/ HEWB AR AIHHEE SR
available-for-sale financial assets BEMNEE (2,545) -
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEYE BENERE

plant and equipment 0 (E18) Wz (447) 825
Loss on early redemption REELABKESNERE

of convertible bonds (1,663) —
Net realised and unrealised loss MESBTENEER K

on derivative financial instruments REEIR B R E R (23,265) (101,046)

Net realised and unrealised loss EEESFNBEER KX

on trading securities REFEIBFR (14,806) (6,206)

Unrealised loss on properties held BEEEEENYERN
for trading KRR 1R (411) (870)
Other receivables written off H b B U SR TE ASH (5,261) (3,000)
Others H (111) (458)
(69,890) (148,409)
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1 14 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

9 PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 9 KEmA
Profit from operations is stated after charging the following: £ MR IR T %1 % I8 12 51 B -
Group
xKE
2009 2008
—EFAE _—_ZZTN\HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ST
Amortisation 5
— prepaid land lease payments — BN T & FKIA 1,123 463
— investment properties — BB = 1
Auditors’ remuneration % R0 BN &
— provision for the year — REEEE 2,160 1,814
— underprovision in prior year —FFEEEETR 606 -
Cost of inventories (note (a)) FERA (M3E@E) 378,570 304,900
Depreciation e
— owned property, plant and —BEVE HE
equipment K& 14,188 11,416
— oil properties —RHEE 2,269 890
Impairment loss on inventories FEMREEIE 188 1,536
Impairment loss on available-for-sale A 84 & 4 B0 & & M RE K5 18
financial assets - 183
Operating lease charges: minimum LEHETH  xEHES
lease payments
— hire of land and buildings — T REEFRSE 3,084 2,001
— hire of plant and machinery —BER#EEE 8 179
Research and development costs 25 A AR (B 7E (b))
(note (b)) 256 1,117
Staff costs (including directors’ BIRKN(BIEESEH)
emoluments) (note 15) (Pt 5%15) 56,436 99,709

Note:

(@) Cost of inventories includes HK$15,165,000 (2008: HK$13,946,000)
relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation expenses,

operating lease charges, which amounts are also included in the

respective total amounts disclosed separately above for each of those

types of expenses.

(b) Research and development costs including HK$164,000 (2008:
HK$709,000) relating to staff costs and depreciation, which amounts

are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed

respectively above for each of those types of expenses.
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10 FINANCE COSTS 10 BHERE
Group
XEE
2009 2008
—EBBAE _-—TTNEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts $R{T & EiE L Fl & 1,395 2,631
Interest element on finance leases BMEAENF B 232 55
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESEB R B 3,802 6,987
Other interest expenses H b F B> = 588
5,429 10,161
INCOME TAX 11 Fi@E#H
Income tax represents: FRrig#iis :
Group
X&EE
2009 2008
“EBETRE —TTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T IT BT T
Current tax: ZRERREIA -
— Hong Kong profits tax — BANER - -
— PRC enterprise income tax —HFECEMER 1,217 395
Under-provision of current tax in prior TFEEEHBERETE
year:
— Hong Kong profits tax — BABNEH 4 -
— PRC enterprise income tax — PR EMER 2 -
Deferred tax relating to the origination EfiFZ= £ &
and reversal of temporary BB RER IR
differences (note 33) (M3 7¥33) (506) (923)
Income tax charge/(credit) Friefs /(K %) 717 (528)
—sE\E-TEAEH | toeszranas 115
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1 16 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
Income tax represents: (continued)

In February 2008, the Hong Kong Government announced
a decrease in the profits tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5%
applicable to the Group’s operation in Hong Kong from the
year of assessment 2008/09. However, no provision for
Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group did
not have any assessable profits for Hong Kong profits tax
purposes during the year (2008: HK$NIl).

On 16 March 2007, the People’'s Republic of China
promulgated the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “New Law”) by Order No. 63 of the President of the
PRC. On 6 December 2007, the State Council of the PRC
issued Implementation Regulations of the New Law which
changed the tax rates either from 33% to 25%, or from
15% to 25% progressively from 1 January 2008. Income
taxes for the subsidiaries in the PRC are calculated at rates
of 18% and 25% (2008: 15% and 25%) of the estimated
assessable profit for the year.

Certain PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise

Income Tax at 18% or 25% on their estimated assessable
profits for the relevant financial year ended 31 March 2009.
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11 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

11 FiE#H(8)
Fiasiig: (@)

Income tax represents: (continued)

BB R) / X EZE AR X

Reconciliation between tax charge/(credit) and accounting

profit at applicable tax rate:

g MEHERDT -

Group
X&EE
2009 2008
“EThRE —“TTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETIT & T I
Profit before income tax & BT 15 B4 Al vt 11,453 600,777
Notional tax on profit before income X £16.5%
tax, calculated at —EENF 1 175%) T ER
16.5% (2008: 17.5%) R P15 30 Al A A B & 1B 1,890 105,136
Effect of different taxation rates H b B AR R T R B R
in other jurisdictions 2 (4,282) (2,983)
Tax effect of temporary differences AEREREZEN
not recognised M2 6,307 1,459
Tax effect of unused tax losses RERARDAHIBEEL
not recognised Mg s 1,485 19,898
Tax effect on non-taxable income BARBWANRBEZE (46,256) (136,809)
Tax effect on non-deductible OB G2
expenses 40,475 12,771
Under-provision of current tax for LFEEHAMEREETR
prior year 4 —
Change of tax rates ERgiE 1,094 —
Income tax charge/(credit) Frie®si i/ (K%) 717 (528)
—zenE-TThsH | vuwreraran 117
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1 18 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2009 includes a
loss of approximately HK$146,641,000 (2008:
HK$177,509,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2009. (2008: the final
dividend is in the form of warrants to be issued on the
basis of one warrant for every twelve existing shares held
by the Company’s shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company as at the close of
business on 26 September 2008 at initial subscription price
of HK$0.48, subject to adjustments, in cash within thirty-six
months commencing from the date of issue of the
warrants).

EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of approximately HK$55,143,000 (2008:
HK$610,535,000) and the weighted average number
of approximately 1,8383,877,000 (2008 (restated):
1,173,928,000) ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purposes of basic earnings per share in both
years have been adjusted for the bonus element in
relation to open offer of new shares during the current
year.
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14 EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

14 BREH (&)

(b) Diluted earnings per share b) SREFRF
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based BREBERTEREBEARRD A
on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the =R REMLEE R HEE
Company of approximately HK$55,143,000 (2008: 55,143,000 C(Z T Z )\ F : &
HK$616,299,000) and the weighted average number #616,299,0007T) & I 8 A% &9 HN
of approximately 1,849,512,000 (2008: 1,198,931,000) FE S 5 8 491,849,512,0000% (=
ordinary shares. T T )\ £ :1,198,931,0000%) 5t
& .
(i)  Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of () ELrTZBRRFEEN G
the Company (diluted) F (BE=)
2009 2008
—EBERE —ZTT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BEFT ok omaray
Profit attributable to ordinary 38 P AR SR E 1R O A
shareholders 55,143 610,535
After tax effect of effective interest st RAIHBRESAE
on the liability component of a0 B4 FIENzo!
convertible notes M & - 5,764
Profit attributable to ordinary 38 P AR SR E 1R O A
shareholders (diluted) (#58) 55,143 616,299
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14 EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

14 BIREF (&

(b) Diluted earnings per share (continued) b) BEREFEERFE)
(i)  Weighted average number of ordinary shares (i) BRI METFE
(diluted) (#5)
2009 2008
—BBAE —ZZTN\F
No. of shares  No. of shares
8B & 7 21 B
’000 ’000
T % T
Weighted average number of R=ZA=+—H8K®
ordinary shares at 31 March TR 1,833,877 1,114,080
Effect of conversion of ] AR S 5
convertible notes B2 = 84,148
Effect of deemed issue of shares WRAERIE AR AQ A
under the Company’s share AR T2
option scheme for nil EEBRTIRNG
consideration B & & 15,635 703
Weighted average number of R=ZA=+—H®E
ordinary shares (diluted) B DN
at 31 March (#55) 1,849,512 1,198,931

15 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’

REMUNERATION)

15 EIRF(BEESNE)

Group

&
2009 2008
—EEAE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
HEBETT BT T
Salaries, wages and other benefits He TEREMEF 41,398 38,465
Share-based payments LARR 9 32 5P K9 RIE 13,362 60,140

Contributions to defined contribution  F 2B TR KT EIH9H K

retirement plan 1,676 1,104
56,436 99,709

120 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2008-2009



Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt %5 3R R Bt 5

16 REMUNERATION FOR DIRECTORS AND 16 EEREEHFALTIHNE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ remuneration (@ EFB<
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section EEWMEEEBERE DT FE161
161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as W EWT -
follows:
Group
AEE
2009 2008
—ETAE —TEN\F
Salaries, Employee
allowances Retirement share
Directors’ and benefits scheme option
fees in kind contributions benefits Total Total
Fid - ERb BREHEl B8
EEHRE: REPAES #E  EIREET a5 At
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ERTT AT ERTT AT ERTT BT
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Poon Sum EREAE - 4,591 12 - 4,603 34,362
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung EHE R TE - 420 12 - 432 532
Mr. Poon Wai Kong EEM S E - 792 12 894 1,698 2,235
- 5,803 36 894 6,733 37,129

Independent Non-Executive BIAFERITES

Directors

Mr. Chan Shu Kin BeR 151 B2 o A 240 - - - 240 647

Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul PREBIZ L A& 240 - - - 240 647

Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung REBEE 240 - - - 240 647

Non-Executive Directors PITES

Mr. Chen Lizhong BRSL AR S A 220 = = 411 631 291

Mr. Chew Lye Yin BBt - - - - - —

940 - - 411 1,351 2,232

Total At 940 5,803 36 1,305 8,084 39,361
None of the directors of the Company waived any EFER AN ESHEREW
emoluments payable by the Group during the year BMAEB M AFHERE (=
(2008: HK$NIl). TETINF:E) o
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122 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

16 REMUNERATION FOR DIRECTORS AND

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include two (2008:
two) directors whose emoluments have been reflected
in the analysis presented above. The emoluments
payable to the remaining three (2008: three) individuals

16 ESREREHALME (&

b) AEEEHAL

rEER/RAEEFHESONR
BAALTEEME(ZTTNE:
MA)EE EMERLEXME
BOOMP R FR - B
TEHR=R(ZFZTN\F: =R)

during the year are as follows: ATHMEOT :
Group
AEE

2009 2008

“EBEAE _—TZT)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

EETR BETT

Salaries and other emoluments FehHMME 2,535 —
Share-based payments VARR 10 2 5 M 5B 2,209 7,075

Contribution to defined contribution & %8 FE R 5T 2 A9 3k
retirement plan 31 —
4,775 7,075
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16 REMUNERATION FOR DIRECTORS AND 16 EERRSHALTIME (B)
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued) b) AEmEHALE)

The emoluments of these individuals fell within the ZEATHHEBRUATE
following bands: :

Group
E3 L
Number of individuals

AB
2009 2008

“EEBNE —TZT)N\HF

Emolument bands B & %5 [Z
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 7 #1,000,0007T 1 —
HK$1,000,000 to HK$2,000,000 78 #1,000,0007T =
7 #2,000,0007T 1 —
HK$2,000,000 to HK$3,000,000 75 #62,000,0007C &
75 #3,000,0007C 1 3
3 3
During the current and prior year, no emoluments RAFERTFE AEET
were paid by the Group to any of the above directors ERALAEANEEIAERZES
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement FATZNEMBME - /EA DN
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation AXREBHNRESIERBER G
for loss of office. & -

—ze zE-—TEasE | coerzgparss 123



Notes to the Financial Statements

A1 %5 3R R Bt 5

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17 9% -BERRE

Group
5
Construction in progress
HEEIR
Furniture, Exploration
Plant and fixtures and Motor Oil and evaluation
Buildings machinery  equipment  vehicles properties assets Others Total
HE KB
27 BEE#SR Wik RE  RbEE BRERHMEEE it &it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
EETT  BETT BEFT  ABTT  BETR BBTT  BETT  EETRT
Cost RAE
At 1 April 2007 RZZZ+FMA—A 78,642 47,344 30,382 10,597 — — 618 167,483
Acquisition through business ERERAHUEE
combination — 34 54 500 - — — 588
Additions HNE 11,265 20,178 7,724 1,664 12,486 14,504 500 68,321
Disposals HE (8,980) - (18) (3,292) - - - (12,290)
Transfers EE 618 - - - - - (618) -
Exchange adjustments [EHAE 2,348 2,140 973 455 - - - 5916
At 31 March 2008 RZZZNF=A=1+—H 83,793 69,696 39,115 9,924 12,486 14,504 500 230,018
At 1 April 2008 RZZZNENA—H 83,793 69,696 39,115 9,924 12,486 14,504 500 230,018
Acquisition through business ERERAFRE
combination - 412 36 130 - - - 578
Additions HE - 14,317 8,967 3,221 5,561 8,181 15,022 55,269
Disposals HE - (468) (28) (3,011) - - - (3,507)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - (192) (52) (976) - - - (1,220)
Written off bk — — - (165) - — - (165)
Transfers B — — - - 8,715 (8,445) (270) -
Exchange adjustments X AR 542 959 264 118 295 170 27 2,375
At 31 March 2009 RZZZNF=ZRA=1—H 84,335 84,724 48,302 9,241 27,057 14,410 15279 283,348
Accumulated depreciation BiERBE
and impairment
At 1 April 2007 RZZEZ+ENA/—H 4,537 13,201 16,070 7,312 - - - 41,120
Charge for the year REESH 2,112 4,866 3,315 1,123 559 331 — 12,306
Written back on disposals HE B D - - ) (2,729) - - - (2,730)
Exchange adjustments & 5 A% 212 765 722 293 34 21 - 2,047
At 31 March 2008 RZZFZNF=R=1+—H 6,861 18,832 20,106 5,999 593 352 — 52,743
At 1 April 2008 RZZZNFEA—A 6,861 18,832 20,106 5,999 593 352 — 52,743
Charge for the year AFEXH 2,295 7,584 2,983 1,326 2,269 - - 16,457
Written back on disposals HERED - (354) (25) (2,110) - - - (2,489)
Written back on disposals of HEHBAREAE
subsidiaries - (20) (18) (46) - - - (84)
Eliminated on written off 8 08 B - - - (165) - - - (165)
Transfer B - - - - 338 (338) - -
Exchange adjustments R ECES 60 220 174 58 16 7 — 535
At 31 March 2009 RZZETNF=A=1+—H 9,216 26,262 23,220 5,062 3,216 21 — 66,997
Carrying amounts IRE{E
At 31 March 2009 R-ZZTNF=A=1+—H 75,119 58,462 25,082 4,179 23,841 14,389 15,279 216,351
At 31 March 2008 RZZTTN\F=A=1+—H 76,932 50,864 19,009 3,925 11,893 14,152 500 177,275
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17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17 W% B ERERE (E8)
(CONTINUED)
Company
AT
Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment Total
=&
EEHNE &5t
HK$’'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Cost RAE
At 1 April 2007 R-ZEBEE+FWMWA—H — -
Additions INE 2 2
At 31 March 2008 R-EZENF=ZA=1+—H 2 2
At 1 April 2008 R-ZEENFMNA—H 2 2
Additions NE 883 883
At 31 March 2009 R-ZEZAFE=A=+—H 885 885
Accumulated depreciation ZEitine
At 1 April 2007 R-EBEE+FMWA—H — —
Charge for the year NEFE - -
At 31 March 2008 R-EZENF=ZA=1+—H — —
At 1 April 2008 R-ZEENFMNA—H - —
Charge for the year REELH 57 57
At 31 March 2009 RZZEZNF=ZA=+—H 57 57
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 March 2009 R-ZZEZNF=A=+—H 828 828
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZENF=-A=+—H 2 2
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17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The Group’s buildings at their carrying amounts are analysed

17 Y% BERREE)

AEENBFREKRBESNOT

as follows:
Group
X&EE
2009 2008
—BRARE —ZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEETIT BT T
In Hong Kong UREB
Medium-term leases REEE 407 415
Outside Hong Kong LR BB AN @
Short-term leases MHIFRE 46,131 47,296
Medium-term leases FEIFRE 28,581 29,221
75,119 76,932

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s buildings situated in the
PRC, with an aggregate carrying amounts of approximately
HK$29,794,000 (2008: HK$28,823,000), were pledged to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 41).
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18 PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 18 LT #hFHEIA

Group
FEH
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Cost R AE
At 1 April »EA—H 37,813 29,491
Addition NE - 5,393
Exchange adjustments BEE 5, A & 796 2,929
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 38,609 37,813
Accumulated amortisation SRR E
and impairment
At 1 April KA —A 1,780 1,201
Charge for the year RFE X 1,123 463
Exchange adjustments PE X, & 32 116
At 31 March R=A=+—H 2,935 1,780
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 March R=A=+—H 35,674 36,033

The Group’s prepaid lease payments at their carrying

AEENEMNEEFRBREREEED

amounts are analysed as follows: T
Group
X&EHE
2009 2008
“EBEBAE _—_ZTT)N\HF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
T IT BT T
In Hong Kong URES
Medium-term leases FEIFRE 1,255 1,285
Outside Hong Kong MR E S AN @
Medium-term leases FREEE 34,419 34,748
35,674 36,033

=
=

=
=

NEZZTNER
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18 PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s prepaid land lease
payments in the PRC, an aggregate carrying amounts of
approximately HK$21,627,000 (2008: HK$16,562,000), were
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group

18 Rt LB ERIE (&)

R-ETZAF=ZA=+—H ' A%£H
iz P B A TE A5 L th 7R
WA X BB 21,627,000 (ZEE N
& 75 #16,562,0007T) B 1E 1K 38 - BA

XA RE

(note 41). BRERTAEENRITEEM =
41) e
19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19 HEYXE
Group
XEE
2009 2008
—EEAE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BRI BT T
Cost RAE
At 1 April and 31 March RMAE—HE=B=+—8H 27 27
Accumulated amortisation Sty
At 1 April WM A—H 13 12
Charge for the year NEE X = 1
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 13 13
Carrying amounts RmE{E
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 14 14

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s investment properties are
situated in Hong Kong and held under medium-term leases.
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20 GOODWILL 20 mE
Group
xEE
2009 2008
—EThE —EZNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEETIT T I
Cost R A{E
At 1 April ®mA—H 20,018 10,430
Additions NE 929 9,588
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 20,947 20,018
Accumulated impairment EitiRE
At 1 April ®mA—H 20,018 6
Impairment A 929 20,012
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 20,947 20,018
Carrying amounts ERE{E
At 31 March R=A=+—H = —
At 31 March 2009, due to the impact of the economic RZZBZNF=ZHA=1+—HB #RE
downturn to the businesses related to the goodwil, an ETBVERBEAEER AFE
impairment loss of approximately HK$929,000 (2008: ERREBEZNBREBBELYEE
HK$20,012,000), was recognised in profit or loss for the 9200007t ( = T & N\ F: B ¥

year.

20,012,0007T) °

mogrrreran 129



Notes to the Financial Statements

BA %5 3R R Bt 5

21 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21 HihWHEEEE
Group
xEE
Customer Exploitation
list rights Total
ER&ZE B #RHE a5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T
Cost ﬁ‘iZHE
At 1 April 2007 RZTEZELFNMA—AH — — —
Acquisition through business FEiB¥ & FUE
combination 5,650 1,763,975 1,769,625
At 31 March 2008 RZBEENF=ZA=+—H 5,650 1,763,975 1,769,625
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZNFMA—AH 5,650 1,763,975 1,769,625
Addition NE 9,500 — 9,500
Acquisition through business % B ¥ 74 O Uk i
combination (note 37(a)) (Bt 5¥37(a) ) 40 389,924 389,964
At 31 March 2009 —EENF=ZA=+—H 15,190 2,153,899 2,169,089
Accumulated amortisation Zit#isgRiBHE
and impairment
At 1 April 2007 R-EEFMNA—H — — —
Amortisation for the year NEFE Y — 7,349 7,349
Impairment (note (a)) A (B iE@)) 5,650 — 5,650
At 31 March 2008 RZEZENF=ZA=1+—H 5,650 7,349 12,999
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZENFNA—H 5,650 7,349 12,999
Amortisation for the year NEFE Y — 102,009 102,009
Impairment (note (a)) B (T 7 (a)) 9,340 — 9,340
At 31 March 2009 —EEAF=ZRA=+—H 14,990 109,358 124,348
Carrying amounts ﬁEEfE
At 31 March 2009 R_ZEZNF=A=+—H 200 2,044,541 2,044,741
At 31 March 2008 RZZTENF=A=+—H — 1,756,626 1,756,626
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21 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

At 31 March 2009, the Group carried out reviews of
the recoverable amount of its customer list having
regard to the changes in market conditions, an
impairment loss of approximately HK$9,340,000 (2008:
HK$5,650,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the
year.

Exploitation rights represent two rights for oil
exploitation in the location of Heilongjiang Province of
PRC expiring in 2027 and 2028 respectively. The
average remaining amortisation period of the
exploitation rights as at 31 March 2009 is 19 years
and 20 years respectively.

21 HiEREE(R)

(a)

(b)

W—EEHhE=A=+—8"
AEEERAEZFEEFRD
AESEE EEITREE
AEEHRARBRZNREEIE
%) 78 ¥9,340,000t (= T & N\
£ B 5 650,0007T) °

FRERNPEEETIE MM
FEABAMERN &2 8K
T ERN T N\FEEm-
R-EETHLEFE=A=+—8"
FEENEE B TEERD R
At HLEM-_+4F-
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21 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) (continued)

(i)

132 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Pursuant to an oil production sharing contract (the
“Qigihar Contract”) entered into on 16 April
2007 between the Group and a PRC
incorporated oil exploitation and sales company,
Qigihar Qil, to develop and produce crude oil in
certain parts of the Fu 710 and Meilisi 723
districts in the Fulaerjiqu Oilfield, Qigihar City,
Heilongjiang Province, the PRC (the “Joint
Development Zone”). The Group and Qigihar Oil,
the holder of the exploitation license for the
Joint Development Zone, formed a jointly
controlled entity, (“Qigihar Northeast Oil’) on 25
May 2007, of which the registered capital is
USD6,450,000. Under the Qigihar contract,
Qigihar Oil would provide 5% of the share
capital and the exclusive rights to exploit oil in
Fu 710 and Meilisi 723 Joint Development Zone
to Qigihar Northeast Oil for 20 years from 2007
to 2027. In return Qigihar Oil receives 5% of the
total oil revenue to be generated from the Joint
Development Zone. The Group is responsible for
95% of the registered capital amounting to
USD6,130,000. The Group is responsible for
contributing all the relevant capital expenditure
for the exploitation business and to bear all the
operating costs involved. In return, the Group is
entitled to share all the profit after the deduction
of the 5% of the total oil revenue payable to
Qigihar Oil mentioned above.
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21 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(continued)

In accordance with the valuation report issued
by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited (“LCH”),
an independent firm of professional valuers, the
fair value of exploitation rights is determined
with reference to the present value of expected
net cash flows from the oil exploitation
operation. The discount rate applied to these
cash flow projections is 17% and the total oil
reserves, based on the new Chinese system
(Rule 66) promulgated by the National Mineral
Reserve Committee, amounted to approximately
20.26 million barrels in February 1994.

Pursuant to another oil production sharing
contract (“New Joint Development Agreement”)
entered into on 4 January 2008 between the
Group and Qigihar QOil to form a joint
development operation (the “New Joint
Development Operation”) to develop and
produce crude oil in certain parts of the Fu 718
districts in the “New Joint Development Zone”.
Under the New Joint Development Agreement,
Qigihar Qil, the holder of the exploitation license
for the New Joint Development Zone, will grant
the rights to exploit oil in the New Joint
Development Zone to the New Joint
Development Operation for 20 years from 2008
to 2028. Details of this business combination
are set out in note 37(a).

21

HhEHE&E (E)

(ii)

(&%)

RIE B L EE A ERNT A
BITRHEMARAFEDL
MEERS  AREMNS
FEDZ2BAHAREER
EHMEFReRNRE
ET -BRenEREAMA
WK B17%  MIREE
HEEMEZE RN
¥ A HE (FeefR) 5
E-@2 008 #E R®
— AW mE=-AH A
20,260,00078 °

1R 45 2N &2 B £ 7% 75 05 BB O
HR—_ZFZEN\F—HANA
FINBE—HHERDKA
B ([ £ R A BHED -
TR — LR AR
(THERABERD MA%
DEEMNRETISERS
F & D 2 R o 1B &
BERERE 8 ERAF
BERRBHFAUZFZEER
BoBHE BERETHE
R EFNLRRER
FARA®R £RHH=-F
ENFE_ZE-_NF A
Hot+F -FHEABEBE
2 B HRKIFE37(@) ©
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21 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) (continued)

(i)

(continued)

In accordance with the valuation report issued
by LCH, the fair value of the exploitation rights
is determined with reference to the present value
of expected net cash flows from the oil
exploitation operation. The discount rate applied
to cash flow projections is 15.5% and the total
oil reserves, based on the new Chinese system
(Rule 66) promulgated by the National Mineral
Reserve Committee, amounted to approximately
507,000 tons, in February 1994.

The amortisation charge of the above exploitation
rights for the year is disclosed separately in the
consolidated income statement.

22 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL

ASSETS

Available-for-sale financial assets are investments in unlisted
equity securities which were stated at cost as they do not
have a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured.
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23

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

23 NRMHEBATMKRE

Company
XAT

2009 2008
—BBAE _—TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT B T
Unlisted investments, at cost FELETRE BN E 69,508 73,772
Less: impairment loss B R EE 1B (10,000) (10,000)
59,508 63,772
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUCHI B A B R IE 567,839 384,877
Less: impairment loss AR EE B (220,745) (110,111)
347,094 274,766

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand.

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of
the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless
otherwise stated.

=
=

=
=

EWMBARIREARSEER RER

AIMBRER -

TREFIHAEEXE

E-BEEXE

BEEAXENMBRARFE K5
BEERAEN ABERMERNGRER

A% o

NEZZTNER PERRERE
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

23 23 NRMEBATMKRE (&)

Particulars of

Place of issued/registered Attributable
incorporation/ and paid up equity interest
Name establishment capital held Principal activities
M BT/ HBRREAE Fi P&
Z% I RAMFE BRiE TEEH
DIRECTLY HELD:
EEiE -
China Qil Resources Group Limited British Virgin 100 shares of US$1 100%  Investment holding in Hong
Islands (“BVI") each Kong
PREREEARAA EBRLES 100 & R (B 100% REBUEFRERR
1ETABR D
Wing Shing Group Limited (‘WSGL") ~ BVI 52,000 shares of 100%  Investment holding in Hong
US$1 each Kong
KEEBERAR (KK EE]D) RBRAES 52,0001 & i & 100% REBREREER
1ETHR D
INDIRECTLY HELD:
T
America Archi Colors Group Limited ~ BVI 500,000 shares of 51%  Investment holding and
US$1 each contract service in the
PRC
FEGH2H (R ARRARA(EX REBRAES 500,0008 & 2 EI 18 51% MPERERELER
BEH]) 1ETH R REKHRE
Beijing Arch Technology Co., Limited ~ PRC RMB3,000,000 51%  Provision of painting service,
sale and distribution of
paint products and
contract service in the
PRC
EReERENRERAR HE AR #3,000,0007 51% ROEREEAHRE HE
RAHEHER
REHRE
Dongguan Xinyimei Paint Company PRC RMB10,500,000 100%  Investment holding
Limited (“Xinyimei”)
REMEXZHARRA(HEX]) PE AR #10,500,0007C 100% H®EER
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23

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 23 RMBAEINKRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Particulars of
Place of issued/registered Attributable
incorporation/ and paid up equity interest
Name establishment capital held  Principal activities
MM B8/ HERRMRE Fi FF R G

2z LR RAMFE BR#E TEEH

INDIRECTLY HELD: (continued)

E##5E - (4)

Dongguan Tung Shing Fat Chemical ~ PRC HK$54,000,000 100%  Manufacture of paints and
Company Limited (“Tung Shing blended solvents in the
Fat’) PRC

RERRELIERAR hE 7% #54,000,0007T 100% A ERERR
(TRpE]) RRARH

Easyrich Group Holdings Limited Hong Kong 100 shares of HK$1 100%  Investment holding
(“Easyrich”) each

EREEZRERAA(EIE) BB 100k Bk E & 100% HREER

BEITHR G
Go Wealthy Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 share of 100%  Investment holding in
HK$1 each Hong Kong
MEREERDA EE REEBBIT 100% REELFREZR
) enl

Hai Yue Chemicals Company Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares of 100%  Investment holding in
Limited (“Hai Yue”) HK$1 each Hong Kong

BELIRHAERRA(EE)) B 1,000,000 & f & 100% REBUREREERR

EEBITHRG

Honour Bright Investments Limited BV 1 share of US$1 100%  Investment holding
(“Honour Bright”) each

RERERRAF ([RE]) RBRAES REEIET 100% REEFR

# R 1n

Northeast Oil (China) Development Hong Kong 10,000 shares of 51%  Investment holding
Company Limited (“Northeast HK$1 each
oir)

R (PE)ERER AR BB 10,0008 & fx E {E 51% REZK
(T Ak BEITHRG
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23

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 23 RHBATNIRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Particulars of
Place of issued/registered Attributable
incorporation/ and paid up equity interest
Name establishment capital held Principal activities
M BT/ HERRARE Fi P&
-] I RAMFE BRiE TEEH
INDIRECTLY HELD: (continued)
E##5E . (4)
Win Profit (Asia Pacific) Company Hong Kong 100 shares of HK$1 100%  Investment holding
Limited (“Win Profit") each
KXEF(ER)BRAR B 1008k B AR E B 100% HEER
(IBH]) BT R
Wing Shing Chemical Company Hong Kong 3,000,000 shares of 100%  Sale of paints, lacquer,
Limited (“Wing Shing Chemical”) HK$1 each enamel and polyurethane
and investment holding in
Hong Kong
KXBALTHEB AR (KRAC L)) 0 3,000,0008% 100% HEBHEAZ &
BREEBBIT ERRERERRER
Ak REREHER
Wing Shing Chemical Macao Macau MOP500,000 100%  Sale of paints and blended
Commercial Offshore Company solvents in Macau
Limited
KB TR B 5 R RF R P9 #:500,0007T 100% REFIHHERAR
BRAT RRARH
Wing Shing Colours Limited Hong Kong 100,000 shares of 100%  Manufacture and sale of
HK$1 each plastic colorants in the
PRC
XEERER AT £ 100,0008% & & E (& 100% HAEIBER
BEITHRG HEEHEET

138 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2008-2009



Notes to the Financial Statements

FE %5 ¥R 3R Bt 5

23 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

23 NHEBAEHRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Particulars of
Place of issued/registered Attributable
incorporation/ and paid up equity interest
Name establishment capital held  Principal activities
AL 8T/ BRREE Fi 5 FE 15
Z8 R I3 RABFE B FEEH

INDIRECTLY HELD: (continued)
EEFE : (4)

Zhongshan Wing Shing Chemical Co  PRC
Ltd (“Zhongshan Wing Shing”)

R TEBR AT e
(e 1Lk B )

FREIERRERERAR PRC

i

BERBTRILA R PRC
BREEAT

( [EERBELAM] P

or “Qigihar Northeast Oil")

Notes:

RMB71,964,200
(note (a))

AR #71,964,2007C
GELR))

RMB3,000,000
A R #3,000,0007

USD6,450,000

6,450,000 1T

() On 2 September 2008, registered capital of Zhongshan Wing Shing
was increased by RMB20,000,000 to RMB71,964,200. Up to 31
March 2009, Win Profit has injected RMB52,493,466 and the
remaining capital of RMB19,470,734 will be paid-in on or before 8

September 2010.

(b) This entity is accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Group’s

control over the entity.

The above table lists the companies of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other companies of
the Group would, in the opinion of the directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

100%  Manufacture and sale of
emulsion paint in the
PRC

100% RPBERERHEEABE

100%  Inactive
100% &%

48.45%  Exploitation and sale of
(note (b)) crude oil in the PRC

4845% MNP ERRRHE R
GE{D)

Wi

(@) R-ZTENEFEALA B PIIKKAE
& A 3% 3B 15 & A R %20,000,0007T - 1
MEART71,964200C c HE-ZTZT N
FZA=+—H XBABEFTAARK
52,493,4667T ' M #& T~ & &N A R %
19,470,784 TR =T — T F AL A\ H Al
Bt e

(o) HRAKBERAZ R TNEHE  RZ
REARIEHRB AR -

ERFAIEREERAREAFEERSE
BEARFEIUBUAKEEEFREE
RO AKEEETAR - EEFR
A REASEEBRAFNFEES
RIEANTTE

mogrrreras 139



Notes to the Financial Statements

BA %5 3R R Bt 5

24 DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF 24 EFfKEBRIEENE]
&

LONG-TERM ASSETS

Group

A&RE
2009 2008
—EEAE —EENFE
HK$°000 HK$’000

AT AETT

Deposit paid for acquisition of
a target mining group (note 24(a)

BB E I EREEEMNR]
& (M 5E24(a) & B 5240(a) )

and note 40(a)) 10,000
Deposit paid for acquisition of ENWEEBN 2
a business (note 24(b) and (Bt 5E24(0) & M 5E40(a) )
note 40(a)) - 13,000
10,000 13,000

Notes: Bt aE -

(a) On 25 September 2008, the Group entered into a formal sale and @ R-EBENEALA-—+EB KEER
purchase agreement (“S&P agreement”) with an independent third — ZBIE = RREHRERRENS B
party for the acquisition of a 43% equity interest in a target group of RIEEE M B ZEEE D a43%E 5 ([
companies involved in the vanadium mining exploitation business in BRBNDIIYEAEEHS(ESEH
the PRC (“Mining Acquisition”). The consideration for the mining ) o BETE U BE M 1A B A 5 563,000,000
acquisition was HK$63 million. The Group paid an initial deposit of T AEBDRETEERSZ NS LM
HK$10 million in cash on signing the S&P agreement. The remaining — %535 4 #%10,000,000T W ET S BT
amount payable is divided into two parts. One is HK$5,222,222 TENSESARIS B —HEMK
payable in cash by the Group to the independent third party on 5200000 TT R B & L F B
completion and the final balance of HK$47,777,778 shall be satisfied BE= R1E B E K47 777,778TT 45 BA
by the issue of shares by the Company. Details of this Mining BIARRBHO ARSI N - BEEREK
Acquisition are set out in the Company’s announcement and circular EHESRHENBEA—_TENE+A
dated 2 October 2008 and 21 October 2008 respectively. —AR—EENFE+A-F—BZAA

AIRNERBEHA o
Subsequent to balance sheet date, a supplementary agreement was NEER% AEFEZBYS =%
signed between the Group and the independent third party with a 14 401 % #7.000,0007T Z 7 #70,000,0007T
revision of the consideration up by HK$7 million to HK$70 million. CEEREBIY —EETGE S8
Further details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 23 —SHEHAREAE_STHEMA
April 2009. ZT=ZHZARRAER-
(b) The Group paid an initial deposit of HK$13 million in January 2008 (b) AEBBRKE -—BEBER-_TZTN\F

for the acquisition of a business the details of which we set out in

note 37(a).
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25 INVENTORIES 25 H#E
Group
A&EHE
2009 2008
—EThE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
HET T BT
Paint business R ER
Raw materials e 9,888 13,623
Work in progress £ 85 1,587 4,150
Finished goods B2UHK G 3,461 3,917
14,936 21,690
Oil business ARER
Consumable store SHFE W 169 747
Crude oil in tank i B JROm 938 380
1,107 1,127
Properties held for trading BIEEEWE 16,582 21,128
32,625 43,945

—ze z-—zEasa | eoeazrarss 141



Notes to the Financial Statements

BA %5 3R R Bt 5

26 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26 BoHEMEWKIE
Group Company
EY ] | AT

2009 2008 2009 2008

—BEAE —TT)\F ZBEAE —_TT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETRE A% TT E®ETFR  BETT

Trade receivables and bills B 5 REWFIEREREE

receivable 81,916 118,699 — —
Less: allowance for doubtful W RERE M (P RED))

debts (note (b)) (7,176) (7,290) - -

74,740 111,409 - —

Other receivables, prepayments  H i E W5k 18 ~ TBT 518

and deposits Eika 47,619 54,553 833 161
Less: non-current portion W IEREE
(note (e)) (P 5% (e)) (9,409) - - -
38,210 54,553 833 161
112,950 165,962 833 161
All of the trade receivables are expected to be recovered FMEEB S kEMBEUKHIBETRRAR —F
within one vyear. AU E o
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26 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Ageing analysis

Included in trade and other receivables are trade
receivables and bills receivable (net of allowance for
doubtful debts) with the following ageing analysis as

26 B RHEMEBIKRIE(E)

(@) HRESH

BohAEMBRFEBREES
JE W R IR K B U R 4% (N BR R Bk
BE) BRXEREE AN

of the balance sheet date: BT :

Group

XEE
2009 2008
—EEAE —EENF
HK$°000 HK$’000
HEETF T BT T
Current BV EA 37,438 52,293
Less than 1 month past due wmET~E— @A 14,761 19,488
1 month to 3 months past due wmEl—{E A E =@ A 7,422 21,486

More than 3 months but less than mAjE A = @ A

1 year past due BAR—F 9,777 15,966
Over 1 year past due BMEAFR A —F 5,342 2,176
Amounts past due 80 HR I8 37,302 59,116
74,740 111,409

Trade receivables and bills receivable are due within
30 days to 90 days from the date of billing. Further
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note

4(a).

=
=

=
=

B REFRARERERHE
EREHEA=TEEALTAR
A -AEEEERRNE—
F BN E4) ©
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26 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Impairment of trade receivables and bills
receivable

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables and
bills receivable are recorded using an allowance
account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of
the amount is remote, in which case the impairment
loss is written off against trade receivables and bills
receivable directly.

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
during the year, including both specific and collective
loss components, is as follows:

26 BESRHEMEKRIE(E)

(b)

B 5 W R IE & e R iR ey
B

B 5 WA R B R B R
BEBARERE AR [
REERR/BOFAKETK
AlgBREBREREMEES
JE R IR K JE IR AR

REBERFANES (BHEE
I RARBREBI)WT

Group

rE
2009 2008
“BEBAE _—ZTZTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000

AE¥TRT BET T

At 1 April R A—H 7,290 3,720
(Reversal) of impairment/impairment (@) & &,

loss recognised BRERBIERE (273) 3,057
Exchange adjustments PE =& 159 513
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 7,176 7,290

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s trade receivables and
bills receivable of approximately HK$12,518,000 (2008:
HK$17,845,000) were individually determined to be
impaired. The individually impaired receivables related
to customers that were in financial difficulties and
management assessed that only a portion of the
receivables is expected to be recovered.
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26 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Trade receivables and bills receivable that
are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables and bills
receivable that are neither individually nor collectively
considered to be impaired are set out in note 26(a).

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers that
have a good track record with the Group. Based on
past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered
fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s trade and other
receivable, with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately HK$34,322,000 (2008: HK$Nil), were
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 41).

The non-current portion of other receivables is interest
free and receivable from April 2010 to June 2011.

26 ESRHMBEWRIE ()

(c)

(d)

(e)

it # g E B 5 W R IE &
FEW = 1R

ERENXAEBDITRERE
BB B B B UK IR K R R
1% 0 BR i 0 A B MY E26(a) ©

5K 0 50 5839 0 G 2RO
53 30 48 4 R BE B A2 80 T )
BF -

B 8 BB KR (B 7Y FE Wk IB
kEZE2BAEEBERIFEEAL
BB EP - RIBATER
EEEREHANZ BB
REERGE RAEEEER
VWEBANEE MxFEHD
BRBABHRE  REEYL
B FREARTATAERR -

RZTETARFEF=A=+—8"
AEEHE 5 N H A e Y TR -
ARTE 42 (E 4978 %34,322,0007T (=
ZENF:E)EEER AR
BSRTAEENRITEE (K
41) e

His UK IBERNIERBD BN B
ERENERHA —T—FFN

AE-ZT——FXR-

wogrrrerasn 145



Notes to the Financial Statements

BA %5 3R R Bt 5

27 TRADING SECURITIES 27 BEEEFH
Group
e L |
2009 2008
—EBAE -—TT)N\4
HK$’000 HK$'000

EBTT BETT

Trading securities: BEFS:
— listed in Hong Kong —REE LT 15,936 37,652
— listed outside Hong Kong — REB AN E 1,784 -

17,720 37,652

28 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28 fTHE2fTH

Group
F£E
2009 2008
—ETLE ZEENF
Assets Liabilities Assets  Liabilities

&aE Bk BE B
Note  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
et EWTT EEFRX AT ARTr

Currency options ER R (@) - 568 - 12,139
Forward foreign exchange rate  iRHISMNEE LA L)

contracts (b) - - — 35
Interest rate swaps | & 5 HA (© - - _ 396
Fuel options R E 4 () 30,385 93,727 19,210 108,057
Conversion option derivative HBETERD

component (see note 32) (RKt5E32) - - — 17,717
Total &t 30,385 94,295 19,210 138,344
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28 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28 fTEEET A ()
(CONTINUED)
Company
AAT
2009 2008
“BEAE —ETNF
Assets Liabilities Assets  Liabilities
BE B BE =N
Note HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
Mz #HEFx #EBTFRT BETT BETx
Conversion option derivative RBETES D
component (see note 32) (R M3E32) — — — 17,717
Notes: B &E
(a) Currency options (a) B

(b)

(c)

(d)

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding currency options at
31 March 2009 are approximately HK$66,300,000 (2008:
HK$302,137,000). The currency options were scheduled to settle or
expire in the period through January 2010.

Forward foreign exchange rate contracts

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding financial assets or
liabilities of forward foreign exchange rate contracts at 31 March
2009 are HK$Nil (2008: HK$Nil) and US$Nil (2008: US$500,000)
respectively.

Interest rate swaps

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap
contracts at 31 March 2009 are approximately HK$Nil (2008:
HK$25,000,000).

Fuel contracts

The notional principal quantities of the outstanding fuel contracts at
31 March 2009 are approximately 735,000 barrels (2008: 760,000
barrels). The fuel contracts were scheduled to settle or expire in the
period through May 2010.

The Group mostly undertakes its transactions in foreign
exchange, interest rates and commodity contracts with its

bankers.

(b)

(c)

(d)

R_ZBBhEF=A=+—B XxTEE
s HA M ) 2 3 AN & B8 40 & 78 166,300,000
T (ZE T )\ F : #%302,137,0007T) - &
HHEERHEeRN T -—TE-BFEER
B H -

EMIVSEESH

R-ZFEHE=ZA=1+—8 EHI%
ERAHNNAEREBECREEXRBENS
EAXASHEHRNABES TL(ZTTNF:
BEZDORZEET(ZZEZT )N F:
500,0003 JT.) ©

FlEEH

R-ZZTEZAFE=A=+—8 KK
RIFHEANEEARASBENABEST
(ZZ T )\ F : #¥25,000,0007T) °

MBEH

R-ZZTEZAFE=A=+—0 KxhMK
A KNH B EHE N AT35000/E(ZF
T\ : 760,00018) © 7% F WM& £ FA H
R ZFRALERTE-

AEBEEBRAZBBER T EEE KR
TTEITINER HIARET LA R K& m
54
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29 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

29 REerRE£EEIEH

Group Company
F£E 5478
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEAE —TT)N\E& ZEBEAE —TTN\HE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BT BRI BETT
Cash at banks and on hand ROERRFERSE 29,003 19,730 6,713 4,997
Short-term bank deposits RERTER - 67,604 - 67,604
Deposits with financial institutions SRIBEEN 1,582 - = -
Cash and cash equivalents in the EEARERRGARERE
balance sheet and consolidated RENEER
cash flow statement HeEEIER 30,585 87,334 6,713 72,601

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$9,544,000 (2008: HK$6,753,000) were denominated in
RMB and kept in the PRC. The remittance of these funds
out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control
restrictions imposed by the PRC government.
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30 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30 B RHEMERSRIE
Group Company
g3 | EYN

2009 2008 2009 2008

—gEAE -2T5F -BEAE -II)5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RETR  AMTL  AEIR AR

Trade payables BHENRE 11,968 21,675 - -
Bills payable ENER 39,164 - - -
Other payables and accruals HiENRIE
REEIER 28,698 15,661 6,585 1,840
Amount due to a minority EN—20H
shareholder e 8,928 9,990 - -
88,758 47,326 6,585 1,840
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be FFEB S REMEBENARBRHRAR —F
settled or recognised as income within one year or are NENKBERABARFHIRERKE
repayable on demand. & o
Included in trade and other payables are trade payables B RAMENRTIEREE ZENK
and bills payable with the following ageing analysis as of HRENEER BEREREEBRRN
the balance sheet date: RERDATAOT
Group
F -
2009 2008
“EBETRAE _—TZT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000

EETRT BT T

Less than 1 month TR—1EA 45,378 10,509
1 month to 3 months —EAE=M@A 2,994 7,906
More than 3 months but BR=—EAETE—F
less than 1 year 2,760 3,260
51,132 21,675
The amount due to a minority shareholder of a subsidiary is A —ERB AR — R R RERIE
unsecured, interest free and has no fixed term of BEERHR REREEFEERE-
repayment.
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31 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

31 RITRHAMBES

Group
xE
2009 2008
“EBTAE —TT)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR BT T
Current liabilities mENBE
Bank loans, secured EHEBRITER 16,567 2,472
Trust receipt loans, unsecured EERETREER - 40,821
16,567 43,293
Non-current liabilities kREEE
Bank loan, secured EEBRITER 55,523 10,394
72,090 53,687
The analysis of the above is as follows: it &EDHOT :
Repayable within five years —BERAFNEBHER 70,450 53,687
Repayable over five years —EREBBAFREEER 1,640 -
72,090 53,687
At balance sheet date, the Group’s bank loans are REER  AEBERTERER T
repayable as follows: HEMEE -
Group
¥ 35
2009 2008
“BBAE -—TT)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
Within one year —FR 16,567 43,293
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFR 13,863 1,663
After 2 years but within 5 years MEEREBERAFR 40,020 8,731
After five years AF& 1,640 -
72,090 53,687
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32

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 4 July 2007, the Group issued convertible bonds
denominated in HK$ of 200,000,000 (the “Bonds”) with
maturity date on 3 July 2012. The bonds bear interest at
0.5% per annum and are unsecured.

The principal terms of the Bonds are as follows:

—  Conversion rights are exercisable at any time between
18 July 2007 to 18 June 2012.

—  The holders of the Bonds are entitled to convert the
Bonds into ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.7873 per each ordinary
share.

— If any of the Bonds have not been converted, they
will be redeemed on the maturity date at 128.33% of
the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds.

— The Conversion Price of the Bonds will be reset
annually for the first four years if the arithmetic
average of the closing price of the Shares for each
day during the period of 15 consecutive trading days
immediately prior to the relevant reset date was at
least 130%, being 3 July 2008, 3 July 2009, 3 July
2010 and 3 July 2011.

—  The Conversion Price cannot be reset below 85% of
the prevailing Conversion Price in any one year.

— The Conversion Price cannot be reset below 70% of
the initial Conversion Price of HK$0.7873 i.e. there is
an absolute floor of HK$0.5511 (as adjusted for anti-
dilution events).

32

Lk YdE

RZEZTLFLANB  AEBEET
LA 78 & =1 {E 32200,000,0007T K 7] #2 %
BEF(EH]D) BHBBAE-_ZT—=F
+tA=H - EHERFFEE%:T B
I35

BHEMERGRAT

- HBEIR-_ZTTLFLA
TNANBEZEZZE—ZFXA+TAN
H EARIBE R 1T o

— BEHEEBBAEENBERESR
L E AR S #50.7873 T B B A K
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32 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

— On 3 January 2009 (the “First Put Option Date”) and
3 July 2010 (the “Second Put Option Date” and
together with the First Put Option Date, the “Put
Option Dates”), the holder of each Bond will have the
right at such holder’s option to require the Company
to redeem all or some only of the Bonds of such
holder on the relevant Put Option Date at their early
redemption amount plus interest accrued on the
redemption date in prescribed form and in accordance
with the Terms and Conditions (“Put Exercise Notice”)
not earlier than 50 days and not later than 45 days
prior to the relevant Put Option Date. A Put Exercise
Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable (any may
not be withdrawn unless the Company consents to
such withdrawal) and the Company shall redeem the
Bonds the subject of Put Exercise Notices delivered
as aforesaid on the relevant Put Option Date.

The Bonds contain two components: liability component
and conversion option derivative component are presented
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.
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32 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED) 32 TliRigES (8)
The effective interest rate of the liability component is BEIPDHERF K E2555% ° &5
25.55%. The movements of the liability component and HEBERS RABEISTELDRENRN
conversion option derivative component of the bonds for the HEBHHT :

year is set out below:

Conversion

option
derivative Liability
component component

SR
TTESBS BEBY
HK$’'000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Nominal value at the issuance date RETHAMNEE

(4 July 2007) (ZZEZT+F+AMA) 114,905 85,095
Interest expense A ERX — 6,987
Interest paid EAFE - (100)
Conversion during the year RE AR (91,924) (71,881)
Gain arising on changes of fair value NEEEEELENH KR (5,264) —
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZENF=ZA=+—H 17,717 20,101
At 1 April 2008 R-ZZFEENFNHA—H 17,717 20,101
Interest expense FEFRX — 3,802
Interest paid EAFE - (200)
Paid up during the year REA R (17,717 (25,366)
Loss on early redemption of convertible REELOTBERES

bonds H 5 18 — 1,663
At 31 March 2009 R_ZETNF=ZA=+—H — —
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33 DEFERRED TAXATION 33 EEHIE
(a) Deferred tax liabilities () EBEBHEAE
Group
A&EHE
2009 2008
“EFThE —ZTZTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEETIT BT
At 1 April RIMA—H 964 1,793
Credit to the income statement R RET A (BEFE11)
(note 11) (506) (923)
Exchange adjustments B 5, 3 =& 12 94
At 31 March R=ZA=+—8H 470 964
Analysis of deferred tax liabilities is as follows: BEERBAEGESHWOT :
Group
350
Accelerated tax
depreciation Others Total
MEBRERE 2 Bit
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
“EEAE ST\ ZBEhE —ITT/\F ZBEAE —ZI)\%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
BEIT  AETT  #EETR  E%Tr  BE¥FIn  A%Trn
At 1 April REA—H 421 41 543 1,372 964 1,793
Credit to the income PUERATA
statement - - (506) (923) (506) (929)
Exchange adjustments I 53 % - - 12 % 12 o4
At 31 March R=A=1+—-8 41 41 49 543 470 964
(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) FREREZEHEEE

Deferred tax assets are not recognised for temporary
differences and tax losses carried forward due to the
uncertainty of the related tax benefit being realised

through future taxable profits.

The tax effect on

temporary differences and unrecognised tax losses
carried forward was approximately HK$25,727,787
(2008: HK$20,337,000) as at 31 March 2009.
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34 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 34 BARREE

(a) Share capital (a) B&=E
(i)  Authorised and issued share capital () ZEEREZHTREX
Company
475
2009 2008
“EENE —“TENE
No. of shares No. of shares
('000) HK$'000 (000)  HK$000
gt od=| &R
() #=&Fx (Fh) AT
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREEBL0ITHEERK 8,000,000 80,000 2,000,000 20,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid ERTRARLER
At 1 April REA—A 1,205,155 12,952 872,656 8,727
Shares issued arose from open offer AoFEEmETRG 647,578 6,475 - -
Shares issued under share option scheme 1R BB R IE T 213177 43,000 430 77,440 775
Shares issued on exercise of warrants RITEREENRRES
related to prior years mETR M - - 76,926 769
Conversion of convertible bonds B BRES - - 203,226 2,032
Shares issued for business combination REXKAHMmETRD - - 64,907 649
At 31 March R=RA=+—H 1,985,733 19,857 1,295,155 12,952
Note: B EE

On 1 January 2008, the Company entered into the warrant RZZEZNF—A—B XAH

placing agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which
the placing agent agreed to place warrants attaching the
rights to subscribe for 200,000,000 shares on the basis of the
initial exercise price of HK$1 per warrant share, on behalf of
the Company, to placees who are independent of the
Company and its connected persons, at the issue price of
HK$0.01 per warrant. Up to the report date of these financial
statements, no such warrants have been exercised since the
date of issue.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

MEERIEBI L BRIEZEE W
O RBEHREERERTES
it #% 77 1% # F1 .2 200,000,00015
BEE ANEFHRBEEZDNS
TRERBEIT  KRAQEMN
BITESNHEBKOITRE TE
SRARB REBREAL 2%
BA-BETEELTBRERR
EHE - W EERREERT
it

EREBRFEABERRTREIR
MRS THEERARBNEH
t=E8R-—ERER -TEE
BEREFERSEN AIDZFARR
BRI EE -
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34 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

34 BAERGEEE)

(@) Share capital (continued) (@) BRAE(E]|)
(i) Increase in authorised share capital (i) EMEERE
By an ordinary resolution passed at the annual BERZZEENFEAR
general meeting held on 5 May 2008, the BEREITHBRRAFRE L
company’s authorised ordinary share capital was BAMN-—EHETRABER
increased to HK$80,000,000 by the creation of KRAFRNEEE BRASE
an additional 6,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 38 ¥ 1£6,000,000,0000% &
HK$0.01 each, ranking pari passu with the [i% T 18 & #0.017T /) X 3@
existing ordinary shares of the Company in all A%+ 3% H0 2 7 80,000,000
respects. T BBEFERARKRERA
AIRELEERNETE=E
BREER -
(iii) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share (i) HEEHXFNHRETE
options at balance sheet date BIRERI IR
Exercise 2009 2008
Exercise period price Number Number
—EEnE ZETNE
T8 T | #E
24 November 2003 to 23 November 2008 “EE=F+-AZ1+MHmHZE
“EE\E+-AZt=H *0.260 - 1,000,000
13 August 2004 to 12 August 2014 —EEMENATZRHE
“E-mENATZH *0.251 100,000 100,000
14 September 2007 to 13 September 2009 ZETHENATNRE
“EENENATZH "0.933 438,000,000 48,000,000
14 September 2007 to 13 September 2009 “TTtFNATHBEER
“EENENATZH "0.933 2,040,000 2,040,000
19 November 2007 to 18 November 2008 “ET+E+-ATNEZE
—EENF+-ATNR *1.019 - 37,000,000
28 July 2008 to 27 July 2009 “ZENFLAZtN\BE
“EEAFELAZTLEA 0310 65,875,000 -
6 November 2008 to 5 November 2009 “ZEN\F+-ARRBE
“ETNET-ARA 0.077 20,000,000 -
24 December 2008 to 23 December 2009 —EENF+-_A-FTWAEZE
“EENFTZAZ+=R 0200 10,000,000 -
24 December 2008 to 23 December 2009 “EE\FTZRAZTHAR
“EENF+-A=1=H 0.118 38,000,000 -
24 December 2008 to 23 December 2009 ZEENFFZAZTEAE
“EENF+-AZ1=H 0.110 63,500,000 -
31 December 2008 to 30 December 2009 ZEENEFTZAZ+-RAE
—EEAF+RA=TH 0200 20,000,000 -
28 January 2009 to 27 July 2009 ZEENE-AZTNEZE
—EENFLAZTLE 0310 12,925,000 -
280,440,000 88,140,000
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34 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(@) Share capital (continued)

(iii)

Terms of unexpired and unexercised share
options at balance sheet date (continued)

Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for
one ordinary share in the Company.

* As a result of the open offer on 6 June 2008, the exercise
price of those share options pursuant to the share option
scheme have been adjusted.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Company’s articles of
association and the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands, which provides that the share
premium account may be applied in making
distributions or paying dividends to members,
provided that immediately following the date on
which distribution or dividend is proposed to be
paid, the Company will be able to pay its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus
shares.

Merger reserve

The Group’s merger reserve represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal
value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation
completed on 26 October 2002 over the

nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange there for.
Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign

exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations
as well as the effective portion of any foreign
exchange differences arising from hedges of the
net investment in these foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 3(s).
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34 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b)

158 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to employees
of the Company recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 3(t)(iii).

Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the relevant rules and regulations
governing foreign investment enterprise
established in the PRC and the articles of
association of certain PRC subsidiaries of the
Group, the subsidiaries are required to transfer
an amount of their profit after taxation to the
statutory reserve fund, until the accumulated
total of the fund reaches 50% of their registered
capital. The statutory reserve fund may be
distributed to equity owners in the form of
bonus issue.

Warrant reserve

The warrant reserve represents the net proceeds
received and receivable on issue of warrants to
subscribe for the Company’s shares. The
warrant reserves will be transferred to share
premium when the warrant is exercised or
released to the retained profits when the warrant
remains unexercised at the expiry date.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between
the amounts paid or received for any transaction
related to the change of shareholding in a
subsidiary without the overall loss of control in
that subsidiary and the non-controlling interest
being acquired or disposed of.

Annual Report 2008-2009
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34 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2009, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to shareholders of the
Company, was HK$758,363,000 (2008:
HK$690,043,000).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors
its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the Group
defines net debt as total debt (which includes bank
and other borrowings, trade and other payables) plus
unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and cash
equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components
of equity, other than amounts recognised in equity
relating to cash flow hedges, less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

During 2009, the Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged from 2008, was to maintain the net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio at the lower end of the range
1.1 to 9.9. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets
to reduce debt.
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34 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 34 BEREEE)

(d) Capital management (continued) (d BXREE(E)
The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 31 March RZBEZNFRZZFZENE=
2009 and 2008 was as follows: A=+—H BB FHEHLKH
BEALENT :
Group Company
3 5H FAT
2009 2008 2009 2008

“¥TAE —TT)\F Z¥|TNE -—TT)\F
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
EWTR AW TT  EBEFRT EETT

Current liabilities: 1}||,§]E1E
Trade and other payables B REAMEMNR 88,758 47,326 6,585 1,840
Bank and other borrowings BITNEMEE 16,567 43,293 = —
105,325 90,619 6,585 1,840
Non-current liabilities: EREBEE:
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEES 55,523 10,394 = —
Total debt B 160,848 101,013 6,585 1,840
Less: Cash and cash equivalents WoBReRBESEEEE (30,585) (87,334) (6,713) (72,601)
Net debt/(cash) EI5ERE 130,263 13,679 (128) (70,761)
Total Equity Egs
Capital N 19,857 12,952 19,857 12,952
Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio fSF B E EAE
BEALLE 6.6 11 NAFRER NATER
The major covenant for the Group’s committed NREFBAFZZHLTEEN T E
banking facilities is to maintain certain consolidated RATIRIBITER FRIEREE B
figures and financial ratio to a predetermined threshold MEwEe THREBERT BT
during the period of facilities granted. At 31 March R PUFE ﬁE ﬁﬂ % %E Z 78 %
2009, the group has complied with the relevant HEZER RZEBEENFE=
financial covenant. A=+—8" $ EEEETHE
FEERY -
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35 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a)

(b)

Share-based payments

Under a share option scheme approved and adopted
by the shareholders on 21 October 2002 (the “Share
Option Scheme”), the directors of the Company may,
at their discretion, invite full-time employees including
executive directors to take up options to subscribe for
shares in the Company representing up to a maximum
of 10% of the shares in issue from time to time
(excluding shares issued on exercise of options under
the share option scheme).

The terms and conditions of the grant that existed
during the year are as follows, whereby all options are

35 Lliz#ZHEIRIA

(@)

(b)

PARR 5 32 Y B9 SR IE

BER-_ZZ_F+A=-+—
B /A B S R BR AN Y BE A% A
B[R ESTED A2 7]
EZARNBERELHRES (B
MITER)EMERE URE
HERZZETREEITRG
10% (T B BT E B R E & E
THEERERZHITARMD) A
NRIIEG °

FRRAE OE KR A& P
BERBEEHEABEERNRKRN

settled by physical delivery of shares: MAREE) DT :
Number of share Contractual
options Vesting condition life of option
MERR i
BIRIENME HEERHG X EH
Option granted to Directors
RFESHERE
28 July 2008 11,450,000 N/A 12 months
—EENFELAZ+NA A3 A 1216 A
28 July 2008 6,450,000 N/A 6 months
—ZEENFELA=FTNH i A 61E H
Option granted to employees
RFPESENERE
31 December 2008 20,000,000 N/A 12 months
ZEENF+ZA=+—8H 38 A 121@ A
24 December 2008 124,500,000 N/A 12 months
ZEENFF+ZAZ=+HH 38 A 1218 A
17 November 2008 30,000,000 N/A 12 months
—ZEENF+—-A++tH 38 A 1218 A
6 November 2008 20,000,000 N/A 12 months
—EENF+—ARA 38 A 121@ A
28 July 2008 62,425,000 N/A 12 months
—EENFELAZ+N\H I iE A 121@ A
28 July 2008 6,475,000 N/A 6 months
—EENFLHA=1+N\H i A 61E A
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35 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) The number and weighted average exercise price of

35 LIRRf3Z fTB9RRIE (4R)
() MEREEA RMETHTERS

share options are as follows: mR
Group
R
2009 2008
—TEAE —ET)N\F
Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
share options exercise price share options exercise price
g g
g g = TEE BEREHE TR E
HK$ HK$
R 5 M
At the beginning of the year  RF 4] 88,140,000 1.112 51,780,000 0.291
Granted during the year RERFEH 281,300,000 0.177 179,040,000 0.922
Exercised during the year RERITE (43,000,000) 0.090  (77,440,000) 0.416
Lapsed during the year R A KK (46,000,000) 0.879  (65,240,000) 0.766
At the end of the year NGRS 280,440,000 0.321 88,140,000 1.112
Exercisable at the end RERA1T{E

of the year 280,440,000 0.321 88,140,000 1.112

The weighted average closing share price at the date
of exercise for shares options during the year was
HK$0.211 (2008: HK$0.728).

The options outstanding at 31 March 2009 had
exercise price ranging from HK$0.077 to HK$0.933
(2008: HK$0.29 to HK$1.118) and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7 months (2008: 20
months).
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35 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

35 Lliz#ZeIRRIA (8)

(d) Fair value of share options and assumptions (d) EBERERNLAFEERIEREE
The fair value of services received in return for share DA% H BE PR 4 # BR B9 BT 2 BYUAR
options granted are measured by reference to the fair B AFETL R AT E LR
value of share options granted. The estimate of the MAFEFE FTERRED
fair value of the services received is measured based AT ERMHFT TIRE =ZEAE
on a Trinomial Model. The contractual life of the A2 - WEANERENE
option is used as an input into this model. WEHIERB ABE - =1
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into RENEZEIRBITEHTEN -
the Trinomial model.
Fair value of share options and assumptions BIRER 2 FEREZR
Risk-free
interest rate
Fair value Expected (based on 1
atgrant Share Exercise  Expected dividend Years Exchange
Grant date date  price price volatility Option life yield Fund Bills)
B R =
RELEH R B (R—EH5HE
REBaH WATE RE HEE BEHRE 5 REEx E2EBHR)
HK$  HKS HK$
L REL ks
28 July 2008 —EE\EtA-TNR 00564 0310 0310 741%  emonthsfl A - 2.38%
28 July 2008 ZEEN\EtAZTN\E 00822 0310 0310 741%  12months(E A - 2.38%
6 November 2008 ZERN\E+-ARA 00279 0077 0077 95.7% 12 monthsf A - 0.50%
17 November 2008~ —ZEZN\E+-Ft++A 00288 0080 0081 96.2% 12 monthsf A - 0.41%
24 December 2008  —EENE+-A-TMEA 00379 0103  0.110 101.8% 12 monthsfE A - 0.25%
24 December 2008  —EEN\F+-A-1MWA 00362 0108 0118 1018% 12 monthsf A - 0.25%
24 December 2008  —FEN\F+-A-1MWA 00208 0103 0200 1018% 12 monthsfl A . 0.25%
31 December 2008 “EEN\F+-A=1-H 00256 0114 0.200 102.1% 12 months & A - 0.25%
The expected volatility is based on the historic TEHER D ERNBEKE I

volatility, adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility due to publicly available information. Expected
dividend vyield are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition.
This condition has not been taken into account in the
grant date fair value measurement of the services
received. There were no market conditions associated
with the share option granted.

E S ONCLE L T
0B O TR B B et 0
VTR O F SN Y
HeXBMBABBROEHT
EHATEEHEEEATE -

B B 4 79 4R 9 T 7 0 9 A
e, 5 2 4 £ A AR 7 74
H R T A B
A 52 95 1 B A4 D 0 25
ft o
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36 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 36 ZFEHERER
STATEMENT
(a) Reconciliation of profit from operations to (a) EERFHETEBFWRE

i FEHRR

net cash outflow from operating activities

164 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

2009 2008
“BBAE —TTN\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BT BT T
Profit from operations 1B R 16,882 610,938
Interest income FEHA (2,472) (3,998)
Depreciation TE 9 16,457 12,306
Amortisation 5y 103,132 7,813
Impairment losses WERBE 8,9 10,184 30,438
Bad debt written off AR 8 8 6,058 1,337
Other receivables written off H 4 1 KRR TR 5 8 5,261 3,000
Excess of fair value of net assets BERBFEEN
acquired over the cost of acquisition N ER L —
of a subsidiary NN N = (849,627)
Gain on bargain purchase ZEBANKE (259,924) -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant HEME BEREXEDN
and equipment BB () 8 447 (825)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries/available-  HEHB AT,/
for-sale financial assets AHHEEENERE 8 2,545 -
Unrealised loss on properties held for BEEELEMED
trading, net REBREEFE 8 411 870
Net realised and unrealised loss on trading EBEZZFHFHNDER KR
securities KREH BB TR 8 14,806 6,206
Net realised and unrealised loss on THELRMIANDERR
derivative financial instruments KEREIERE 8 23,265 101,046
Fair value adjustment on derivative of ARREFITET AR
convertible bonds NEERAE 8 - (5,264)
Share-based payments AR5 24 B 3R 13,362 60,140
Operating loss before working capital Z2EESRHAN
changes e B (49,586) (25,620)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories TERD,/(Em) 11,570 (20,416)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other E 5 R E M EUGIE
receivables A (Em) 41,451 (85,712)
Decrease/(increase) in trading securities BEEZHRD,/(2m) 5,126 (39,216)
(Decrease)/increase in derivative financial THEEmMIA
instruments CR2) /38 m (60,772) 360
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other B o N EMEN A
payables g,/ O ) 37,837 (12,155)
Net cash outflow from operations EENRE R R (14,374) (132,759)
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36 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group has recognised non-cash
expense arising from the grant of share options to
employees approximately HK$13,362,000 (2008:
HK$60,140,000).

On 5 March 2009, the Group disposed of certain
subsidiaries and available-for sale financial asset at a
consideration of HK$5,800,000 in which deposit of
HK$58,000 was received before the year end date.
The remaining balance of HK$5,742,000, being a non-
cash amount, was accounted for as other receivable
at the year end date. Details are further set out in
note 39.

37 BUSINESS COMBINATION

(a)

On 4 January 2008, the Group entered into a formal
agreement (the “Agreement”) with an independent
third party (“the vendor”) for the acquisition of the
vendor’s interests in the New Joint Development Zone
described in note 21(b)(ii). The Fu 718 project in the
New Joint Development Zone involves the
development of an oil exploitation business in
conjunction with Qigihar Qil, an agency of the local
government which is the holder of the oil exploitation
licence for the New Joint Development Zone. Qigihar
Qil is also the Group’s working partner in the adjacent
Fu 710 and nearby Meilisi 723 projects acquired in
2007/08.

The agreement with the vendor transferred the rights
and responsibilities of the vendor in the Fu 718
project to the Group and was completed on 15 July
2008.

36

(b)

GERERERE)

FEFEREXH

AEERFREAREERLE
REMELENERSAINA
75 #13,362,0007T (Z T )\ 4F ¢
7 #60,140,0007T) ©

W-_EEAFE=ARA K&
B A 7 ¥ 5,800,0007T 2 K (B H
EETHERARRAHLEES
B & E - H B 858,000t 2 5]
SERANFL B ATRE - %K
75 ¥65,742,0007T & JE R & R
DRAE L B A A H b fE U 78
Ao #E— HFF B E KT 5E39 ©

37 ERSH

(a)

R-_ZEZNF—AWNB A&
EMBLE=5(EH:IZ
EXE(HE) KWBE A
0 Bt 821 (o)) B it 72 3 £ 7] 59
BRrrzES REELRMAZER
Z E71878 B B IE 7 75 Ma BB i
R (— 8 /B A BR T 35 8 a% o £
ﬁﬁaﬂ%’élﬁEiEﬁaﬂﬁH@ﬁﬁZﬁﬁ)
—RBERARMAERERS-
BRHAANAZRER_-Z 7t
)\ R BE /) = 7100% [ A 4D
s B HT7231B B 2 TAEIKFE

HENZHBHZORERAET
RETISREHAKENEER

BN YER-_ZFTZTNEFELA
THBRTEK -
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37 BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

166 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

(Continued)

The total consideration for the acquisition of the
business being developed by the vendor was HK$130
million in cash. An independent valuer (LCH)
subsequently valued the business at a fair value at
the acquisition date of approximately HK$390 million,
giving rise to a bargain purchase situation with a gain
of approximately HK$260 million recognised in the
financial statements as set out below.

It is the understanding of the management that the
vendor, having begun developing the project, was
unable to finance the development of production and
had an urgent need for cash for other investments.
Consequently, the vendor began looking for a buyer
for its Fu 718 business and was introduced to the
Group by Qigihar Qil. It is also understood that the
Group was a favoured buyer as a listed company with
sufficient cash on hand to complete the deal quickly
and also be an existing partner in the nearby Fu 710
and Meilisi 723 projects with Qigihar Oil.

The business was acquired on behalf of the Group by
the indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Xinyimei, which
is responsible for the overall management coordination
of the project including injection of all the necessary
capital expenditure.

Qigihar Northeast Oil, a 51% majority, indirectly held
subsidiary company of the Group, will be responsible
for the day to day operations of the business as
project manager.

Qigihar Oil which is the third party to the above
Agreement has stated that it will not be involved in
the day to day operations of the project and will be
involved in the liaison working group for the Fu 718
project only in a monitoring role.
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(a)

(48)
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WEZEEAKSBRB XK
@ (X B &R £ % 130,000,000
TLe — R A EEE R
FWEAZEB 2 LAFENE
7 #390,000,0007C © % 3% U BE
EREREZER RN EE
260,000,000t H 2= @ I 7% 3R £
A 2 B EREK o

BTHR EHhz2EBRBRNERE
ZEEVNH BEENEFHKRE
THEAERE REHMER
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BERBEEKLEMEERR
S F BE AP R =710% 18 B Hr723
HE  BERE—EEENER-
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37 BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

The terms of the Agreement include revenue sharing
arrangements which agree that Xinyimei will receive
85% of the revenue generated by sales of the oll
products from the project, Qigihar Northeast Oil will
receive 10% of the revenue generated by sales of the
oil products from the project for its project
management and that Qigihar Oil will receive the
remaining 5% thereof.

Further details of the above acquisition are set out in
the Group’s announcement and circular dated 7
January 2008 and 22 January 2008 respectively.

At acquisition date, the fair value of the project was
as follows:

37 ¥BaHE)

(a)

(%)

& E IR EIE WA D R HE -
HBRERH B KA AREFL
ZBEBHEZCOMEMMESL
B W A B985% ¢ A5 B MR R b
AMEZBABERES B
BHRZBEBHEEZAHEMPT
EEHKAT10%  REERK
FRm M A S8R T HI5% o

R ERKBEARENE D
AR AEBR_ZTZNF
—AtBRERZZEZENF— A
THZRAZRAEHBHA

REBAH ZBEENAFE
LI

Acquiree
wUkRER
Carrying
amount Fair value
R E AFEE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M =E BETITT BETIC
Intangible assets (note 21) | & E (M ske1) 1) — 389,924
Less: Gain on bargain purchase W EBEANKE 2 (259,924)_
Total consideration BB 130,000
Satisfied by: THRAER
Cash R4e 130,000_
Net cash outflow arising on MKEEANES T
acquisition: FEE
Cash paid oS 117,000
Deposit paid in prior year FEEDRE £ 13,000
Cash consideration paid 2RSSR E 130,000
Note (1): Based on the professional valuation report on the oil B EE() - RIFT UL B E SR Om Y
exploitation rights at the date of acquisition. FETE®RE -
Note (2): Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the MIEE(Q) BERBFEENATER
cost of acquisition. o U B PR AR B SRIE ©
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37 BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

(b)

168 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

For business combinations effected in the current
year, the Group has prospectively applied the new
HKFRS 3 to account for the results on consolidation
and goodwill arising from business acquisitions as set
out below.

On 2 April 2008, the Group acquired all the assets
and liabilities related to the hardener business of JIEf=
mEECETEAR AR ( [BE] ) , an independent
third party which is a domestic PRC limited liability
company, for a cash consideration of approximately
RMB9,500,000. This business unit is a manufacturing
unit producing upstream chemical materials for
industrial use. The difference between the
consideration and the fair value of the identifiable net
assets value, approximately amounting to HK$929,000,
is accounted for as goodwill (note 20) in accordance
with the HKFRS 3 (revised).
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37 BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

(b)

(continued)

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s

37 ¥R (E)
(b) (&)

WREREHASENEERA

assets and liabilities: BEEWAT :
Acquiree’s net assets at the acquisition date HRUGRER RIS FE TR /FE ZE
Carrying
amount Fair value
BRI (B AFHE
HK$’'000 HK$’000
BETIT BETIT
Property, plant and equipment ME  BWENMKE 578 578
Intangible assets mEAE 40 40
Inventories Ve 3,707 3,707
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk E AU HIA 9,159 9,159
Cash and cash equivalents BeMkIReZFEEB 2,879 2,879
Trade and other payables B Rk EAMENRIE (6,044) (6,044)
Income tax payable FES TS T (410) (410
Net identifiable assets AERFEE 9,909 9,909
Add: Goodwill imn: Ema 929
Total consideration MR E 10,838
Satisfied by: ZRAR:
Cash Be 10,838
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition:  WEEE A MR & m L F5E
Cash consideration paid BENReNRE 10,838
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired 5 : DB R S RESZ
BIEE (2,879)
7,959
(c) Net cash paid in business combinations () ZHNEBSHHRLFE
Note HK$’000
B 5 BT I
Net cash outflows from acquisition of oil WHEREBEBRESENR SR
exploitation business peig- 37(a) 117,000
Net cash outflows from acquisition of ¥E WHBHMEELNIRSRLE FEE 370 7,959
124,959

—EENE_ZENER
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38 CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
IN SUBSIDIARIES

(@)

170 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

On 22 May 2008, Honour Bright acquired the
remaining 49% of the equity interests in Easyrich
which it did not already hold, for a consideration of
HK$2. Upon completion of this transaction, the
Group’s effective interest in Easyrich increased from
51% to 100%. Easyrich had a net liability position at
the date of acquisition and the Group recognised an
increase in non-controlling interests of HK$117,400
(non-controlling interests were referred to as “minority
interests” prior to the early adoption of HKAS 27
(Revised)).

On 22 December 2008, Northeast Oil acquired the
remaining 49% of the equity interests in Creative
Sense Industrial Limited (“Creative Sense”) which it did
not already hold, for a consideration of HK$4,900.

Upon completion of this transaction, Northeast Oil
holds 100% equity interest in Creative Sense and the
Group’s effective interest in Creative Sense increased
from 26.01% to 51%. The Group recognised a
decrease in non-controlling interests of HK$2,400.

As a result, of these transactions, the non-controlling

interests in aggregate increased by HK$115,000, as
set out in the Statements of changes in equity.
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39 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/AVAILABLE- 39
FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

On 5 March 2009, the Group disposed of its wholly owned
subsidiaries of &= IEMMARKEERAR (VEEEIE?) and
RezERAEAHARMREERAR (‘R&=/E") and an
available-for-sale financial asset to an independent third
party, at a consideration of HK$5,800,000.

The net assets of ES=EIE and HE=)E disposed of were

g%&ﬁl/iﬂﬁﬁﬁ’éﬁ

A\ZE TJLE ﬂﬁEl CAEBEHE
H2BWMBRAR  ESGEIREHHERS
EFE T((@%mlllﬁj)&ﬁﬂégll\ﬁﬁﬁ
REAHERMEREERARITRES
NIET) - LA B — IR Al it 35 & & B & 2= £
—EBIYF=H REREEK
5,800,0007T °

TR

o

HEEGEIERREZTIENEEFE

as follows: wm
Total
EBEIE XE®EIE 8%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BETIC
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMKE 1,068 68 1,136
Cash and bank balances He MIRITH 5 1,779 1,784
Inventories 78 1,288 1,570 2,858
Trade and other receivables B 5 NHEmElKE 640 5,367 6,007
Trade and other payables g5 RkEAMENKRIE (2,526) - (2,526)
Amounts due to the Group JEEERIEAE (321) (12) (333)
154 8,772 8,926
Non-controlling interest JESEEI M RERS 246 - 246
Exchange reserve b 5 1 (160) (1,111) (1,271)
240 7,661 7,901
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEESREE 227
8,128
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries/ HEMB AT, A HIEE
available-for-sale financial assets TRIEEMNER (2,328)
Total consideration wRE 5,800
Satisfied by: TRIAFR:
Cash consideration WERE 5,800
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39 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/AVAILABLE- 39

FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

Analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries/available-for-sale

MBAT CHHER
= (8)

>

REE
R

AR EMRBAR, THEESHE
Eﬁﬁ&iﬁfﬁgﬁlﬁ H E’]//ILH:'I/?}%A/\

financial assets: Mo

HK$’'000
BT
Cash received BEKRE 58
Cash and bank balances disposed of HEZEE RIBITEHS (1,784)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect FHREEWB AT AIHIEES

of the disposal of subsidiaries/available-for-sale BEEReMRSEEEEN
financial assets L F R (1,726)

40 COMMITMENTS 40 K iE

(@) Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2009,
expenditure commitments as follows:

the Group had capital n=

(@) BEFXiE

ETEAF=-A=1t—8H"
AEBNMERRATAEZDNT :

Group
x5
2009 2008
—EBThE —_ZTZTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETIT BT T
Contracted but not provided for BENEKREHE
— acquisition in a target mining group — i — M B iZRE
(note 24(a)) £ & (K 3E24(0)) 60,000 -
— construction in progress —fFEITRE 2,670 8,314
— property, plant and equipment —ME BENLK 1,984 2,723
— acquisition of oil exploitation — WA RARER
development project (note 24(b)) 18 B (Fff 5E24(0) ) = 117,000
64,654 128,037
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40 COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 40 FRIE(E)
(b) Commitments under operating leases (b) EEFHERIE
At 31 March 2009, the Group had future aggregate RZZTEZNF=RA=+—8"
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable AEBREEZEFTH T ] BEL
operating leases in respect of buildings as follows: EHEMARARITHRIE
HEe@BHOT
Group
AEHE
2009 2008
ZEBE —ZTZTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT
Not later than one year TER—F 2,123 3,853
Later than one year but not later than BR—FETERRAT
five years 4,343 6,340
Later than five years BRAF 21,853 25,753
28,319 35,946

Operating lease payments represents rentals payable
by the Group for its office properties. Leases are
negotiated in a range from 1 year to 50 years. No
arrangements have been entered into for contingent
rental payments.

REHENKERNEEE B
REPERNNES -HE
NF—FER+FHER 5L
mRESERLIRARIEM
28
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40 COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Commitments under lease arrangements

At 31 March 2009, the Group had outstanding
commitments from lessees of rented properties and
machineries under non-cancellable operating leases in
respect of buildings as follows:

40 7 iE (&)
(c) HERHKIE

R_ZEZThE=R=+—8"
AEERIZEEF TR BUHE
EHERWHEEY R MR
HAHREEAEDT

Group

A%
2009 2008
—EBAE —TTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT

Not later than one year TER—F 2,430 4,183

Later than one year but not later than BR—FETERAET
five years 14,950 14,657
Later than five years EBRASF 12,323 15,644
29,703 34,484

Operating lease income represents rentals receivable
by the Group for its properties and machinery. Leases
are negotiated in a range from 1 year to 10 years.
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41 BANKING FACILITIES

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s banking facilities totaling
approximately HK$228,738,000 (2008: HK$183,883,000) for

overdrafts,

bank loans and trade financing, of which

approximately HK$110,941,000 (2008: HK$53,687,000) was
utilised as at the same date. These facilities were secured
by the following:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

first legal charges over leasehold land and buildings
held by the Group with a total carrying amount of
approximately HK$51,421,000 (2008: HK$45,385,000);

first legal charges over trade and other receivables held
by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group with a total
carrying amount of approximately HK$34,322,000 (2008:
HK$Nil);

corporate guarantees given by the Company of
approximately HK$180,800,000 (2008: HK$329,500,000);
and

A registered of all monies first share charge over the
Group’s 51% equity interest in a subsidiary.

41

RITRUE

w=

TEAF=A=+—08 K&£H

EBEY RITERKEZIHMENIR
TRVE A 14 5B 1228,738,0005T (=
T T N\ 4 #183,883,0000T) H A
#) 75 #110,941,000( Z ZEENF : B
#53,687,0007T) ER B BEH o LT
HI|IE B 1B A

U

(i)

(i)

AEBMBERODRENBE
51,421,000 (Z 2 & )\ F : B
#45,385,0007T) W) & L i &
BFHE —EEHRL:

AREBHN—BE2EH B R A
75 B TH 48 8 498 #34,322,0007T
—EENF ENESHRE
fth FEBGRIE R B — A E RS 5

A R A TR MY B
180,800,000 (= EE )\ £ : &
#329,500,0007T) Y & Al #& 1R
K&

—HEETUEEE —REH

50N 55 B A B iB51% M & A
B AR -
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42 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 42 EXFHEALTXRS
TRANSACTIONS
(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial (a) BRREMBHRREMIES>FAER
statements, the Group had the following significant BN AEBEETHNERNEH
related party transactions: BATRZWT
Group
xEE
2009 2008
“EBEBAE —_ZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ok
Rental expenses paid to Luen Yat X THIETEBR AR
Enterprises Company Limited (i) mHEeMxX
(“Luen Yat”) 996 1,441
Rental expenses paid to Mr. Poon Sau TRFESHLENRER
Tin and Mr. Poon Sum SEMBEAT 32 384

Mr. Poon Sau Tin has beneficial interests in the
Company. Mr. Poon Sum is a director and has
beneficial interests in the Company.

Luen Yat is related to the Group by virtue of the
interests of Mr. Poon Sau Tin and Mr. Poon Sum.

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

All members of key management personnel are the
directors of the Company, and the remuneration for
them is disclosed in note 16.

BEEEERARREAER
Bam EREERARBESE
YRARBIEEE S S -

BEAEERBERLEENB &
HEED WM EEAEEE
BRAE-

b) EEEEASH
AEEMMEFTEEBABEARK

AFZES  EHHRH 0
B -

2009 2008

“EBEBAE —_ZTZTN\HF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

EET T 7 T IT

Short-term employee benefits HHEERF 8,084 39,361

Total remuneration above is included in “staff costs”
(see note 15).
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43 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

43 HAERE

The Company had contingent liabilities as follows: (a) ARDRWHHABELT
Company
XAT
2009 2008
—EBEhE —_ZTT)N\HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEETFIT BT
Guarantee for banking facilities BB A RIER 1T
of subsidiaries BERER 322,221 241,339

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
fair value of the financial guarantee contracts of the
Company is insignificant at initial recognition and the
directors consider the possibility of default of the
parties involved is remote, accordingly, no value has
been recognised in the balance sheet.

Environmental contingencies

Due to the underground oil exploitation method
adopted by the Group, the Group has not incurred
any significant expenditure on environmental
rehabilitation since their establishment. There s,
however, no assurance that stringent environmental
policies and/or standards on environmental
rehabilitation will not be implemented by the relevant
authorities in the PRC in the future which require the
Group to undertake environmental measures. The
financial position of the Group may be adversely
affected by any environmental liabilities, which may be
imposed under such new environmental policies and/
or standards.

(b)

ARBEZERR ARAHHY
BERE OO R FERY T HE
REBYTEX - MEERRMA
WRALTBOMAREERK:
B EREERBRERETM
BfE-

RESAEIE

ERAEE KA T AR
g AEE B RME BRI
PARI RELRIBIEEELEM
BERAX AWM TaEERSD
BEMERARIEE WA
MIREBRRE HREEER
E DAHASEBERRRER
e REBEEEFTRERRER S
HREAREELENEFMERER
1815 A] BE ¥ 7K & B & B 755K
ERAMEE -

mogrerrasan 177



Notes to the Financial Statements

FA %5 ¥R 3R Bt 5

44 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been adjusted and
reclassified to conform with current year’s presentation as
follows:

(@)

178 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

As further explained in note 14(a) to the financial
statements, basic earnings per share for prior year
has been restated due to adjustment on the weighted
average number of ordinary shares for the bonus
element in relation to open offer of new shares during
the current year.

As further explained in note 21(b) to the financial
statements, the item “amortisation of intangible assets”
is disclosed on a separate line on the face of the
consolidated income statement. This has resulted in
the comparative amount of this item being
correspondingly reclassified from the administrative
expenses to a separate line in the consolidated
income statement.

Other adjustments which in the opinion of the

directors provides for a better presentation to the
financial statements.

Annual Report 2008-2009

44 LB

ETURHTE(FHERENHH
NEAARFEBRBEEANED -

(@)

R 7 R K M sE14( B B —
R AR TR INE TS
BBEREFEZLARAEEN
R 2 AARREZMARE - £
FEZSREARBAEHET -

7B 7% 3 3R M sE21(0) 2 1 —
THH RERGEKAEERN
(B EEMNBHEICE2RRNE
VEBRE-ERBRNZENL
RYBERITHRAXTRERN
DRAZBENGEERAER 2B
YERLE-

HitABZEST R AAMH
HRIBEREHRT -



Notes to the Financial Statements

BE ¥5 ¥R 3R Bt 5

45 NON-ADJUSTING POST BALANCE SHEET
EVENTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the
following significant events took place subsequent to 31
March 2009.

(a)

Acquisition of a vanadium mining group

Pursuant to the original signed sale and purchase
agreement mentioned in note 24(a) above, the Group
has entered into a supplementary agreement with the
vendor below on 23 April 2009. The Group’s
consideration for the acquisition of a 43% equity
interest in Profit Success Industries Limited (the “Profit
Success”) and its subsidiaries (“the Target mining
group”), had been revised upwards to HK$70 million
from HK$63 million as agreed between both parties
with some variations in its terms with the Profit
Success. The consideration is adjusted upwards
according to the price adjustment mechanism as
allowed in the original sales and purchase agreement
on the valuation of the sale shares as set out in that
agreement. The difference in the amount of
consideration is to be settled in cash. The Target
mining group held an 80% interest in exploration
rights for a vanadium (*V,0.”) mine that is located on
a parcel of land of approximately 6.1 km? in the
Yuqing County, Xiaowujiang vanadium mining region in
Guizhou Province of the PRC. Further details of the
above transactions are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 2 October 2008, 21 October
2008 and 23 April 2009 respectively. As at the date
of issue of these financial statements, the Group has
fully settled the consideration.
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45 NON-ADJUSTING POST BALANCE SHEET
EVENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

180 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Placing of existing shares and subscription
of new shares

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement made on 20
May 2009, Ever Source Enterprises Limited (“Ever
Source”) and the Company entered into the share
placing agreement (as amended by the supplemental
agreement) with Sun Hung Kai International Limited (the
“Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the Placing Agent
agreed to place, on a best efforts basis, the placing
shares comprising in aggregate up to 225,000,000
existing shares at the placing price of HK$0.325 per
placing share on behalf of Ever Source to not less than
six share placees who, and whose ultimate beneficial
owners, will be independent third parties.

On the same date, Ever Source entered into a
subscription agreement with the Company for the
subscription of up to 225,000,000 new shares
(“subscription shares”) at the above placing price. The
placing was unconditional. The subscription was
conditional upon (i) the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange granting approval for the listing of, and
permission to deal in, the subscription shares; and (ii)
the completion of the placing.

The placing shares represented approximately 9.77%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company
and the subscription shares represented approximately
8.90% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the allotment and issued of the
subscription shares. The subscription shares are to be
issued under the general mandate granted to the
directors at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 26 September 2008. The net
proceeds of the subscription, after deduction of the
share placing commission and other related expenses
of approximately HK$1.50 million, was approximately
HK$71.63 million. The directors used the net proceeds
to finance the potential acquisition of oil and gas
project in Tunisia, North Africa, subsequent to balance
sheet date as mentioned in note 45(d) below.

The placing of existing shares and subscription of new

shares were completed on 22 May 2009 and 1 June
2009 respectively.
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45 NON-ADJUSTING POST BALANCE SHEET
EVENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Warrants placing

On the same date as of 20 May 2009 mentioned
above, the Company also entered into the warrant
placing agreement with the Placing Agent in
connection with the warrant placing, on a best efforts
basis, to place up to 77,000,000 warrants conferring
rights to subscribe for up to HK$34,650,000 in
aggregate in cash, for up to 77,000,000 new shares
at the warrant exercise price of HK$0.45 per share
(subject to adjustments as detailed in the warrant
placing agreement).

The warrants were to be placed at a warrant placing
price of HK$0.01 per warrant. The warrant placing
was conditional upon several conditions as set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 20 May 2009.
The new shares issued upon exercise of the
subscription rights attaching to the warrants were
issued under the general mandate. The placing of
warrants was completed on 3 June 2009.

Ksar Hadada permit (“Ksar Hadada Permit”)

On 8 June 2009, an agreement (the “Agreement”) was
entered into among: () the purchaser, an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group; (i) Petroceltic
Ksar Hadada Limited (“Petroceltic”); and (iii)
Independent Resources (Ksar Hadada) Limited
(“Independent Resources”) regarding sale and
purchase of 51% participating interests and 52.96%
paying interests in the Ksar Hadada Permit for an oil
and gas exploration and exploitation project in Tunisia.
The permit area is a possible oil reservoir located
entirely onshore in southeast Tunisia, bounded by the
Libyan border to the east and comprising a permit
area of 5,609 km?2.
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45 NON-ADJUSTING POST BALANCE SHEET
EVENTS (CONTINUED)

(d)

Ksar Hadada permit (“Ksar Hadada Permit”)
(continued)

The maximum total capital commitment of the above
acquisition is US$14,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$113,100,000).

Completion is subject to certain conditions precedent
detailed in the Agreement. Upon completion of this
acquisition, the Group is interested in 51% participating
interests and 52.96% in Ksar Hadada Permit.

Further details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 8 June 2009.
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Five Years Financial Summary

AFEMBEBE

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
SBTAE —TT)\F _TTEF ZTTRF —TTIF
HK$000  HK$000 ~ HKE000 ~ HK$000  HK$000
BEFR  ABTT EETIT EERTT  EBTRL

Turnover EEE 399,409 351,530 309,735 262,918 284,478

Profit/(loss) attributable to BB R

shareholders (E518) 55,143 610,535 2,070 11,536 (6,584)
TURNOVER
—F ¥
500,000 [~
399,409
400,000 |~
351,530
309,735
300,000 |- 284,478
262,918
(HK000)

(B¥FIT) 200,000

100,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
IR G R (B518)

700,000
610,535

600,000

500,000

400,000
(HK'000)
AT 300000 -

200,000

100,000 55.143
11,636 2,070

0
(6,584)

-100,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
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SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

RREE
3,000,000 —
2,546,711
2,500,000 [~
2,340,225
2,000,000 [~
1,500,000 [—
(HK’000)
(BEETIT)
1,000,000 [—
500,000 |
245,00 074213 365,102
0
(159,014)  (143,428) (129,431
(260,480)  (256,476)
-500,000
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
—BEAE —TT)\F ZTTLF ZTERF ZTTRF
HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT ABTr ABTr ABTr A¥T
Total assets BEE 2,546,711 2,340,225 365,102 274,213 246,002
Total liabilities BaE (256,476)  (260,480)  (129,431)  (143,428)  (159,014)
Shareholders’ funds BRES 2,200,235 2,079,745 235,671 130,785 86,988
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